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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—E-Z R ZTZEF ZE-NEF ZE-N\#F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET FHET FET FHET
(restated)
(HE)
Results (for the year ended 30 June) ¥&(BZA~A=1+HLEE)
— Revenue — R 60,969 98,404 410,668 385,664 142,754
— Attributable loss® — EEEE (50,869) (659,822 (39,521) (72,177)  (3,811,905)
— Attributable loss from continuing —-EhEBRE - TaBERE
operations E$- 4 (52,410) (68,522) (39,521) (72,177)  (3,811,905)
— Attrioutable profit from discontinued ~ — /G 1B — K B 2 & 1E
operations® Bt 1,541 8,700 - - -
— Dividends -KRE - - - - -
— Loss per share (in HK dollars) — ZREE OB
(restated)” () (0.03) (0.08) (0.05) (0.09) (8.04)
Financial Position (as at 30 June) MERR(RAA=ZTAH)
— Cash and cash equivalents® —-BehBEsEE 24,493 135,567 107,051 123,632 112,534
— Total assets —EE®E 179,045 414,892 458,766 644,070 552,770
— Equity/(Deficit)* —#n/(BR)’ 130,855 (6,967) 17,305 72,208 48,234
Financial Ratios (as at 30 June) BELE(RAAZTRH)
— Current assets/Current liabilities —-RBEE/THaRE 4,98 2.84 2.33 1.86 2.37
— Assets/Equity” —EE/lEn' 137 NATER 26.51 5.22 11.46
— Sales/Assets —E¥HE/EE 0.34 0.237 0.895 0.599 0.258
— Gearing ratio - BRI E NATER NATEHA 14.76 458 7.08

#

A

2 Champion Technology Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022

Attributable to owners of the Company
Adjusted pursuant to the rights issue in December 2021
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ETREHE
CHAIRPERSON’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Champion Technology
Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, collectively,
the “Group”) and the management of the Group, we would like to present the
2022 annual report of the Group.

Being unexpectedly hit by another COVID-19 outbreak, Hong Kong’s
economy slid into contraction in first quarter of 2022, with a 2.9% slump
quarter on quarter and a 4% slump year on year in real terms. On the other
hand, the inflation rate was still considered modest compared with rampant
global inflation brought on by persistent supply chain bottlenecks and the
Ukraine crisis. This is primarily due to Hong Kong’'s subdued economic
activity during the outbreak of the latest Covid wave to the pandemic.
Recently, Hong Kong’s fifth Covid-19 outbreak has sustained with increasing
new confirmed despite the rising vaccination rate. Since the 5" wave of
COVID-19, the cumulative number of deaths has exceeded ten thousand.
However, the phased relaxation of social distancing rules recently announced
by the HKSAR’s Chief Executive has started to bring the breath of life back to
the society.

As sporadic COVID-19 outbreaks in Mainland China coupled with the
prolonged Russia-Ukraine crisis further exacerbate global supply chain
bottlenecks. It remains to be seen how fast logistics operations can overcome
challenges and return to normal efficiency. The world’s economy is entering a
period of low growth and elevated inflation.

Corporate Actions

In order to tackle the uncertainty future business environment, we took the
following two major corporate actions to strengthen our Group’s financial
position:

— Disposal of Kantone

On 9 November 2021, we announced that the disposal of in a total of
128,137,958 Kantone Shares, representing approximately 59.04% of
the entire issued share capital of Kantone was completed, and upon
completion, the Kantone Group ceased to be our subsidiaries and their
financial results thereafter are no longer consolidated into our
consolidated financial statements. The net proceeds of HK$57 million
was applied towards partial repayment of a term loan.
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ETREHE
CHAIRPERSON’S STATEMENT

— Rights Issue

In May 2021, the Board proposed to raise gross proceeds of
approximately HK$205 million on the basis of three (3) rights shares for
every one (1) existing Share held on by issuing 2,051,492,544 rights
shares at the subscription price of HK$0.1 per rights share, and it was
successfully completed on 14 December 2021. With this funding, we
repaid all the Company’s remaining debts which were composed of
HK$126 million term loan and promissory note of HK$41 million, leaving
a residual of HK$31 million as our operating cashflow for our oil trading
and renewable energy and IT businesses.

Both of the above two corporate actions were made after considering
the future business environment and our own financial position. Having
allowed the Group to land on a debt free situation, our management
can be more focused on our technology related business.

Trading of Oil

As | stated in my last chairman statement, we take a very conservative
approach while doing the oil trading business, in particular, as the world’s
economy is entering a period of low growth and elevated inflation. Therefore,
we put more focus our trading of oil in the Hong Kong water area rather than
in international water area which we would tend to resume when the oil price
becomes more stable. However, we still have a long road to build our
credential in the oil trading business. Since the amount involved is huge, trust
is @ main bond that keeps us a role in this business sector. We will carefully
build our credibility in this industry. With that, huge business opportunities lie
ahead.

Renewable Energy

Hong Kong Government’s announcement on 26 April 2022 rendered
reduction by 16.7% to 25% in the FiT Rates that SPV system owners could
earn with effect from 27 April 2022. At the same time, the cost of SPV system
equipment has been increasing due to the global shortage of silicon. On the
other hand, the cost of solar panels and other associated costs have been
increasing significantly, especially when the PRC government has kept
releasing policies which encourage domestic adoption of photovoltaic
projects, resulting in escalating cost of all pertinent materials and accessories,
in particular, solar panels and inverters which are indispensable key
components of solar power projects. All these adverse factors have eroded
the profit margin of the solar power projects. Moreover, the epidemic
prevention measures have resulted in delays in the approval process by the
two electric companies, which in turn have adversely affected the efficiency of
our solar panels system installation works. All these adverse factors rendered
unexpected loss of some significant contracts during the year under review.
We therefore have to restructure our Renewable Energy development plan in
the future.
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CHAIRPERSON’S STATEMENT

Technology Business — System Products

After disposal of Kantone Group, without limiting the generality of our
technology business, our development focus will be on new products such as
energy management system, smart and solar rechargeable device and smart
city management system, more information of which is provided in our “Outlook
Section”. All these products would enhance the effectiveness of peripheral
products of anti-epidemic measures and environmental and safety protections
by incorporating the loT concepts into (i) our renewable energy system; and (i)
our newly developed system products.

New Business Opportunities

Management has continued to actively source for new business opportunities
with a view to expand the Group’s technology related business and hope that
those projects could be materialized in the foreseeable future.

Appreciation

On behalf of the Board, we would like to express our sincere gratitude to our
customers, suppliers, business partners and the shareholders for their
continuous support during this difficult and struggling period, and give special
thanks to all employees of the Group for their devotion and progressive
achievements under the current challenging social and business environment.

Ms. WONG Man Winny and Mr. WU Yun Jing
Joint Chairperson
Hong Kong

29 September 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL RESULTS

Revenue

Champion Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) reported a total revenue for the year under review
of approximately HK$61 milion as compared with approximately HK$98
million, representing a decrease of approximately 37.8 percent. This was
mainly due to the reduction in revenue generated from trading in gasoil during
the year.

Loss Attributable to Owners of the Company

Loss for the year under review was approximately HK$50 million (2021:
approximately HK$57 million). Loss for the year attributable to owners of the
Company is approximately HK$51 million (2021: approximately HK$60
million).The loss for the year was mainly due to (i) the reduction in contribution
from the gasoil trading business, and (i) the recognition of fair value loss of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$13.9
million (2021: loss of approximately HK$14.6 million); (i) decrease in other
income to HK$2.3 million (2021: HK$12.2 million). The Group was still able to
keep its gross profit ratio steady at 5.3% (2021: 6.8%). Loss per share for the
year under review is HK2.75 cents (2021: HK7.56 cents).

Other Income, Gains and Losses

During the year under review, the Group recognized other income of
approximately HK$2.3 million (2021: approximately HK$12.2 million). The
decrease in other income were mainly due to the gain on extension of
promissory note payable of HK$8.2 million recognised last year.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses for the year under review decreased by
approximately 12.9% percent to approximately HK$27 million (2021:
approximately HK$31 million). The management of the Company has
continued to streamline our workforce to cope our new development and our
strategy of pursuing a more cost-efficient management of overheads. The
decrease was mainly attributable to the decrease in staff costs. It is the
current management’s strategy to adopt a stringent and cost-effective
overhead structure so as to enhance the return on investments.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL RESULTS (continued)

Fair Value Loss of Financial Assets at Fair Value
through Profit or Loss

During the year under review, the Group recognised fair value loss on financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$13.9 million as
compared with the fair value loss of approximately HK$14.6 million in the last
year. The detailed information is set out in the “Review of Operations” section
below.

Finance Costs

Finance costs for the year decreased to approximately HK$12.0 million from
approximately HK$32 million as compared with the fiscal year 2021, this was
due to all interest bearing borrowing and promissory note having been repaid
in December 2021.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

In the circular dated 20 October 2021, we included a profit forecast (“Profit
Forecast”) for the Group excluding its subsidiary Kantone (“Remaining
Group”). The Profit Forecast was a forecast of profit of the Remaining Group
for the period from 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2022, and its purpose was to
make an estimate of the likely financial situation of the Remaining Group for
that period based on the information then available. The actual financial result
might differ from the forecast due to unforeseen circumstances. The following
is a table summarizing the Remaining Group’s latest accomplishment with
regard to the Profit Forecast.
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BEEENWRE DN

MANAGEM ENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The interim The annual The Profit
resultforthe ~ Percentageof  resultforthe Forecastforthe  Percentage of
period ended  Accomplishment year ended period from  Accomplishment
31 December  for the first six 30June 1 July 2021 to for the year
2021 months 2022 30June 2022 under review
ZBC-F
BlL-%--% BlL=2--% tA-HE
tZA=1-H AB=tH —g-ck
LEEN EAEAEEN 13111 ~B=tR HEEEM
PHEE  RANEAL EERE BBNENEN ERAM
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Mg ThL ThL ThL
Revenue from operations 22
— Sales of cuitural products -BEXER - - 3,238 - N/A
— Sales of surveilance equipment -ERRIZENHEE 43 54% 44 128 34%
— Sales of Gasoll -HREES 1 33,634 55% 50,773 159,686 32%
— Sale of Renewable Energy - MEERRNEE 2 3,864 24% 6,914 79,924 9%
Cost of revenue from operations BERGZHRA (34,932) 48% (57,734) 212,772 21%
Gross Profit eS| 2,609 50% 3,235 26,966 12%
Other income EfA 3 3,359 401% 3,637 1,673 217%
General and administrative expenses —BRTEET 4 (15,788) NA 26,767) 20994 127%
Reversal of impairment (losses) recognised RENEHRAMERER 5 (231) N/A 842 - NA
for trade & other receivables RE(BE)/ B8
Fair value loss on financial asset at fair value through P8L AL BB ABZZSREELLBEFE 6 (13,549) N/A (13,863) - N/A
Impairment losses on finance lease recelvables EhBEREHERR 6 - - (838) - NA
Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment ¥ « iR Rk B 2 HEEE 6 - - (2,052) - NA
Impairment losses on right-of-Use assets PREAEZHERS 6 - - (1,703) - /A
Inventories written off WaEEs 6 - - (204) - N/A
Fair value (loss)/gain on investment properties RE %%Z/Rﬁ B(EH) 6 - - (1,566 - NA
Operating profit/{loss) for the year (before interesf) RHEEL(FR) /K% (BFaE) (23,601) N/A (39,279) 7,645 N/A
Interest Expenses Mexi (11923) 81% (11,947) (14,706) 81%
Nt (loss) for the year (before exceptional items) rHE (BE)FE(REREEN) (35.524) NA (61,226) (7,061) /A
Exceptional items: BHRIER
Gainv[Loss) on disposal of Kantone HEFREE (BR)/KE (204) N/A - 286 N/A
Gain/{Loss) on early redemption of PromissoryNote ~~ $2FIBEA S ZE 7 (BR) /Wi (1,384) NA (1,384) (1,501) NA
Nt (loss) for the year (after exceptional ttems) AHRE(BE) 3B (REREER) (37,112) NA (62,610) (8.276) NA
Notes: ffsT -
1. Decrease in sales of gasoil of approximately HK$109 milion was mainly due to 1. R EER D N1.00BAE T TER2ARHE

10

insufficient funds from workings capital until the completion of Rights Issue and
thereafter due to the decrease in demand on gasoil, especially refining margins for 10
ppm gasoil slipped to their lowest in over a week in late December 2021 as traders
were concerned about the fast-spreading Omicron coronavirus infections would likely
threaten short-term demand.

In addition, the Russia-Ukraine crisis has reconfigured the global oil market, with
African suppliers stepping in to meet European demand and Moscow, stung by
Western sanctions, increasingly tapping risky ship-to-ship transfers to get its crude to
Asia. The reroutings mark the biggest supply-side shakeup of the global oil trade since
the U.S. shale revolution altered the shape of the market around a decade ago and
suggest that Russia will be able to navigate a European Union (EU) oil ban, provided
that Asia and China continue to buy its crude.

The Group then takes two approaches in tackling the fluid nature of demand and price
of the crude oil. Firstly, the Group continued to use a cautious trading business model
for its gasoil business, and limited the scale of the business since oil trading is cash
dependent; secondly, we now conduct ship-to-ship transfers trading in Hong Kong
water and tend to stay away temporarily from international waters so as to avoid the
trap and risk of sanction and price fluctuation which in turn has reduced the scale of
trading when compared with that in last year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Notes: (Continued)

Decrease in sales of renewable energy business of approximately HK$73 million was
partially due to postponement of certain major projects such as AR EEEEZ (project
sum of HK$2.4 million) which was postponed until October 2022 due to the sudden
death of the client’s sole director, #F&M (project sum of HK$2.75 million) were still
pending from Building Department’s Letter of Compliance for the factory building
structure and A3#5T A E ) (project sum of HK$4.4 million) was delayed since CLP
made a new condition for the installation of an additional transformer to proceed with
the project and is now awaiting approval by CLP.

Although more detailed explanations on the setback of the photovoltaic based
renewable energy business are given in page 15 (Review of Operations), management
would stress the significant damage brought about by Government’s announcement
on 26 April 2022 that effective on 27 April 2022, the FiT Rates that SPV system owners
would earn have been significantly reduced by 16.7-25%. At the same time, the cost
of SPV system equipment has increased due to the global shortage of silicon and the
upsurge in demand for solar power as a result of the PRC government policies and the
shortage of oil and gas supply in Europe. The costs of some crucial elements of SPV
systems, including inverters and power cables, have increased by 20-50%. These
adverse factors have significant adverse effects on the profit margin of all solar power
projects.

The Group has also invested significantly in the research and development of special
techniques in installing SPV equipment on warehouse rooftops which are usually fragile
and susceptible to water seepage. With the development of our own special
techniques, the Group has won positive reputation amongst warehouse owners for
building a safe and cost-effective SPV system on warehouse rooftop. Unfortunately,
one subcontractor did not follow our instructions and caused water seepage and
leakage in the roof of one of the warehouse during the reporting period which led to
the termination of several substantial contracts. Legal action is being taken with the
intent to recover part of our cost and to restore our reputation.

The other income was 217% of the forecasted figure, this was mainly attributed to the
interest income recognised during the year;

The general and administrative expenses incurred during the Year was about HK$6
million higher than that of the forecasted figure. This was mainly due the increase of
some of the professional fees afterwards;

Impairment loss recognized was based on the assessment of ECL in accordance with
the requirements of HKFRS 9 which was impossible to predict at the time of
preparation of the Profit Forecast. Actually, majority of the receivables overdued have
been settled in September 2022; and

The assessment of fair value for financial assets and other assets subject to revaluation
was unable to be performed since information was not available when preparing the
Profit Forecast, and therefore, the change in fair value was not included in Profit
Forecast.
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BEEENWR DN

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

The performance in trading business and renewable energy business is
discussed below under the heading of Trading Business and Technology —
Renewable Energy.

Trading Business

With the disruptive impact caused by the Russia-Ukraine conflict and the
consequent steep increase in gasoline prices and further disruption in global
supply chains, households in general are facing a rise in inflation. This follows
directly on the heels of COVID-linked inflation, which has already reached a
seasonally adjusted 7.09%.

The current bout of inflation has come from three factors: war, oil-supply
disruption, and a pandemic. It started when COVID depleted the global
workforce, decimated supplies, and impaired supply chains. It has now been
exacerbated since warring Russia and Ukraine supply 26% of the world’s
wheat, and there are boycotts on the estimated five million barrels a day of
Russian oil exports.

Supply chains always take longer to recover than predicted. With the addition

of this war, recovery, initially from COVID disruptions, could yet be longer.

The West are increasing their financial support for Ukraine and are imposing
vigorous economic sanctions upon Russia and its related parties that promise
to put upward pressure on oil, gas, and other commodities.
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BEEENWR DN

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Trading Business (Continued)

As stated in our interim report 2022:

“Global petroleum production increased at a slower pace than its demand,
thus driving prices higher. The slower increase in production was mostly
attributable to the Organization of the Petroleum Exporting Countries (OPEC)
and other countries, such as Russia, that coordinate production with OPEC
(referred to collectively as OPEC+) crude oil production cuts that started in
late 2020. OPEC+ announced in December 2020 that they would continue to
limit production increases throughout 2021 to support higher crude oil
prices..”

After the Russia-Ukraine war began in late February 2022, the threat of the
sanctions on Russian hydrocarbon exports and uncertainty surrounding
supplies will exacerbate existing market tightness. We can expect that oil
prices may fluctuate between US$80 and US$140 per barrel for as long as
the conflict rages on. European gas prices will rise by 65 per cent this year,
after a fivefold rise last year. Europe has limited gas stockpiles, aggravated by
concerns about gas supplies for the 2022/23 northern hemisphere winter
season. Europe is reducing its demand for Russian gas, which will lower
Russian output and put further pressure on supplies.

There will however be no overnight replacement for Russian oil and gas. If we
assume that Europe closed their eyes and just went on with curtailing Russian
gas supply despite all these challenges, then there will be reliance on Africa,
Middle East, and USA to replace the Russian oil. That will surely lead to huge
increase in ail prices.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Trading Business (Continued)

Research scholars at the Center on Global Energy Policy of Columbia
University in New York City have stressed that oil prices are trending upward
in the short-term but for the last few months have traded — with high volatility
— at a range of around $80-$110.

The current situation is characterized by fears of a slowdown in global
economic activity, including in China, and widening of oil sanctions against
Russia adding that the former drags prices down and the latter drives them
up, explaining the current fluctuation.

Russia’s invasion of Ukraine has reconfigured the global oil market, with
African suppliers stepping in to meet European demand and Moscow, stung
by Western sanctions, increasingly tapping risky ship-to-ship transfers to get
its crude to Asia. The reroutings mark the biggest supply-side shakeup of the
global oil trade since the U.S. shale revolution altered the shape of the market
around a decade ago and suggest that Russia will be able to navigate a
European Union (EU) oil ban, provided that Asia and China continue to buy its
crude.

Faced with the nature of higher volatilities of crude oil, the Group takes two
approaches in tackling the fluid nature of demand and price of the crude oil.
Firstly, the Group continued to use a cautious trading business model for its
gasoil business, and limited the scale of the business since oil trading is cash
dependent; secondly, we now conduct ship-to-ship transfers trading in Hong
Kong water and tend to stay away from international waters so as to avoid
the trap and risk of sanction and price fluctuation which in turn has reduced
the scale of trading when compared with that in last year.
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BEEENWR DN

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Technology — Renewable Energy Business

The Group has been actively supporting the worldwide call for the adoption of
use of clean and renewable energy to combat climate change. Since 2018,
the Group has been investing substantial resources in the research and
development of our Solar Photovoltaic (“SPV”) technology products.

During the year under review, the Group accomplished 32% of the yearly
forecast of the renewable energy business. After the fifth COVID-19 wave in
Q1 2022, the normal processing time for most activities in Hong Kong
continued to be adversely prolonged. Nonetheless, with the Group’s
persistent effort, one of the three major projects that were put on hold as
discussed in our Interim Report, the project at a large outdoor barbecue
restaurant with contract value of approximately HK$700,000 revised output
down by CLP, has been reactivated and expected to be completed in the
second half of 2022. As the impact of COVID continues, the other two major
projects of contract value totalling approximately HK$7.2 million had
continued to be put on hold, including (i) a project of contract value of
approximately HK$2.75 million was held up due to the Occupation Permit of
the site has yet to be released by the Building Department; and (i) a project of
approximately HK$4.4 million was delayed since CLP made a new condition
for the installation of an additional transformer to proceed with the project and
is now awaiting approval by CLP. There was also a significantly longer
processing time at the Transport Department for the application of restricted
zones vehicle permits. This has prohibited the progress of our projects on
Lantau Island. COVID-19, especially the Omicron variants, has kept delaying
the normal approval processing time, and the ever-escalating restrictive
measures have also affect the supplies and prices of the solar power
equipment for installation. More importantly, the Government announced that,
effective on 27 April 2022, the FiT Rates that SPV system owners would earn
have been significantly reduced by 16.7-25%. At the same time, the cost of
SPV system equipment has increased due to the global shortage of silicon.
The costs of some crucial elements of SPV systems, including inverters and
power cables, have increased by 20-50%. These adverse factors have
detrimental effects on the profit margin of the solar power projects.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Technology — Renewable Energy Business (Continued)

Despite the challenges imposed by COVID-19, the Group has continued to
proceed diligently in supporting the global action to combat climate change
by increasing the adoption of Renewable Energy to replace fossil fuel. The
Group has relentlessly enhanced its competitiveness by the research and
development of our SPV technology products, be it the techniques in the
design and installation of the SPV systems to improve their efficiency,
durability and profitability, or the technology in designing different special solar
panels in catering to our customers’ diverse requirements. The Group has
also invested significantly in the research and development of special
techniques in installing SPV equipment on warehouse rooftops which are
usually fragile and susceptible to water seepage. With the development of
such special techniques, the Group has won positive reputation amongst
warehouse owners for building a safe and cost-effective SPV system on
warehouse rooftop. Unfortunately, one subcontractor did not follow our
instructions and caused water seepage and leakage in the roof of one of the
warehouse during the reporting period. Legal action is being taken with the
intent to recover part of our cost and to restore our reputation.

The Group has spared no efforts in participating in various open tendering
activities for SPV system construction as well. The Group has completed
several SPV Feed-in Tariff (“FiT”) design and construction projects during the
year under review, one of which is a substantial SPV site of a power
generation capacity of around 90 kW on the rooftop of an industrial building
in Kowloon Bay. With the Group’s positive reputation in designing and
building cost-effective and high efficiency large scale SPV projects, the Group
has won a project with contract sum of several millions from one of Hong
Kong’s top national inspection and testing agencies for designing and
constructing a SPV system at their facilities in the New Territories. The SPV
system would cover over 5,400 sq. meters and create a generation capacity
of clean energy of more than 600 kW. The project has commenced and is
expected to be complete by 2022 Q4.

As a result of the Group’s endeavour to diversify the SPV line of business into
a wider variety of sectors, including industrial buildings, commercial buildings,
residential buildings, logistic warehouses, village houses, agricultural lands,
and vacant lands, the Group has liaised with different property owners and
managers and strive to conclude formal agreements for the SPV systems
construction. The Group has also been in the process of working with several
public and private housing complexes for SPV system installation on their
estate buildings. Coupled with the Group’s cost-saving techniques and
expertise in designing SPV systems, as well as our knowledge and experience
in applying for the FiT scheme, the Group expects to generate reasonable
profits from these projects from the shares of FiT income generated, revenue
from project design, as well as installation fees.
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BEEENWR DN

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Technology — System Products

With the current pandemic situation in Hong Kong being unpredictable and
fast-changing, the city is in urgent demand for improved connectivity amongst
its people, devices, and data. The Group’s 30 plus years of experience in the
technology and communication sector has enabled it to quickly respond to
the needs of its customers and develop solutions to help protect the health of
our citizens, as well as achieving a more automated and contactless service
to our SPV system customers for system check-up and maintenance.

Real-time Indoor Positioning System

The Group has been conducting extensive research on technologies which
can be used for accurate real time indoor positioning and the Group has been
developing a positioning system using the Ultra-Wide Band (“UWB”)
technology, which can enable a high accuracy of position while maintaining a
high power efficiency. The system will be useful in various scenario, for
example asset tracking, indoor wayfinding, as well as tracking of personnel in
settings like hospitals and offices. The Group has completed the proof-of-
concept (“PoC”) stage of the system and is currently working with a
manufacturer to finalize on the hardware design of the system, including the
wireless anchors and positioning tags.

Smart Body Temperature Detection System

The Smart Body Temperature Detection System developed by the Group has
been proven to be valuable to our customers’ day-to-day operation. The
System was created in response to our customers’ request for an effective
solution to check the body temperature of a large group of visitors at the
same time without forming a traffic bottleneck at the entrance. The System is
deployed at Hong Kong'’s largest cruise terminal and has received positive
feedback for greatly improving the workflow of temperature screening at the
terminal. The system has also been purchased by a property management
company to secure the public health at their commercial buildings.

With the Smart Body Temperature Detection System, our customers from
various sectors including schools, hotels and commercial buildings were able
to monitor the body temperature of their visitors and have the built-in Artificial
Intelligence (A.l.) visual analytics to remind visitors to put on their facial masks.
This helped our customers to stay compliant with local regulations and
safeguard public health.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Cultural Products

As in previous years, the Company continues to adopt a cautious approach
in handling the cultural products. We have been kept up to date with the
market conditions so we may capture the right moment for realizing some of
the Group’s inventories of cultural products at the right price. In addition, we
have displayed our cultural products which are also work of art in our
Company’s website to enhance public awareness of our cultural products.
These approaches consistent with those in previous years.

Since our cultural products are works of art that have enhanced in value
because of their considerable age, they are not ordinary commodities and
thus should not be perceived as having impairment issue even after being
kept in inventories for extended periods of time.

Cultural products, including precious stones and artifacts, with book value of
approximately HK$8,118,000 (as at 30 June 2021: approximately
HK$12,758,000, including those belonged to Kantone) have been held for
trading and resale in the normal course of business. They were included in
the inventories of the Group as at 30 June 2022.

All such cultural products, totalling 225 pieces (as at 30 June 2021: 368
pieces, including the 143 pieces owned by Kantone), have been kept in a
secured warehouse run by a world- renowned security solution company,
which is an independent third party to the Group.

Dongguan Hotel Project

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 19 July 2017,
regarding the disclosable transaction in relation to the acquisition of 51%
equity interest of a Hong Kong company that indirectly owns a hotel in
Dongguan through a PRC subsidiary (the “Acquisition”), the Directors
considered the Acquisition was in line with the Group’s business
diversification strategy. In addition, as disclosed in the Audited Condensed
Consolidated Statement of Assets and Liabilities which was announced on 30
April 2018, we noted that the market condition in Dongguan had changed,
with the demand for hotel rooms in those areas, as expected, continuing to
be depressed. This aspect was considered when this project was scrutinised.
However, by virtue of the sub-contracting agreements, the Company can on
one hand benefit from the steady, guaranteed income, while it may, on the
other hand, take the initiative to terminate the agreements with the hotel
operator as and when we consider it appropriate to enable the Company to
redevelop or to sell the property.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Disposal of Kantone Holdings Limited (“Kantone”)

On 31 May 2021, the Company as seller and Innovative City Investments
Limited (“Innovative City”) as purchaser entered into a sale and purchase
agreement (the “Sale and Purchase Agreement”), pursuant to which
Innovative City had conditionally agreed to acquire and the Company had
conditionally agreed to sell 128,137,958 shares of Kantone (“Sale Shares”),
representing approximately 59.04% of the entire issued share capital of
Kantone (“Disposal”). The consideration for the Sale Shares was
HK$59,071,598.64, equivalent to HK$0.461 per Sale Share, which was
determined following arm’s length negotiations between Innovative City and
the Company. Completion of the Sale and Purchase Agreement took place
on 9 November 2021 (“Completion”). The net cash proceeds, after deducting
the estimated expenses, amounted to approximately HK$56 million, was
used for the partial repayment of the loan from Guangdong Finance Limited
(“GFL Loan”).

Upon Completion, members of the Kantone Group ceased to be subsidiaries
of the Company. There were amounts due from the Kantone Group to the
Group which were inherited prior to Completion, including shareholders’ loan
for general working capital purposes of the Kantone Group and sharing of
certain administrative expenses, which had been accrued before the Kantone
Group ceased to be members of the Group and which had been regarded as
intra-group transactions and had been recorded in the form of current
accounts between the two groups. Shareholder’s loan in the principal amount
of approximately HK$5.7 million borne an interest of 13% per annum, being
the Group’s cost of funds before completion of the Rights Issue (which was
revised to 5% per annum since 15 December 2021 with reference to the
Hong Kong dollar best lending rate quoted by HSBC since the Group has
become debt free after the repayment of GFL Loan) while the sharing of
administrative expenses was made on a cost basis. As at 31 December
2021, the total amount due from Kantone Group to the Group amounted to
approximately HK$26.5 million. Given that the Kantone Group is no longer a
subsidiary of the Group, the provision of credit over such outstanding amount
constitutes financial assistance by the Group to the Kantone Group. Since
some applicable percentage ratios of such financial assistance exceeds 5%
but below 25%, such financial assistance constitutes a disclosable transaction
of the Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules and an advance to
entity under Rule 13.13 of the Listing Rules. The Directors consider that since
the shareholder’s loan in the principal amount of approximately HK$5.7
million is interest-bearing and the sharing of administrative expenses is made
on a cost basis, the financial assistance is fair and reasonable and in the
interest of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Disposal of Kantone Holdings Limited (“Kantone”)
(Continued)

The whole process of the Disposal took more than five months from the
signing of the Sale and Purchase Agreement until Completion, which was
much longer than the management had expected. This was because extra
time was required for addressing certain regulatory issues. As a result of the
delay of Completion, unbudgeted interest had incurred due to the delay in
repayment of the GFL loan.

Fund Raising Activity — Rights Issue

On 18 May 2021, the Board announced that the Company proposed to raise
fund by way of rights issue (the “Rights Issue”) on the basis of three (3) rights
shares (the “Rights Share”) for every (1) existing Share at the subscription
price of HK$0.1 per Rights Share. At the special general meeting held on 8
November 2021, the relevant resolutions for approving, among other things,
the Rights Issue were duly passed by the independent shareholders by way
of poll.

On 6 December 2021, being the latest time for payment for and acceptance
of the Rights Shares and application for excess Rights Shares: (a) 31 valid
acceptances in respect of a total of 543,873,330 Rights Shares provisionally
allotted under the Rights Issue were received, representing approximately
26.51% of the total number of 2,051,492,544 Rights Shares available for
subscription under the Rights Issue; and (b) 26 valid applications for a total of
114,287,801 excess Rights Shares were received, representing approximately
5.57% of the total number of the Rights Shares available for subscription
under the Rights Issue. In aggregate, acceptance of and applications for a
total of 658,161,131 Rights Shares, representing only 32.08% of the total
number of the Rights Shares available for subscription under the Rights Issue,
were received. Based on this acceptance and application results, the Rights
Issue was under-subscribed by 1,393,331,413 Rights Shares (“Underwritten
Shares”), representing approximately 67.92% of the total number of
2,051,492,544 Rights Shares available for subscription under the Rights
Issue. Pursuant to the terms of the underwriting agreement, the underwriters
had procured subscribers to take up all the Underwritten Shares.

Since our core businesses, such as trading of gasoil and renewable energy,
are high capital and finance dependent businesses, the Company considers
that, in order to further explore business opportunities for the shareholders,
the current level of financial resources have to be enhanced to generate
higher returns in these core businesses in the future. Therefore, the Company
is now considering various kinds of financial means to raise capitals which
include but are not limited to rights issue.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Money Lending Transactions

Money lending services were only provided incidentally by the PRC subsidiary
of the Company. Such PRC subsidiary has never held itself out to the public
as money lenders and has never canvassed any borrower to borrow money
from it. Therefore, the Directors do not consider or regard that money lending
is part of the Company’s principal or core business during this Period.

The money lendings were confined to term loan financing with fixed interest
rates. All proposed lendings were considered case by case and no particular
industry was specified for this purpose. However, the Company does have its
own money lending checklist which the Directors would have to observe
should the occasion arise.

Any loan will only be made with our idle funds, and it should only be granted
to those who approach the directors of the subsidiary by their acquaintances.
They would then carry out the credit assessment process and if the results
were to their satisfaction, they would submit the requests to the Directors in
Hong Kong for further assessment and approval.

Such assessment and know your client (“KYC”) processes follow the
procedures below:

1. Verify the identity of the directors of the borrowers and guarantors;
2. Verify the address proof of the borrowers and guarantors;

3. Obtain a copy of the business registration certificate and company
number if applicable;

4, Check the memorandum & articles of association of the borrower and
the guarantor if applicable;

5. Identify the tax position of the borrower by checking the tax clearance
certificate from the PRC competent authority;

6. Obtain the due diligence report from TianYanCha (X&), and if
necessary, seek advice from external legal advisers; and

7. Obtain and study the financial statements, preferably audited financial
statements if the potential borrower is an entity.
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BEERBNwR DM

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Money Lending Transactions (Continued)

After the collection and verification of above background information of the
intending borrowers, our PRC director and the company secretary
department of the Group would conduct a loan assessment process through:

1. Obtaining the corporate bank account information;

2. Assessing the creditability and financial position of the borrowers by
checking the latest audit report and management accounts and
personal financial background of the guarantor, where appropriate; and

3. Obtaining board minutes of the borrowers for approving the lending.

After having due regard to the borrower’s financial situation, the extent and
quality of collaterals/guarantee and the loan tenure, the director of the PRC
subsidiary would offer an interest rate which would tend to maximize profit
and yet would comply with the PRC’s rule in determining the maximum
interest rates of the loans to ensure that we would not impose interest rates
higher than the statutory ceiling. Normally, the PRC subsidiary would charge
not less than double of the China Loan Prime Rate (“CLPR”).

As of now, the maximum interest rate should not exceed 14.6% p.a., i.e. 4
times of the CLPR which is around 3.65% p.a.

The above due diligence report, KYC and credit assessment documents
together with the amount, terms and repayment method of the loans would
be submitted to the board of directors of the Group for approval. After
approval has been granted, the final loan agreement would be signed by our
PRC director of the subsidiary with the borrower and the guarantor.

The PRC directors of the subsidiary would maintain personal contact with the
borrowers from time to time during the tenure of the loan and would start
reminding them for repayment about one month before the respective due
dates.
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BEEENWR DN

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Money Lending Transactions (Continued)

The following are our standard procedures for any delinquent loans:

1. Demand letter will be sent to the borrower for immediate repayment;

2. Instruct our PRC lawyer to issue demand letter to the borrower and
guarantor to demand immediate repayment; and

3. Formal legal action will be taken if:

a. The borrower refuses to repay; or

b. If no settlement arrangement could be reached after 14 working
days from the date of our legal demand letter.

Ever since the current management permitted the granting of such term
loans, there has been no signs that Loans would become delinquent.

During the Year, the Group did not carry out any money lending activity.

Securities Investments

As part of the Group’s short term investment activities, the Group has
invested in some Hong Kong listed securities, the details and information of
which are as follows:

During the Year, the Group recorded an overall fair value loss on financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$13.9 million
which was attributable to pessimistic market sentiment on most of the stocks.
Concerns about a deepening global recession and tensions between the
United States and China negatively impacted the global markets. The
worsening development of the epidemic also posted another significant
negative impact to the investment market as a whole (2021: fair value loss of
approximately HK$14.6 million).

As at 30 June 2022, the fair value of the investments classified as “Financial
Assets at FVTPL” amounted to approximately HK$22 million (2021:
approximately HK$42 million). Such investment portfolio comprised 7 (2021: 6)
equity securities listed in The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) and one unlisted security. The portfolio of listed securities was
composed of 5 (2021: 3) equity securities which are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange with the remaining 2 (2021: 3) equity securities which
are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Securities Investments (Continued)

The composition of the Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or

¥ 750 BEw
FBERE®@
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loss is given below: [N
Percentage of
the issued Percentage of
Number of share capital Accumulated total
shares held by of the relevant Investment unrealised held-for-
the Group at company at cost at fair value  Fair value at trading
Company Name/Stock Code AAEB/ ROERYE Notes 30 June 2022 30 June 2022 30 June 2022 (loss)/gain 30 June 2022 investment
A&EE R-B-=%
R-Z-=-% KA=tHZ
AA=TH EEHAR R-B-ZF EER¥R R-B=-Z HFEEE
B¥E2 RORA RNA=tABZ AAEE RA=THZ RELHEZ
B ROBE REZEIL RERE (BB W& AREE Ak
HKS HK$ HK$
B BT BT
Financial assets at fair value through B2 A4 BEFABZZEBEE
profit or loss
Chinese Strategic Holdings Limited EARBERERAA
(Stock code: 8089) (B3R 5% - 8089) 1 3,259,800 0.77% 3,273,974 (3,273,974) - -
Ziing International Financial Holdings &A1 € BIERE R A 7
Limited (Stock code: 8340) (B R 5% - 8340) 2 15,610,000 244% 12724659 (11,912,939 811,720 3.7%
China Fortune Financial Group Limited FEIE 4B EEEE QA
(Stock code: 290) (Bt 5% - 200) 3 1,423,000 0.16% 2,334,376 (1,964,396) 369,980 1.7%
Worldgate Global Logistics Ltd ERMRAERDR
(Stock code: 8292) (B (R 5% - 8292) 4 180,000 0.03% 2,286,000 (2,149,200) 136,800 0.6%
Summit Ascent Holdings Limited AAERERDA
(Stock code: 102) (B R 102) 5 2,500,000 0.06% 2,434,500 2,322,000) 112,500 0.5%
China Star Entertainment Limited FRESEARRA
(Stock code: 326) (BR1p AR5 - 326) 6 12,240,000 0.49% 9,885,455 518,545 10,404,000 47.3%
Yuan Heng Gas Holdings Ltd TERAERERDR
(Stock code: 332) (BRI 332) 7 8,000,000 0.12% 4,160,000 320,000 4,480,000 20.4%
Differ Group Holdings Co., Ltd BEERAEARAR
(Stock code: 0878) (B R 5% - 6878) 8 3,000,000 0.04% 6,210,000 (540,000) 5,670,000 25.8%
43,308,964 (21,323,964) 21,985,000 100.0%
Notes: Bt 3 -

1. The listing of Chinese Strategic Holdings Limited was cancelled on April 2022.
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BEEN®E D
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Securities Investments (Continued)

2.

8340 Zijing International Financial Holdings Limited

Zijing International Financial Holdings Limited (“Zijing Financial”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Zijing Group”) are principally engaged in the provision
of corporate finance advisory services in Hong Kong.

The outbreak of COVID-19 since 2020 has led to uncertain macroeconomic
environment and remains the biggest uncertainty the Group will face in 2022. Looking
ahead, the central government has rolled out stringent movement restrictions, mass
testing programs, and lockdowns to support its zero-COVID strategy. Numerous
localised disruptions to factories and key logistics breakdown seem inevitable, which
led to adverse impact on our client’s business and the mobility of the Group’s staff.

In response to the uncertainty in the Hong Kong economy, the Vinco Group will take
conservative and prudent business strategies to support daily business operations and
to cope with the economic uncertainty in the near future. Notwithstanding the
challenging economic environment, the Group’s revenue generated from the provision
of corporate finance advisory services increased by approximately 111.4% as
compared to the corresponding period of last year. The management believes that the
revenue will continue an upward trend despite the expected market instability are.

On the other hand, the Zijing Group’s asset management business was still at an early
development stage and the Zijing Group will continue to develop this business
segment and to launch relevant products and services to customers when appropriate.
While corporate finance advisory is and will be the Ziing Group’s key focus, the
management believes that through our new asset management operations, the Group
could be benefits from receiving stable management fee income which could enhance
the financial performance of the Group in the long-run as asset management is
relatively less affected by unforeseeable situation like COVID-19. Zijing Group believes
that the business of the Group is on the right track and that it is viable and sustainable
in the long run.

According to Zijing Financial’s interim report for the six months ended 30 June 2022,
the Zijing Financial Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$5.267 million and
total comprehensive expenses of approximately HK$1.4 million.

As at 30 June 2022, the Group held 15,610,000 shares in Ziing Financial and the
Group recorded an accumulated unrealized loss of HK$11,912,939 in respect of such

investment.

There was no disposal of the shares in Zijing Financial during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Securities Investments (Continued)

3.

26

290 China Fortune Financial Group Limited

China Fortune Financial Group Limited (“China Fortune”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “China Fortune Group”) are principally engaged in securities and
insurance brokerage and provision of asset management, corporate finance, margin
financing and money lending services.

In its annual result 2022, it was mentioned that, in the foreseeable future, the global
economy will continue to undergo a challenges including uncertain trends of
geopoalitical crisis, distinct economic cycles in various countries due to the fact that
Federal Reserve has accelerated tightening monetary policy, and disruption of China’s
economic growth as a result of the recurrent pandemic. Despite many uncertainties in
the future, China Fortune still maintains a firm belief to stay grounded in Hong Kong
but with a global view. In the changing market environment, we will size up the
situation, keenly grasp the market trend, stick to the bottom line of risk and compliance
in the turbulent market, and keep growing steadily.

As stated in our annual report 2021, the Company will keep assessing the status of
portfolios, and will act to sell the stock at the appropriate time and price level. No
changes have been made to this plan.

According to China Fortune’s annual result for the year ended 31 March 2022, China
Fortune Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$58 million and total
comprehensive expense of approximately HK$76 million.

During the Year, the Group disposed 508,000 shares of China Fortune with a realized
loss of HK$702,440 of such investment. As at 30 June 2022, the Group held 1,423,000
shares in China Fortune and the Group recorded an accumulated unrealized loss of
HK$1,964,396 in respect of such investment.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022
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MANAGEM ENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Securities Investments (Continued)

4.

8292 Worldgate Global Logistics Ltd

Worldgate Global Logistics Ltd (“Worldgate”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Worldgate Group”) are principally engaged in the provision of
comprehensive international freight services, transportation services as well as
warehousing services to customers worldwide and trading of used mobile phones in
Hong Kong.

According to Worldgate’s interim report for the six months ended 30 June 2022,
Worldgate Group recorded revenue of approximately RM68 million and total
comprehensive loss of approximately RM2.1 million. From their interim report 2022, we
noted that the business, in term of revenue and profit of the Worldgate Group was still
not being able to change the investment committee’s view to sell the stock if the price
is right.

As stated in our annual report 2021 and interim report 2020, our plan to sell the stock
has remained unchanged.

As at 30 June 2022, the Group held 180,000 shares in Worldgate and the Group
recorded an accumulated unrealized loss of HK$2,149,200 in respect of such
investment.

There was no disposal of the shares in Worldgate during the year.

102 Summit Ascent Holdings Limited

Summit Ascent Holdings Limited (“Summit Ascent”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Summit Ascent Group”) conducted through its 60 percent equity
interest in Oriental Regent Limited (“Oriental Regent”) in the operation of gaming and
hotel. The Summit Ascent Group also received a management fee income calculated
at 3 percent of the total gaming revenue, net of rebates, generated by G1
Entertainment Limited Liability Company, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Oriental
Regent.

From their interim report 2022. Summit Ascent Group’s total revenue was HK$177.9
million in the 1H 2022, up 37% compared to HK$129.5 million in 2021, predominantly
attributable to a strong domestic market in the Russian Federation. The Group
recorded an Adjusted EBITDA of HK$60.0 million in 1H 2022, compared to HK$17.2
million in the 2021. The Group recorded a profit of HK$123.8 million for the 1H 2022,
compared to a loss of HK$8.1 million for the 2021. Profit attributable to owners of the
Company was HK$85.2 million in 2022, turned around from a loss of HK$131,000 in
2021.
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102 Summit Ascent Holdings Limited (Continued)

As stated in their interim result 2022, the long-term fundamentals in the Asian gaming
markets have not changed, as observed in the strong gaming results recently recorded
in countries with reopened borders and local access such as Singapore, South Korea
and the Philippines. It may be too early to indicate what are some of the permanent
implications of the COVID-19 pandemic and the Russia-Ukraine crisis could be for the
entertainment industry. Summit Ascent Group’s thriving local Russian business has
already helped the Group to stay afloat with breathing space so that we can adjust our
corporate strategies sustainably to mitigate such impacts to prepare ourselves for the
long-awaited recovery

In view of the above, we expect the prospect of their business to go in a positive
direction, and that keeping it in our investment portfolio will in tumn benefit our Group
when the current market regains stability

As at 30 June 2022, the Group held 2,500,000 shares in Summit Ascent and recorded
an accumulated unrealized loss of HK$2,322,000 in respect of such investment.

There was no disposal of the shares in Summit Ascent during the Year.

326 China Star Entertainment Limited

China Star Entertainment Limited (“China Star Entertainment”), and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “China Star Entertainment Group”) are principally
engaged in investment, production, distribution and licensing of fims and television
drama series, provision of artist management services, properties development and
investment operations.

As stated in their interim result 2022, after the outbreak of COVID-19 in early 2020, all
film productions have been suspended or slowed down. During this difficult period,
they have concentrated on pre-production stage of film production such as preparation
of story boards. The China Star Entertainment Group will pay close attention to the
development of the COVID-19 outbreak and adjust its business strategy on film-related
business operations.

China Star’s other sector — China Star Entertainment Group has submitted a
development plan of the Property to the Land, Public Works and Transport Bureau of
Macau (“DSSOPT"), pursuant to which the Property C7 shall be developed into two
residential buildings, comprising an eight-storey building and a nine-storey building,
with two basement levels of parking area underneath both buildings. The further
development of Property C7 and its development plan is awaiting response or further
instructions from DSSOPT.

Separately, China Star Entertainment Group has postponed the launch of sales of
Tiffany House to the second half of 2022 due to the outbreak of the COVID-19
pandemic and the social distancing and preventive measures in Macau recently.
During this period, the Group will focus its effort on strategic planning on promotion
and marketing on Tiffany House in Mainland China and Hong Kong.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022
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326 China Star Entertainment Limited (Continued)

According to China Star’s interim results for the six months ended 30 June 2022,
China Star Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$252,000 and total
comprehensive expenses of approximately HK$36 million.

During the year under review, the Group disposed 23,300,000 shares of China Star
Entertainment Group with a realized gain of HK$1,400,000 of such investment. As at
30 June 2022, the Group held 12,240,000 shares in China Star Group and the Group
recorded an accumulated unrealized gain of HK$518,545 in respect of such
investment.

332 Yuan Heng Gas Holdings Limited

Yuan Heng Gas Holdings Limited (“Yuan Heng”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Yuan Heng Group”) are principally engaged in (i) trading of oil and
gas products and the provision of related consultancy services; and (i) processing,
distribution, sales, trading and transportation of LNG and other auxiliary operations and
networks in the PRC.

From its annual report 2022, it was mentioned that despite the recurring COVID-19
pandemic continuing to create a series of uncertainties and aggravated by geopolitical
turmoil, energy prices have fluctuated wildly at high level, causing an impact on short-
term energy supply. Under the effective measures imposed by the PRC government,
the fundamentals for the long-term improvement of the Chinese economy will remain
unchanged. The PRC government has persisted in preventing and controlling pollution
with full force, being resolute in promoting clean production in enterprises, and steadily
implements coal-control objectives in key regions, which in turn leads to steady growth
— the demand for natural gas. The Yuan Heng Group expects that such policies in the
natural gas market would be conducive to the market environment, in which the Yuan
Heng Group operates. The Yuan Heng Group will continue to develop its businesses in
the natural gas sector and to explore new business opportunities in order to create
value for its shareholders.

According to Yuan Heng Group’s annual report for year ended 31 March 2022, the
Yuan Heng Group recorded revenue of approximately RMB$7,900 million and total
comprehensive income of approximately RMB65 million.

During the year under review, the Group acquired 8,000,000 shares of Yuan Heng,
and the Group recorded an unrealized gain of HK$320,000 in respect of such
investment during the year. There was no disposal of the shares in Yuan Heng Group
during the Year.
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8.

6878 Differ Group Auto Limited

Differ Group Auto Limited (“Differ”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Differ
Group”) are principally engaged in provision of automobile e-commerce business,
assets management business, financial related services, and commodity trading
business.

From their interim report 2022, they mentioned that global economic uncertainties will
persist in the foreseeable future amid the continuous outbreak of various COVID-19
mutant strains. On one hand, the Group will adopt a prudent approach to the asset
management business. They will closely monitor the rapidly changing environment of
the Chinese property market and will seize various opportunities to transact the
valuable assets at a suitable time. On the other hand, the Group will actively explore
business expansion of the automobile e-commerce business through different means,
including strategic cooperation with strategic partners, acquisition or investment in
certain potential companies and forming joint-ventures with other companies. The
Group’s goal is to take a leading position in China’s e-commerce automobile industry
in the near future.

According to Differ Group’s interim report for year ended 30 June 2022 - the Differ
Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$328 million and total comprehensive
income of approximately HK$84 million.

During the year under review, the Group acquired 3,000,000 shares of Differ, and the
Group recorded an accumulated unrealized loss of HK$540,000 in respect of such
investment during the year. There was no disposal of the shares in Differ Group during
the Year.

OUTLOOK

Trading Business

The Company has gained experience of sufficient length and there is a need
to build a good reputation to gain more access to major oil suppliers. The
Group’s management has been meeting major oil suppliers from time to time
to foster closer relationship with them with the aim of enlarging the Group’s
oil procurement capability. As such, the management maintains the view that
the gasoil market would pick up again when the negative impact of Russian-
Ukraine crisis and the fifth wave of COVID-19 subsides or materially alleviates.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

O UTLOOK (Continued)

Trading Business (Continued)

The Group should therefore gather sufficient working capital to catch such a
wave since the trading business would be profitable if turnover is high
enough. The good thing about oil trading is that if more cash is ready, more
profits are available. Therefore, the Group’s management is mindful of
restructuring its financial position to capitalize on any fund-raising
opportunities to enhance its working capital strength. On this basis, we
consider that the oil trading business is a business which has substance, is
viable and sustainable.

Our rights issue (“Rights Issue”) exercise enabled the Company to raise
about HK$205 million. Please refer to our announcement dated 18 May 2021
for more details. As for the disposal of our 59.04% stake in Kantone Holdings
Limited, it generated HK$57 milion net for the Company. These two
corporate actions were then approved by shareholders in our special general
meeting. Both of these corporate actions materialized and the funds were
then utilized to fully repay the loan of HK$185 million owing to Guangdong
Finance Limited and the promissory note with principal sum of HK$44 million,
the Company is debt free now and the remaining funds have been employed
as working capital to strengthen the businesses of gasoil trading, the
renewable energy related business and the loT system sales.

Technology Business — Renewable Energy

With the forward vision of the management team years ago, the Group has
been able to grasp the best timing and opportunity to start developing its
proprietary techniques and equipment in designing an economic yet high-
performing Solar Photovoltaic System.

The Group has gained an outstanding reputation in the industry, as evidenced
by the many chains of successful referrals from our existing customers. As
discussed in the Review Section of this report, the Group found that there are
various undesirable external impacts on the SPV line business, including the
decreasing of FiT Rates by the government and the overwhelming raise of costs
in SPV equipment and labour. It would be more challenging for the Group in this
line of business approaching 2033.
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OUTLOO K (Continued)

Technology Business — System Products

The Group has been developing more pre-built modules that can enhance
the construction efficiency of SPV sites. With the pre-built modules,
technicians can install and assemble the SPV systems with higher accuracy
and ease, which means a shorter construction time and lower manpower
cost is required. The Group would continue to develop specialized techniques
in the design and construction of SPV sites to stay ahead of the vigorous
competition in the industry. The Group has also successfully worked together
with new large and medium size engineering subcontractors, which are very
experienced in large SPV projects. With the cooperation from these new
partners, the Group is able to conduct larger projects in a more cost effective
manner.

Energy Management System

The Group has completed the prototype of the Intelligent Energy Management
System (“‘Energy Management System”) with enhanced connectivity to
cope with the growing network of SPV systems across Hong Kong. The
System would help the Group and our customers to monitor the operation of
solar panels and the production of energy, as well as to detect abnormalities
that may hinder the production of solar power. The Group has been working
on increasing the compatibility of the System, enabling it to connect and
interact with a wider range of devices common in our SPV systems. The
System has been successfully integrated with the Smart Remote Circuit
Detection so that its status can be monitored live on the system.

Solar Rechargeable Device

The Group has continued our research and development on the technology
for making a safe and efficient electricity storage devices, including solar
rechargeable device. The device will benefit the Group and our customers by
enabling the off-the-grid storage of solar power generated. The Group has
been proceeding with caution on this project to ensure the highest product
safety and performance standard since best practices are still being
formulated in the industry around the world. The Group has been working
closely with a first-class property developer in Hong Kong to bring the project
to fruition, as the client will benefit from the Solar Rechargeable Device as
backup power for their designated premises. Along with the study in this
technology, we have also identified certain electricity storage technologies
and projects that may be worth to invest.
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0 UTLOOK (Continued)

Technology Business — System Products (continued)

Smart City System

The Group has been focusing our development on the technology stacks that
are in the highest demand in the Small and Medium Enterprises (“SME”)
market for ready-to-use A.l. solutions. SMEs generally agree the view that the
faster and more accurate forecasting that can be brought about by machine
learning and A.l. are critical to their future business growth and the technology
is a worthwhile investment, especially in today’s fast-changing environment.
The Group’s elite IT expert team will continue the extension of this new line of
business to generate revenue for the Group from the design of the hardware
stack, software development and licensing and sales, and professional
consultation for design and on-going support and maintenance of the
machine learning system stack. The Group is also working closely with
experts of Cloud technology to ensure flexibility in the product to
accommodate different requirements from our clients, be it an on-premises
solution, cloud solution or a hybrid solution.

Cultural Industry

The business strategies for the cultural industry are still being refined. As the
trading of cultural products used to be part of the business of the Group, our
business strategy has remained cautious. We are displaying our cultural
products in our Company’s website to enhance public awareness of our
cultural products. We have been acquiring new cultural products or antiques
for resale, such as the 3 pure gold ornaments in 2021 and other pure gold
products during the year, both of which had already been sold, this kept us
up to date with the market conditions enabling us to capture the right
moment for realizing some of the Group’s inventories of cultural products at
the right price.
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OUTLOO K (Continued)

Property Sector

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 19 July 2017,
regarding the disclosable transaction in relation to the acquisition of 51%
equity interest of a Hong Kong company that indirectly owns a hotel in
Dongguan through a PRC subsidiary (the “Acquisition”), the Directors
considered the Acquisition was in line with the Group’s business
diversification strategy. In addition, as disclosed in our interim report 2021,
we noted that the market conditions in Dongguan had changed. As expected,
demand for hotel rooms in those areas continues to be depressed, and this
factor was considered when this project was reviewed. By virtue of the
subcontracting agreements, the Company can, on one hand, benefit from the
steady, guaranteed income, while it may, on the other hand, take the initiative
to terminate the agreements with the hotel operator when we consider it
appropriate. If the sub-contracting agreements are terminated, we may
redevelop the subject properties (together with the vacant and unused
portions of land adjacent thereto) afresh into a brand new residential
commercial complex project, whereby unlocking the true and inherent value
of the land. We believe that the Company would be able to realize such
hidden potential in this project in the foreseeable future.

While working on the redevelopment plan, the Company would actively
negotiate with property developers who are looking for residential-sites in the
Greater Bay Area to provide the Company with a wider choice of selling this
project.

The Company is now finalising the termination of the subcontracting
agreement with the hotel operator. Announcement would be made once the
termination agreement is signed.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Financial Position and Gearing

The Group’s financial position remained positive.

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had approximately HK$24 million (2021:
approximately HK$136 million) liquid assets made up of deposits, bank
balances and cash. Current assets were approximately HK$98 million (2021:
approximately HK$284 million) and current liabilities amounted to
approximately HK$20 million (2021: approximately HK$100 million). With net
current assets of approximately HK$78 million (2021: approximately HK$184
million), the Group maintained a healthy level of financial liquidity. Gearing ratio
at 30 June 2022 is zero as the Group had no borrowings as at 30 June 2022
(2021: N/A).
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

(Continued)

Financial Position and Gearing (Continued)

As at 30 June 2022, the Group has no borrowings (2021: HK$223 million)
and there was no borrowing which required to be repaid within one year (2021:
approximately HK$ Nil) and in the following year (2021: HK$223 million).
Finance costs for the year were approximately HK$12 million (2021:

approximately HK$32 million).

Fund Raising Activities
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A. During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Group completed a fund
raising exercise to strengthen its financial position and raised total gross
proceeds of approximately HK$86.7 million, with the net proceeds
therefrom having been applied as follows:
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—E-N\E shares held on the #786,700,000/87C facility agreement entered
TA=1H record date at into between the Company
(P3x) HK$0.40 per rights and Guangdong Finance
share Limited and for investment
in internet communication
EEREBRRKRH040% projects of the Group and
TREGEETH for administrative expenses
EMQBRRERH and operation expenses
g~ () RMm R
B EEETHR BERBEARRBER

FABART U2 BE
A REEE AR
55

HK$50.0 million was utilized for partial repayment of the loan owing to
Guangdong Finance Limited and approximately HK$20.0 milion was utilized
for administrative expenses and operation expenses and payment of interest
on borrowings, and approximately HK$1.7 million was utilized for trading
business; and approximately HK$14.44 million respectively was utiized and
the remaining amount of approximately HK$560,000 million were still kept for
our working capital on internet communication projects of the Group. The
board of directors expected that the remaining balance of approximately
HK$560,000 million will be fully utiised during the fiscal year of 2023

50,000,000 TRREREREREEER AT 2B ERUARLN
20,000,0008 LE BRTHAY REBRIAZHEEFNEARD
1,700,000 TE AR E FE 5 £114,4400008 TE BN R 84
560,000 THRERR CEAEE B BAEER - E28HY
BRI HY560, 000 T BN S = FHFEUIYA -

Set out below s a further breakdown of the use of approximately HK$20.0 million
as administrative and operation expenses and payment of interest on
borrowings:

TR BJ420,000,0002 AT R BEF A RERH S 72 B

X il

Use of proceeds Amount

ERERRE £8
(HK$'000)
(F#&xT)

Loan interest 7,400

ERAE

Cash flow for the trading business 8,300

BEBRENE

General operating expenses 300

—REERX

Legal and professional fee 400

ERREEER

Rent, management fee & government rates 1,000

He EREAREM

Staff salaries 2,600

EI%%

Total: 20,000

#Et
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(Continued)

Fund Raising Activities (Continued)

36

Note:

On 10 July 2018, 54 valid acceptances in respect of a total of 133,666,176
rights shares allotted and 60 valid applications for a total of 18,140,286
excess rights shares under the rights issue were received. In aggregate,
acceptance of and applications for a total of 151,806,462 rights shares were
received. Based on the acceptance and application results, the rights issue
was undersubscribed. Pursuant to the terms of the underwriting agreement,
the underwriters (Get Nice Securities Limited and Head & Shoulders
Securities Limited) eventually took up the 76,137,154 undersubscribed
shares.

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group completed a fund
raising exercise to strengthen its financial position and raised total gross
proceeds of approximately HK$205 million, with the net proceeds
therefrom having been applied as follows:

ﬂifﬁuwgwﬂ£21ﬁjﬁ%§§J$(

EETHm

BEE

B. #=

R-ZTE—NFLA+AH BEAHFR
A% I T B 8 /Y & $£133,666,176 A% it A%
F& 1D B 8 R 55 DA IR 6010 35 AR IB T
m/\18140286ﬂx559|\1 R AR 15 & B 2
Mo rAmME - %4 £151,806,462
HQL\HQHQME’JTMW&EEaa°$EB§J:%LT1T§

MRBFEER HELRRETRENE
/Fu REE iﬁ‘[ﬁz’z IR B (B
EFERAAEBMAESFBRAR) &

%%5576137 154 R BETEHRM ©

"——ﬂz/\ﬂ JFH_U:EEF

BRTHK—BRERE N - AR AR

Actual use of proceeds

MERERERAR

RS HRIAELR
HAGRBEFENREET

# #205,000,0007%

Date of
announcement  Fund raising activity Fund raising activity  Intended use of Proceeds
i ¥ it
NMFEE £EED RERE FERERERR
18 May 2021 Rights issue on the basis  Approximately For repayment of loan due to
(Note 1) of three rights shares HK$198 million Guangdong Finance
—EZ-F for every one existing ~ #7198,000,0007%7C Limited under a facility
RATAR share held on the agreement entered into
(Frzx1) record date at between the Company
HK$0.10 per rights and Guangdong Finance
share Limited and promissory
EERERKH0.1058 note payables and; for
TREHAHERE E facilitating the business of
—(WRRBERHE oil trading, renewable
QBB KRR ZE energy and IT projects of
BETHRER the Group
BERBAAAEEREE
BRARGILZBER
BREREREEERD
AZERRENRLR
&ARERSERE
Hk i TEERR
RTEREXH
Note 1: On 6 December 2021, 31 valid acceptances in respect of a total of

543,873,330 rights shares allotted and 26 valid applications for a total of
114,287,801 excess rights shares under the rights issue were received. In
aggregate, acceptance of and applications for a total of 658,161,131 rights
shares were received. Based on the acceptance and application results, the
rights issue was undersubscribed. Pursuant to the terms of the underwriting
agreement, the underwriters (Get Nice Securities Limited and Kingston
Securities Limited) eventually took up the 1,393,331,413 undersubscribed
shares.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022

HK$126 million was utilized for repayment of the loan owing to Guangdong
Finance Limited and HK$41 milion was utilized for repayment of promissory
note payables; and approximately HK$22.8 million was utilized for trading
business; and approximately HK$3.6 milion was utiized for the renewable
energy projects; and the remaining amount of approximately HK$4.6 million
was kept for facilitating the business of oil trading, renewable energy and IT
projects of the Group. The board of directors expected that the remaining
balance of approximately HK$4.6 milion would be fully utiised during the

finance year 2023.
126,000,000 T AR EEE

REREEERRAR ZEFHAKAI41,000,000

BTDRREERFALEE k4228000008 LEBRKGREE

%i%,m&mmw%iaﬁ%ﬁﬁiﬁ

BRI B K5 % 414,600,000/

BERNAREARAREEN TR TBERRRTEESE

ﬁ EEEBHASENA600000FTER T =

BT

FHEREDA-

RZEZ—F+ A8 EE3NH
W R % T8 T BE % &) & $£543,873,330
AR B 1D M B KR R LA&zG@&&
ﬁiﬂxIETm/\1142878O1ﬁx%’Eﬁ7|\

BHONEREZ AW &%:.
658,161,131H&f#ﬂﬁ%f’\ﬁwﬂm&%a
BELMEARBEFER HRLERR
BTEHER  BRESHEBINIGKK
BHEE(ETEFERAALEHEH
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

(Continued)

Treasury Policy

The Group is committed to manage its financial resources prudently and to
maintain a positive liquid financial position. The Group finances its operation
and business development by a combination of internally generated
resources, capital market instruments and banking facilities. All the
borrowings were used by subsidiaries of the Company in the form of fixed
loans, margin loans and promissory notes. As all the Group’s borrowings
were denominated in their local currencies, the currency risk exposure
associated with them was insignificant. The Group does not engage in any
speculative derivatives or structured product transactions, interest rate or
foreign exchange speculative activities. It is the Group’s policy to manage
foreign exchange risk through matching foreign exchange income with
expenses and, where significant exposure to foreign exchange is anticipated,
appropriate hedging instruments may be used.

Capital Commitments

As at 30 June 2022,
commitments (2021: Nil).

the Group’s did not have any material capital

Charges

After the Interest-bearing loan of HK$185 million was fully repaid in December
2021, those charges of the Company were relieved.

As at 30 June 2021, the other interest bearing borrowing of the Group of
HK$185 million was secured by personal guarantee provided by Ms. Wong
Man Winny (an executive Director and chairperson of the Board) (“Existing
Guarantor”) and the 128,137,958 shares of Kantone owned by the Company
which represents 59.04% of the issued share capital of Kantone. As disclosed
in announcement dated 4 November 2020, in view of the fact that the
lender’s security interest in the shares of Kantone has been diluted as a result
of the placing of shares of Kantone (as announced by the Company on 6 May
2020 and 18 May 2020) and that the lender agreed to extend the repayment
date to 7 October 2021, the lender requested the Company to provide
additional collaterals to the lender.

Iﬁﬁl)lbﬁﬁ&/\jiﬁﬁlﬁ(%ﬁ)

B BR

AEE-EEREEEMTAAKE@AL
MABMBRN  AEBEIBEBABLE
ER-AATBUBTARBGHEEELRE

BREBHREES -MEBEBHAARAN
BRRAINEHER RESERRALRE

ATRER BRAKEMREEESNERLE
WEHE - EHit - BAKEE S AR 2 IMERR
E - AEBEAEBETERNBEBRREEITE

TEASEBUHERZRS FEHEXZHK

BEETH AEEZ " ERXREBERY

9I\MH§U\&3‘Z5E&A@9I\EH y o B &
REHIRZEZIERR  AEEBFERA
Z¥¢/EPI,E\-°

BAREIE

R-ZZE-Z—_FXNA=Z+H AEEILTEEM
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R-_E-_—F+_fA ARAINEMEE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

(Continued)

Charges (Continued)

Accordingly, on 4 November 2020, the Company, the Existing Guarantor and
the lender entered into a second supplemental deed (the “Second
Supplemental Deed”) pursuant to which the Company shall provide
additional collaterals to the lender, including the following share charges
(collectively, the “Share Charges”) in respect of the shares of certain
subsidiaries of the Group which were executed on the same day by the

Group in favour of the lender:

(1)

38

the share charge in respect of all issued shares in Champion Luck
International Limited, which is the sole legal and beneficial owner of the
property situated at Room 703, 1188 Shangchuan Road, Shanghai,
PRC valued at approximately HK$3.9 million as at 30 June 2020;

the share charge in respect of all issued shares in Champion Million
Industries Limited, which is the sole legal and beneficial owner of the
property situated at Room 702, 1188 Shangchuan Road, Shanghai,
PRC valued at approximately HK$3.8 million as at 30 June 2020; and

the share charge in respect of all issued shares in Champion Pacific
Investment Limited, which is the sole legal and beneficial owner of the
property situated at Room 8A, Tianji Building F4.8, Tianan
Chegongmiao Industrial Zone, Futian District, Shenzhen, PRC valued at
approximately HK$33 million as at 30 June 2020.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022
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MANAGEM ENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Contingent liabilities

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had no material contingent liabilities (2021:
Nil).

Significant investments held, material acquisitions
and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, and future plans for material investments
or capital assets

Save as disclosed in this report, there were no significant investments held,
no material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures during the year ended 30 June 2022.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

RZTZZFNA=+/\B ASAT 28 SEPTEMBER 2022

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. WONG Man Winny (“Ms. Wong”), aged 48, has been an executive
Director and the Chairperson of the Board since October 2017, and she has
been then becoming the Joint Chairperson of the Board of Champion since
June 2022. She was the executive director and Chairperson of Kantone
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1059) for the period from 19 October 2017 to
30 December 2021. Ms. Wong served as the licensed representative of
Business Securities Limited from 2003 to 2004. She has over 10 years of
experience in corporate management and investment. Ms. Wong is the sole
director of Worldwide Peace Limited, which is a substantial shareholder of the
Company which falls to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”).

As at 30 June 2022, Ms. Wong is deemed to be interested in 442,359,000
shares in the Company, representing approximately 16.17% of the issued
share capital of the Company, through Worldwide Peace Limited, which is
beneficially wholly owned by Ms. Wong, under the SFO.

Mr. Wu Yunjing (“Mr. Wu”), aged 43, has been an Executive Director and
the Joint Chairman of the Board since June 2022. Mr. Wu graduated from
Yuxiu High School, PingYang County* (FEZ&EFHE) in Wenzhou,
Zhejiang Province, China in the year of 1999. From January 2010 to July
2016, Mr. Wu served as the general manager (China region) of Shenzhen
Putian Tongle Information Technology Development Co., Ltd* (ZII|TH & XF]
R R EE AR A F) and was mainly responsible for matters related to
the nationwide distribution of Philips mobile phone in China. Mr. Wu was also
a committee member of China UnionPay Cloud Flash Pay Service Provider
Development Committee* (- B SR B =PI (I RIS a2 E & B &) for the period
from October 2019 to October 2020. Mr. Wu was the Executive Director of
Kantone Holdings Limited (stock code: 1059) for the period from 30 March
2021 to 30 Dec 2021. Since August 2016, Mr. Wu has served as Chairman
and Chief executive Officer of Shenzhen Chaomeng Jinfu Technology
Information Service Group* (FIII BB R E RIS EE).

40 Champion Technology Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

RZTZZFNA=+/\B ASAT 28 SEPTEMBER 2022

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LIU Ka Lim (“Mr. Liu”), aged 66, has been re-designated as a non-
executive Director with effect from October 2020 and continues to serve as
an authorised representative of the Company. He was an Executive Director
of the Company from October 2016 to October 2020. He has over 30 years
of professional experience in the field of finance and accounting. He is a
fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is
also a member of the Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute and a
Certified Carbon Auditor registered under the Energy Institute of UK. Mr. Liu
is currently a non-executive director of Kantone Holdings Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). He was an Executive Director of Kantone Holdings
Limited from October 2016 to October 2020. He is also a director of serval
subsidiaries of the Group. From March 2004 to August 2006, Mr. Liu was the
chairman of Galileo Capital Group Limited (now known as Imperium Financial
Group Limited), a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange. From
October 2003 to March 2006, Mr. Liu was the chairman of Wonderful World
Holdings Limited (now known as Good Resources Holdings Limited), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. From January
2011 to June 2013, Mr. Liu was a non-executive director of United Pacific
Industries Limited (now known as Superactive Group Company Limited), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

As at 30 June 2022, Mr. Liu beneficially owned 1,992,000 shares of the
Company, representing approximately 0.07% of the issued share capital of
the Company.

Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica (“Ms. To”), aged 42, has been a non-executive
Director since July 2017. Ms. To is currently a Barrister-at-Law. Ms. To holds
a postgraduate certificate in laws from University of Hong Kong and a
graduate diploma in English and Hong Kong law from Manchester
Metropolitan University. Ms. To was admitted as a barrister of the High Court
of HKSAR in 2009. Ms. To has more than 10 years of experience in the legal
field. Ms. To is currently a non-executive director of Kantone Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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RZTZZFNA=+/\B ASAT 28 SEPTEMBER 2022

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. LEUNG Man Fai (“Mr. Leung”), aged 58, has been an independent
non-executive director of the Company since June 2017. Mr. Leung has
extensive experience in accounting and finance. Mr. Leung received a
Bachelor of Arts degree in Accountancy from the City University of Hong
Kong. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. Mr. Leung is currently an independent non-executive director of
Kantone (stock code: 1059), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Leung served as a financial controller and
company secretary of a private company during 2003 to 2006. From 1996 to
20083, he served various roles including financial controller, company secretary
and finance manager in several listed companies within the ITC Corporation
Limited (now known as PT International Development Corporation Limited)
(stock code: 372), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. He also worked as a senior accountant from 1992 to 1996
in Hopewell Holdings Limited, which was de-listed from the Stock Exchange
on 3 May 2019. Mr. Leung was also an independent non-executive director
of China Aluminum Cans Holdings Limited (stock code: 6898), the shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, during the period
from June 2013 to June 2016. Currently, Mr. Leung is the chief financial
officer and company secretary of Da Ming International Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1090), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

Mr. CHAN Yik Hei (“Mr. Chan”), aged 32, has been an independent non-
executive director of the Company since June 2017. Mr. Chan graduated
from Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in 2011 with a
bachelor’s degree in Electronic & Computer Engineering. Mr. Chan is a young
inventor and entrepreneur in Hong Kong. In 2004, he won the Second Award
in Engineering Category in the 55th Intel International Science and Engineering
Fair in the United States of America for his invention of a smart security robot.
An asteroid no. 20780 was named after him. In 2006, Mr. Chan’s
autobiography “Chan Yik Hei, The Young Man Who Grabbed The Star* (1§ £
DEEBR 5 %) was published, and became one of the bestsellers on the
Hong Kong Book Fair. He was also the torchbearer of the 54th Olympic torch
relay in Hong Kong and a member of the management committee of The
Church of Christ in China Tam Lee Lai Fun Memorial Secondary School. In
2016, he was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star by the HKSAR Government.
Mr. Chan is one of the founding shareholders of Bull.B Technology Limited,
which provides (i) online platform and development services; and (i) mobile
application development services, including FinTech platform development
and educational apps.
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RZTZZFNA=+/\B ASAT 28 SEPTEMBER 2022

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DlRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. WONG Yuk Man Edmand (“Mr. Wong”), aged 66, has been an
independent non-executive director of the Company since March 2018. From
January 2004 to August 2006, Mr. Wong was an independent non-executive
director of Galileo Capital Group Limited (now known as Sun International
Group Limited) (stock code: 8029), the shares of which are traded on the
GEM of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Wong holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from
the University of British Columbia. Formerly a foreign correspondent, he held
various key communications roles in government agencies, the Hong Kong
Jockey Club, a major international charity, and tertiary academic institutions.
He is currently responsible for public relations and communications at an
educational institution.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. CHAN Wai (“Mr. Chan”), aged 53, has been the company secretary of
the Company since October 2016, and he is also the chief financial officer
and an authorised representative of the Company. Mr. Chan has 29 years of
experience in accounting and financial management. Mr. Chan holds a
master degree in Professional Accounting awarded by The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, an associate of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.
Mr. Chan is currently the chief financial officer, company secretary and an
authorised representative of Kantone and a director of certain subsidiaries of
the Company.

BIYFHITEEZE @

BEEXRE(EEE]D  NTAE B-%—
NEZABRBEARABILIIERITES - R =
TZENF-AE_ZTF/)/\AHMB &L
EAENERRESBEERAF(RBALAEGEH
BEEBRAR) (KKK : 8029 - HKH M
BRXGEME &) 2 B EHTEE - B LE
BEEBIRL EASBEBENNELTEN-
ERAIEIIGE BERBTEE BEES
g —RHAARAEBREZEZEELZHASSHE
BEHNTZEEZBEABRS - FHRN —HH
EREGEAHRBARBMER -

REME

REXAE(REED E+=m BE-ZT—X
FTARRARBRAWE  RIFRARA
MHREREERR - REEFEBE - TNF
B RMBERLR RELEFBERBETL
AREBERZEXGHERLEN -RREE
SEEMAE REFFARGHAMAGE AR
REBLEBRNEFetmpeags - RE
EERREBZUBHAE RANWEREE
KERURARRETHERAR ZES -

BENEEEERAT —B__FFRK 43



EEERE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors would like to present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is principally
engaged in the trading of gasoil and trading of cultural products, system sales
including renewable energy systems and the related engineering work,
software development, licensing and customization, of system products
including payment gateways and loT and strategic investment.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business, an indication of its likely future development
and an analysis as well as particulars of important events affecting the Group
that have occurred since the end of the year ended 30 June 2022 are
discussed in the “Chairperson’s Statement” and “Management Discuss and
Analysis”, sections from pages 5 to 39. On the other hand, a description of
the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group is set out in the
“Corporate Governance Report” on pages 57 to 81. The above discussions
form part of this report.

In addition, the financial risk management objectives and policies of the
Group are shown in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group puts great emphasis in environmental protection and energy
conservation to enhance the capacity of sustainable development and
undertake relative social responsibility. Through the establishment of an ever-
improving management system, energy conservation and environmental
protection were strongly promoted, leading to the remarkable achievement of
environmental management.

Pursuant to Rule 13.91 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), the Company will publish an
Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report no later than five
months after the end of the financial year in compliance with the provision set
out in the ESG Reporting Guide in Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELATED LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to applicable laws,
rules and regulations, in particular, those of which may have a significant
impact on the Group. Save as otherwise disclosed and as far as the Board
and management are aware, the Group has complied with all related laws
and regulations in all material aspects which may have significant impact on
the business and operation of the Group during the year under review.

RELATIONSHIP OF STAKEHOLDERS

The Company believes that employees, customers and business partners are
the key to maintain continuous sustainable development. The Company is
committed to be people-oriented and build up good relationship with its
employees. The Group provides on-the-job training and development
opportunities to enhance its employees’ career progression. Through different
trainings, staff’s professional knowledge in corporate operations, occupational
and management skills are enhanced. The Group also values the health and
well-being of its staff. Employees are provided with health insurance coverage
for their medical expenses. The Group also works together with its business
partners to provide high quality products and services to achieve the goal of
sustainable development and contribution to society.

There was no material and significant dispute between the Group and its
distributors and/or customers during the year under review.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2022 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on
pages 89 to 90 and in the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect of
the year ended 30 June 2022 (2021: Nil). Capital will be reserved for the
expansion of the Group’s business and to capture investment opportunities
arising in the future. There is no arrangement that any shareholder of the
Company has waived or agreed to waive any dividend.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are
set out in Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The board of directors of the Company established a dividend policy (the
“Dividend Policy”) in December 2018, pursuant to which the Company may
declare and distribute dividends to the shareholders of the Company.

In considering the payment of dividends, the Board shall take into account,
among other things, the actual and expected financial performance of the
Group, retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and each
of the members of the Group, cash flow, working capital requirements, capital
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans of the Group, the
liquidity position of the Group, general economic conditions, business cycle of
the Group’s business, future prospects and other internal or external factors
that may have an impact on the business or financial performance and
position of the Company and any other relevant factors that the Board may
consider relevant.

The payment of dividend by the Company is also subject to compliance with
applicable laws and regulations including the laws of Bermuda and the
Company’s Bye-laws. The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy
from time to time and there can be no assurance that dividends will be paid in
any particular amount for any given period.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the year
under review are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on page 93 and Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements,
respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE OF THE
COMPANY

Details of the distributable reserve of the Company as at 30 June 2022 are
set out in Note 37 to the financial statements.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on pages 231 to 232.

INTEREST BEARING OTHER BORROWING

Particulars of interest-bearing other borrowing of the group as at 30 June
2022 are set out in Note 33 to the financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Company during the year ended 30 June
2022 amounted to HK$10,300 (2021: HK$29,000).

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefit schemes are set out in Note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of movements in fixed assets of the Group during the year are set out
in Notes 16 to 18 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Ms. WONG Man Winny (Joint Chairperson)
Mr. WU Yun Jing (Joint Chairperson)
(appointed on 24 June 2022)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. LIU Ka Lim
Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. LEUNG Man Fai
Mr. CHAN Yik Hei
Mr. WONG Yuk Man Edmand

In accordance with bye-law 87(1) of the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-
laws”), one-third of the Directors for the time being, (or if their number is not a
multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire
from office by rotation so that each Director shall be subject to retirement at
least once every three years.

In accordance with bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-laws, any Director appointed by
the Board at any time either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-
election at that meeting.

None of the Directors has a service contract which is not determinable by the

Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation) as at the date of this report.
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DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ON
DIRECTORS PURSUANT TO RULE
13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, there is no other change in
the Directors’ information required to be disclosed during the year under
review.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND
DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

The Company has a share option scheme under which eligible persons,
including directors of the Company or any of their respective subsidiaries,
may be granted options to subscribe for shares of the Company.

Details of the share option schemes of the Company are set out in Note 38 to
the consolidated financial statements.

No share option has been granted since the adoption of the share option
schemes of the Company.

Other than the share option schemes described in Note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements, at no time during the year was the
Company, its subsidiaries, holding companies or fellow subsidiaries a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SECURITIES

As at 30 June 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directors and
chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying share and
debentures of the Company or any of their spouses or children under
eighteen years of age or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”))
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set forth
under Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules were as follows:
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EEzRESRaRAR

RZZE-_—_FXA=1+RH BEIZILLHPE
161 (3% 5 REIE MBI ]) 352158 F AR Al
BATEFEZELMATES KR E W8 A
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TIEREZzBHM BEFERARFEEZTHAER
FHBBHIAB T \RZ T EXEAQASKE
TRAEBEIE(TEREHFRBEEHEXV
H)zRm  BERNDREFFEEZERR
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Approximate
percentage*

Number of of the issued

Name of Director Capacity shares share capital
HEBRTREAZ

= 514 RHHE BAE D
Ms. Wong Man Winny Interest of controlled corporation 442,359,000(L) (Note 1) (Fi#E1) 16.17%
|mH AL REHDEEER
Mr. Liu Ka Lim Beneficial owner 1,992,000(L) 0.07%
BREREE EmfA A
Notes: B 5
1. As at 30 June 2022, these shares of the Company were held by Worldwide Peace 1, RIEBE-_—_FXA=1+H ARQAAZERMHHER

Limited, which is wholly- owned by Ms. Wong Man Winny, the current chairperson and
executive director of the Company. Ms. Wong Man Winny is deemed to be interested
in the shares of the Company, representing approximately 16.17% of the issued share
of the Company held by Worldwide Peace Limited.

2. The letter “L” denotes the Director’s long position in the shares of the Company.

* The percentage represents the number of shares involved divided by the number of
the Company’s issued shares as at 30 June 2022.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executive of the
Company or any of their spouses or children under eighteen years of age had
any interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (as defined in Part XV of
the SFO) as at 30 June 2022 as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Related Party Transactions” below,
no transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to the
Group’s business to which the Company, its subsidiaries, holding company
and any of their subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or his/her
connected entity had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors is interested in any business apart from the Group’s
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Group.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Related Party Transactions” below,
no contract of significance has been entered into between the Company or
any of its subsidiaries and the controlling shareholder (as defined in the Listing
Rules) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure requirements
in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

During the year under review, the Group did not conduct any non-exempt
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group had entered into certain
transactions with parties which were regarded as “Related Parties” under the
applicable accounting principles. Details of those related party transactions
are set out in Note 42 to the consolidated financial statements. The
transactions which are considered as connected transactions under the
Listing Rules are further disclosed in Note 42 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER

As at 30 June 2022, the following person (other than the interests of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company disclosed in the paragraph
headed “Directors’ interests and short positions in securities” above) had
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO:

FERR

R-B-—&®~A=+H REBXRHE
I ) F 336 5 48 8 A 2 VB TR TE 2 B R A
Rk THAL(EXEEZ BEHRERHK
Bl-BFEEADAEFRTRAH %
B 5D B AR 2 A 2 B £ T2 4R BB AR o o
BOAR :

Approximate
percentage*

Number of of the issued

Name Capacity shares share capital
HERTRAZ

= =80) KR4 EE BHE 2
Worldwide Peace Limited Beneficial owner 442 ,359,000(L) (Note 1)(ffaE1) 16.17%

BRFEBRRAA EniEAA

Note: The letter “L” denotes the shareholder’s long position in the shares of the Company.

* The percentage represents the number of shares of the Company involved divided by
the number of the Company’s issued shares as at 30 June 2022.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2022, according to the register of
interests required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO,
there was no person who had any interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, OPTIONS,
WARRANTS OR SIMILAR RIGHTS

The Company and its subsidiaries had no outstanding convertible securities,
options, warrants or similar rights as at 30 June 2022.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed the
Company’s listed securities during the year ended 30 June 2022.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws or the laws
of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-
rata basis to existing shareholders.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to the
shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group sells its products to customers, some of whom act as its
distributors, and purchases materials and components from suppliers, some
of whom act as its merchandisers.

For the year ended 30 June 2022, sales to the Group’s five largest
customers, on individual entity basis, accounted for approximately 75% of the
total revenue for the year and sales to the largest customer, on individual
entity basis, included therein amounted to approximately 37%. Purchases
from the Group’s five largest suppliers, on individual entity basis, accounted
for approximately 82% of the total purchases for the year and purchases from
the largest supplier, on individual entity basis, included therein amounted to
approximately 40%.

None of the Directors, their close associates, or any shareholders, which to
the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital, had any interest in the share capital of the five largest
customers or suppliers of the Company.
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REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 30 June 2022, the Group employed about 28 full-time and part-time
staff around the globe. Staff costs for the year ended 30 June 2022 were
approximately HK$14.2 million (2021: approximately HK$92 million).

The remuneration of the employees of the Group is determined with reference
to market terms and the performance, qualifications and experience of the
individual employee.

Emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the Human Resources
and Remuneration Committee of the Company after considering factors such
as the Company’s operating results, individual capabilities, performance,
salaries paid by comparable companies, and time commitment and
responsibilities of the position.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme that may serve as an
incentive to Directors, eligible employees and consultants where appropriate.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the directors, as at the date of this report, there is sufficient
public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required
under the Listing Rules.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, the Directors shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which may incur or
sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about
the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective offices or
trusts, provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect
of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any Directors. Such permitted
indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors was in force during the
year and remained in force as of the date of this report.

The Group has taken out a directors’ liability insurance to cover Directors’
liabilities to third parties. During the year ended 30 June 2022, no claims were
made against the Directors.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share option scheme as disclosed in this report, no equity-
linked agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing Shares, or
that require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result
in the Company issuing Shares, were entered into by the Company during the
year or subsisted at the end of the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year.

EEMFREREMRX

AREBAREEEHARARAZEE R d
MNESHERE RFRTEIBBHIET
MITEBREIBREBEREMEL #HEZ
EREATERMABRIXERRZMBEFR B
A-lE BX BERAX ATEERLZH
HREMES HEAREREL TEFEA
EEREERFHITICHABEEANEE B
HENMNEFEZEEFBERBEREXNFALE
MERARE B RDRER

AEECREESETCRR REEETN
FZHAEZEE - BE-_ZE-_—_F~A=
TELEFE HEEEEITMER-

fR 2 9 15 R

BRAREMHEZBRESSIN BESS
A BEE B BN R A BT I 2 B 1
#OABRARFT UGS XS ERA
REVEITRD 2 T B AR R F AR
THRFRIFE -

BEEEHN

FAMBEITLXFERRARA 2B HAEM
EABOEBZEERTREEZAL

BERNZEBERLT —B-FFHK 55



EEERE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Details of the remuneration paid by the Group to the Directors of the
Company and senior management of the Group for the year ended 30 June
2022 are set out in Note 10 to the financial statements.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There are no significant event affecting the Group occurred subsequent to 30
June 2022.

AUDITOR

Moore Stephens CPA Limited resigned as the auditor of the Company on 15
June 2022 and Cheng & Cheng Limited was appointed as the auditor of the
Company on 15 June 2022 by the Directors to fill the casual vacancy
following the resignation of Moore Stephens CPA Limited. Save as disclosed
above, there were no other changes of auditors by the Company in the past
three years. A resolution for the Company to re-appoint Cheng & Cheng
Limited as the auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

By order of the Board

Ms. WONG MAN WINNY and Mr. WU YUN JING
JOINT CHAIRPERSON

Hong Kong
29 September 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTRODUCTION

The Board and the senior management of the Company are committed to
establishing good corporate governance practices and procedures. The
maintenance of high standard of business ethics and corporate governance
practices has always been one of the Group’s goals. The Company believes
that good corporate governance provides a framework that is essential for
effective management, successful business growth and a healthy corporate
culture, thereby leading to the enhancement of shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The corporate governance principles of the Company emphasize a quality
Board, sound internal controls, transparency and accountability to all
shareholders. By applying rigorous corporate governance practices, the
Group believes that its accountability and transparency will be improved
thereby instilling confidence to shareholders and the public. The Company
has been conducting its business according to the principles of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules during the year ended 30 June 2022.

Throughout the financial year ended 30 June 2022, the Group has complied
with the code provisions in the CG Code save for the deviation of code
provision A.4.1 (there is no such requirement from 1 January 2022) of the CG
Code, details of which will be explained in the relevant paragraphs in this
report. The Board will review its corporate governance practice annually and
make necessary changes if necessary. Meetings were held throughout the
year under review and where appropriate, circulars and other guidance notes
were issued to Directors and senior management of the Group to ensure that
they were aware of issues regarding corporate governance practices.

i
il

ARBEEGREREEBRNRIRIIFE
XERAFHARBRF #BRKFZAEXERET
REXRERER " ER/AEENBRZ —-
ARAAE RECEEGMEHRZRE &
BERER EBERDWERERBIRHEEX

tEHEE AHELREGRREE-

RAARZz T RrRAUAEEEETTE R 1B
A EE BFERHE YAH2ERES
E-ERRAREZOEERER  ALEE
EHANEEMEMLRERE KMELE
BEERKBREHIEL REE-_ZE-__FX
A=Z+RHLEEER ARRCREHN LD
MAINSE TN EERTRA(LEERT
ADZRAFAREZER-

RBEE-E-—FNA=Z1THLEAGTKRSE
FW'$E@E%?Q¥Mﬁ?WZ?%ﬁ
"M IR B 1 2 a5t A ST ANME L EALE
(Efjffi H—Eiaaﬁmﬁﬁx)
RO BRGEEERARSHEREMM - =
ECREFRUTECEESER INFE
BEHNE E8 ARNAREBEFANY SR
TEZREH TREERRAESERASER
LEREBRL BRI EEAMIES FAE - AER
BEMNBEMCEETRFRZER -

SENEEEERAT —S__FFRH 57



TEERBRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company and
oversees the Group’s business, strategic decisions and performances and is
collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company by
directing and supervising its affairs. In practice, the Board takes responsibility
for decision making in all major matters of the Company including the
approval and monitoring of all policy matters, the setting of objectives, annual
budgets and overall strategies, the entering into material transactions,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and operational
matters. The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the senior executives and the management. Their
responsibilities include the implementation of decisions made by the Board,
the co-ordination and direction of day-to- day operation and management of
the Company in accordance with the management strategies and plans
approved by the Board. The Board receives full support from senior
executives to discharge its responsibility. Prior approval must be obtained
from the Board before entering into any significant transactions. The
statement of the auditors of the Company in relation to their reporting
responsibilities for the consolidated financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 82 to 88 of this report.

Composition

The composition of the Board during the year and up to the date of this report
was as follows:

Executive Directors

Ms. WONG Man Winny (Joint Chairperson)

Mr. WU Yun Jing (Joint Chairperson)
(appointed on 24 June 2022)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. LIU Ka Lim
Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. LEUNG Man Fai

Mr. CHAN Yik Hei

Mr. WONG Yuk Man Edmand
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD (Continued)

Composition (Continued)

One of the independent non-executive Directors has appropriate accounting
and financial management expertise. The number of independent non-
executive Directors is more than one-third of the Board. Biographical details
of the other Directors are set out in the paragraph headed “Directors and
senior management profile” on pages 40 to 43 of this report.

The presence of three independent non-executive Directors is considered by
the Board to be a reasonable balance between executive Directors and non-
executive Directors. The Board is of the opinion that such balance can
provide adequate checks and balances to safeguard the interests of
shareholders and of the Group. The independent non-executive Directors
provide to the Group with a wide range of expertise and experience so that
independent judgement can be exercised effectively. They have also
participated in Board meetings and general meetings, dealt with potential
conflicts of interest, served on audit committee, human resources and
remuneration committee and nomination committee of the Company and
scrutinized the Group’s performance and reporting. Through their active
participation, the management process of the Company can be critically
reviewed and controlled.

The Directors have distinguished themselves in their field of expertise and
have exhibited high standards of personal and professional ethics and
integrity. All Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the
Company’s affairs. The Board believes that the ratio among executive
Director, non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors is
reasonable and adequate to perform check and balance function over the
Board in the decision-making process.

The Board is responsible for the appointment of new Director and nomination
for re-election by shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company.
Under the Bye-laws, the Board may from time to time appoint a new Director
either to fill a vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Any new Director
appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office until the next annual general meeting after his/her appointment and
shall then be eligible for re-election at such meeting.
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BOAR D (Continued)

Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision A.2.1 (re-number to C.2.1 from 1 January 2022) of the CG
Code stipulates that the roles of Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer
should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual. The
division of responsibilities between the Chairperson and the Chief Executive
Officer should be clearly established and set out in writing.

The role of Chairperson is being performed by Ms. Wong Man Winny and Mr.
Wu Yun Jing, who are also being the Executive Directors, and they are
responsible for the overall strategic planning and development of the Group
and the effective functioning and leadership of the Board.

The Company has no such title as the Chief Executive Officer and therefore
the daily operation and management of the Company has been monitored by
the Executive Directors and assisted by the non-executive Directors as well
as the senior management.

The Board is of the view that although there is no Chief Executive Officer, the
balance of power and authority is ensured by the operation of the Board,
which comprises experienced individuals and who meet from time to time to
look after the operations of the Company.

INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in accordance with Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and each of them has declared fulfiment of all the
guidelines for assessing independence in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Company considers that all the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

All independent non-executive Directors are identified as such in all corporate

communications containing the names of the Directors. In addition, there is
no material relationship between Board members.
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DEVIATION FROM THE CG CODE

Throughout the year ended 30 June 2021, the Company complied with the
CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, save and except the
following deviation:

Term of appointment of non-executive Directors

Under the code provision A.4.1 (there is no such requirement since 1 January
2022) of the CG Code, all non-executive Directors should be appointed for a
specific term, subject to re- election. Whilst one of the non-executive
Directors, Ms. To Yin Fong Cecilica is not appointed for a specific term,
however, the term of office for non-executive Directors is subject to retirement
from office by rotation and is eligible for re-election in accordance with the
provisions of the Company’s bye-laws. At each annual general meeting of the
Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being, (or if their number is
not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third)
shall retire from office by rotation so that each Director shall be subject to
retirement at least once every three years. As such, the Company considers
that such provision is sufficient to meet the underlying objectives of CG Code.

BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS

The Board regularly meets in person or through other electronic means of
communication at least four times every year to determine the overall strategic
direction, objectives and to approve interim results, annual results or other
significant matters. Draft notice and agenda for regular meetings are provided
to all Directors for comments and inclusion of any matters for deliberation at
the meetings. Apart from holding regular meetings, senior management from
time to time provides to the Directors information on activities and
development of the business of the Group. The company secretary assists
the Chairperson in preparing agenda for the meetings and ensures that all
applicable rules and regulations in connection with the meetings are observed
and complied with. Except for ad hoc Board meetings to deal with urgent
issues, the agenda and Board papers are then sent to all Directors at least 3
days prior to the meeting. The company secretary also takes detailed
minutes, keeps records of matters discussed and decision resolved at the
meetings.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEET'NGS (Continued)

Directors’ attendances in the general meetings and the meetings of the
Board, audit committee, human resources and remuneration committee,
nomination committee and investment committee held during the year are set
out below:

Audit

Board Committee

Meeting Meeting

attended/ attended/

Eligible Eligible

Name of Directors to attend to attend

BHE/ BHE/
RERMEZ RERHEZ
Expg ET883 BNZEgEd

EEEERRRERAREw

REERABTZERAREREEE BERZ
BEg® ANEREFMEZES REZEGN
MMREZEGSRR2EELEBREATNNT

Human

Resources and
Remuneration Nomination Investment Annual
Committee Committee Committee General
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
attended/ attended/ attended/ attended/
Eligible Eligible Eligible Eligible
to attend to attend to attend to attend

BHE/
RERLEEZ giiE/ Bt/ 2R/

ANERR AERERz REREREZ SERHEZ
FHZEEEE REZE9EE REZEEEE RRBEAE

Executive Directors

HITES

Ms. WONG Man Winny (Joint Chairperson) 4/4 -
ERRT(BELE)

Mr. WU Yun Jing (Joint Chairperson) (appointed on 24 June 2022) - -
RABREBELR) RZF-_FEXNA-THAZA)

Non-executive Directors

FUTES
Mr. LIU Ka Lim 4/4 -
BERLE
Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica 4/4 -
HFFTL

Independent Non-executive Directors

BukHTES

Mr. LEUNG Man Fai 4/4 212
RNBAE

Mr. CHAN Yik Hei 4/4 212
RH% Kk

Mr. WONG Yuk Man Edmand 4/4 2/2
BRENEE
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BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEET'NGS (Continued)

During regular meetings of the Board, the Directors discuss and formulate the
overall strategies of the Group, monitor financial performances, review the
annual and interim results, and make decisions on significant matters. The
execution of daily operational matters is delegated to the senior executives of
the Group.

The company secretary records the proceedings of each Board meeting in
detail by keeping minutes, including the record of all decisions resolved by the
Board together with concerns raised and dissenting views expressed (if any).
Draft Board minutes are circulated to all Directors for comment and approval
as soon as practicable after the meeting. All minutes are open for inspection
at any reasonable time upon request by any Director.

All Directors have access to relevant and timely information at all times and
they may make further enquiries if it is necessary to do so.

They also have unrestricted access to the advice and services of the
company secretary, who is held responsible for providing Directors with
Board papers and other related materials. The company secretary also
ensures that proper Board procedures are followed and that all applicable
laws and regulations are complied with. If the Directors consider necessary
and appropriate, they may retain the service of independent professional
advisers at the Group’s expense.

In case where a conflict of interest arises involving a substantial shareholder
or a Director, such matter will be resolved in a physical meeting instead of
passing written resolutions. Independent non-executive Directors with no
conflict of interest will be present at meetings to deal with such conflict
issues.

The Board committees, including the audit committee, the human resources
and remuneration committee, the nomination committee and the investment
committee, have all adopted the applicable practices and procedures used in
Board meetings.

The annual general meeting and other special general meetings of the
Company are the primary forum for communication with its shareholders and
for shareholders’ participation. All shareholders are encouraged to attend the
general meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at meetings on
their behalf if they are unable to attend.

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Company held its annual general
meeting on 30 December 2021. Details of major items discussed in those
general meetings are set out in the circulars of the Company dated 30
November 2021.
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TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR
DIRECTORS

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors, must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities as
Directors and of the business of the Group. As such, the Group provides a
comprehensive and formal introduction to each newly appointed Director
upon his/her appointment. Briefings and orientations are provided so as to
ensure that new Directors are familiar with the role of the Board, their legal
and other duties as a Director as well as the business and governance
practices of the Group. Such programmes are tailor made for each Director
taking into account their background and expertise.

The Company is committed to arranging and funding suitable training to all
Directors for their continuous professional development. During the year
ended 30 June 2022 and up to the date of this report, all Directors engaged
in business activities in their respective fields as continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills so as to
ensure that their contributions to the Board remain informed and relevant,
and they participated in the following training:

EEz2HIIRXE

EREZ(ERINTEERBILIFATE
B BEEREEREZTZARNRMEUR
AEBZER At XAEBREBE2HERE
MEFEZERBEARFRHEZARER
N YERHEEN G RDHNE - ARERH
EEATESFTS2AE REEREFZE
REEMBE UARAEBZEBREALRR
B ZEFdeREEREZTZESRER
MBI AREE S GIE -

ARBHIREBRESTIRBETRERTH
BENBILRHEEBALE - RBEE_F—
“ERNAZTHALFEARBEARARS A Y
b 2REFERSEZENBHEIDERB A
SEFBEEXEBRR AMBRITHENE
R#ge BHAREGEBEABHZTEAARIE
WHEFEHFELER RELEZFIDT

Type of Training (Notes)

Name of Directors BEENSF FINER (M)
Executive Directors HITES
Ms. WONG Man Winny (Joint Chairperson) BEQ T (HEEE) A B
Mr. WU Yun Jing (Joint Chairperson) RAghREBEEE)
(appointed on 24 June 2022) (R-—ZFE-—F A -+MHEZ) AB
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. LIU Ka Lim BEREE A B
Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica M L+ A B
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHITES
Mr. LEUNG Man Fai RS A B
Mr. CHAN Yik Hei bR 5 % 5 4 A B
Mr. WONG Yuk Man Edmand HEXSEAE A B
Notes: B 5
A Attending seminars, briefing sessions, conference and/or forums. A HEMEE AN e 2@k UmE-
B: Reading newspapers, journals and updates relating to the economy and/or general B: BHEEMRKER H—REEZEHFAZHRE 5

business etc.

Each Director will, upon his/her first appointment and thereafter on a yearly
basis, disclose to the Group the number and nature of offices held by such
Director in public companies and organizations and other significant
commitments.
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HUMAN RESOURCES AND
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The human resources and remuneration committee was established with
specific written terms of reference which was revised and adopted on 19
March 2012. As at 30 June 2022, the human resources and remuneration
committee consists of three independent non-executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Leung Man Fai (Chairperson), Mr. Chan Yik Hei and Mr. Wong Yuk Man
Edmand.

The human resources and remuneration committee is responsible for, among
other things, making recommendations to the Board regarding the overall
remuneration policy, remuneration of Directors and senior management of the
Group, share option scheme, bonus structure, provident fund and other
compensation-related issues. This committee consults with the Chairperson
and/or other Board members on its proposals and recommendations and has
access to professional advice, if necessary. The human resources and
remuneration committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge
and perform its duties.

The specific terms of reference of the human resources and remuneration
committee is posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

During the year under review, the human resources and remuneration
committee held two meeting to review and make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of all Directors and senior management.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee was established with specific written terms of
reference which was revised and adopted on 23 September 2014. As at 30
June 2022, the nomination committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Leung Man Fai (Chairperson), Mr. Chan Yik
Hei and Mr. Wong Yuk Man Edmand.

The main duties of the nomination committee include reviewing the structure,
size and composition of the Board annually, making recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy, identifying individuals suitably qualified to become members of the
Board, selecting individuals nominated for directorships, assessing the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re- appointment of
Directors and succession planning for Directors, in particular the Chairperson
and other executive Director. The nomination committee is provided with
sufficient resources to discharge and perform its duties.

The specific terms of reference of the nomination committee is posted on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The nomination
committee shall meet at least once a year.

During the year under review, the nomination committee held two meeting to
review the composition and diversity of the Board, assessed the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors and considered
the appointments of Directors.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee with specific written terms of
reference which was revised and adopted on 1 January 2016. The main
duties of the audit committee include, among other things, the following:

(@ to review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the Company’s staff responsible
for the accounting and financial reporting function or external auditor
before submission to the Board.

(b)  to review the relationship with the external auditor by reference to the
work performed by the auditor, their fees and terms of engagement,
and make recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of external auditor.

(c) to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s financial
reporting system, internal control system and risk management system
and associated procedures.

The audit committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge and
perform its duties.

Other duties of the audit committee are set out in its specific terms of
reference which is posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company. The audit committee shall meet at least twice a year.

As at 30 June 2022, the audit committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Leung Man Fai (Chairperson), Mr. Chan Yik
Hei and Mr. Wong Yuk Man Edmand. No member of the audit committee is a
former partner of the existing audit firm of the Company within two years from
the date of his ceasing to be a partner or had any financial interest in the
auditing firm. The audit committee has reviewed the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group and discussed internal controls and
financial reporting matters with the management team of the Company.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

During the year under review, the audit committee held two meetings to
review, among other things, the Company’s interim report for the six months
ended 31 December 2021 and annual report for the year ended 30 June
2021. The audit committee has also reviewed the financial reporting and
compliance procedures, report on the Company’s internal control and risk
management review and processes as well as the re-appointment of the
external auditor. There is no material uncertainty relating to events and
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. There is no disagreement between the Board
and the audit committee regarding the selection, appointment, resignation or
dismissal of external auditor.

The accounts for the year were audited by CHENG & CHENG LIMITED,
whose term of office will expire upon the forthcoming annual general meeting.
The audit committee has recommended to the Board that CHENG & CHENG
LIMITED, be nominated for re-appointment as the auditor of the Company at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The company secretary keeps full minutes of all audit committee meetings. In
line with practices consistent with Board meetings and other committee
meetings, draft and final version of audit committee meeting minutes are
circulated to all members of the audit committee for comments, approval,
and record as soon as practicable after each meeting.

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

The investment committee was established with specific written terms of
reference which was adopted on 15 August 2017. As at 30 June 2022, the
investment committee consists of one non-executive Director, namely, Mr. Liu
Ka Lim (Chairperson), one independent non-executive Director, namely, Mr.
Leung Man Fai and two executive staffs of the Company. The investment
committee is responsible for, among other things, to review investment
performance and to advise the Company on their investment of cash, cash
equivalents, financial assets, margin deposits, cash collateral taking account
of the necessary constraints on the deployment of the various sources and
purposes of the funds to enhance the Company’s investment returns.

The specific terms of reference of the investment committee is posted on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The investment

committee meets at least twice a year.

During the year under review, the investment committee held two meetings to
consider and review the possible securities investments of the Group.
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DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Company has adopted the director nomination policy (“Nomination
Policy”) on 28 December 2018 which sets out the criteria and process in the
nomination and appointment of directors of the Company. This Nomination
Policy ensures that the Board has a balance of skills, experience, and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the Company; and ensures Board continuity
and appropriate leadership at Board level.

The Nomination Policy contains a number of factors in assessing the
suitability of a proposed candidate, which include his or her ability to devote
sufficient effort to the affairs of the Company and contribute to the diversity of
the Board as well as the effective carrying out by the Board of the
responsibilities.

If the candidate is proposed to be appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, his or her independence shall be assessed in accordance
with, among other things, the factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules, subject to any amendments as may be made by the Stock Exchange
from time to time. Where applicable, the totality of the candidate’s education,
qualifications and experience shall also be evaluated to consider whether he
or she has the appropriate professional qualifications or related management
expertise for filing the office of an independent non-executive Director with
such qualifications or expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules.

This Policy also lays down the nomination procedures on the appointment or
re- appointment of directors. The Nomination Committee will conduct the
relevant selection process (coupled with the relevant selection criteria) against
the nominated candidate for new directorship or director offering for re-
election and make recommendations to the Board for consideration. Where
appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board should make
recommendation to shareholders in respect of the proposed election and re-
election of director at the general meeting.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy setting out the approach to
achieve diversity within the Board. The Company considered that diversity of
board members can be achieved through consideration of a number of
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills and knowledge. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard to the benefits of
diversity on the Board.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (continued) EEEgMESZ LB E@
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 30 June 2022, the fee for the Company’s external auditor
for audit services was approximately HK$1,150,000 (2021: approximately
HK$1,628,000) and that for non-audit services mainly relating to taxation,
internal control review, risk management advisory and ESG report matters
was approximately HK$499,000 (2021: approximately HK$26,500, mainly tax
related matters).

COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of the Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions. Specific enquiries have been made with all Directors, who have
confirmed that, during the year ended 30 June 2022, each of them has
complied with the required standards as set out in the Model Code.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF
DIRECTORS AND AUDITOR

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements,
which give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group. The
auditor is responsible to form an independent opinion on the audited financial
statements and report the same to the shareholders of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

No corporate governance committee has been established and the Board is
responsible for performing the corporate governance functions including but
not limited to developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance, reviewing and monitoring training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management, reviewing
and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements, and reviewing the Company’s compliance
with the code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for making decisions in relation to the overall
strategic development of the Group’s business. All Directors have formal
letters of appointment setting out the key terms and conditions of their
appointment. Due to the diversity and volume of the Group’s business,
responsibility in relation to the daily operations and execution of the strategic
business plans are delegated to the management of the Group.

All committees, namely the audit committee, the human resources and
remuneration committee, the nomination committee, and the investment
committee, have specific terms of reference setting out the authorities and
responsibilities of the respective committees. All committees are required by
their terms of reference to report to the Board in relation to their decisions,
findings or recommendations, and in certain specific situations, to seek the
Board’s approval before taking any actions.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board will review, on a yearly basis, all delegations by the Board to
different committees to ensure that such delegations are appropriate and
continue to be beneficial to the Company as a whole.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY
INSURANCE

Insurance cover has been taken out for Directors’ and Officers’ Liability to
provide adequate cover, as determined by the Board, in respect of the
current Board members and senior management of the Company.

SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS

The Company is committed to maintaining a high level of transparency and
employs a policy of open and timely disclosure of relevant information to its
shareholders. The commitment to fair disclosure and comprehensive and
transparent reporting of the Company’s activities can be reflected in various
aspects.

To maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders, the annual and special

general meetings provide an opportunity for shareholders to exchange views
with the Board.
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SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS (continued)

Ms. Wong Man Winny, the Chairperson and executive Director and Mr. Liu Ka
Lim, the non-executive Director attended the annual general meeting in 2021
(the “2021 Annual General Meeting”) to ensure that shareholders’ views
were communicated to the Board. A separate resolution was proposed by
the Chairperson in respect of each separate issue at the 2021 Annual General
Meeting.

The proceedings of the annual general meeting are reviewed from time to
time to ensure that the Company conforms to the best corporate governance
practices. The circular in relation to the arrangement of annual general
meeting will be circulated to all shareholders at least twenty-one (21) clear
days prior to the holding of the annual general meeting, in which it sets out
the details of each resolution proposed and other relevant information. At the
2020 Annual General Meeting, all resolutions were put to vote by poll. Tricor
Secretaries Limited, the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and
transfer agent, was engaged as scrutineer to ensure votes were properly
counted. The rights of shareholders and the procedures for demanding a poll
on resolutions at general meeting are contained in the Bye-laws. An
explanation of the detailed procedures for conducting a poll is provided to the
shareholders at the commencement of the meeting. The Chairperson and
other directors would respond to queries raised by the shareholders regarding
the voting procedures. The poll results are published in accordance with the
relevant provisions of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, shareholder(s) holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth (1/10) of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
company secretary of the Company, to require a special general meeting to
be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition and such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the
deposit of such requisition.

If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionists themselves may do so in
accordance with the relevant provisions in the Companies Act of Bermuda.
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SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS (continued)

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company, a shareholder
should lodge a written notice of his/her/its proposal (the “Proposal”) with his/
her/its detailed contact information at Units 4214-15, 42nd Floor, Hong Kong
Plaza, 188 Connaught Road West, Hong Kong. The identity of the
shareholder will be verified with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share
registrar and transfer office. Upon confirmation by the branch share registrar
and transfer office that the request is made by a shareholder and that if the
request is proper, the Board will include the Proposal in the agenda for the
general meeting. The notice period to be given to all the shareholders for
consideration of the Proposal raised by the shareholder concerned at the
general meeting varies according to the nature of the Proposal as follows:

(1) Notice of not less than twenty-one (21) clear days and not less than
twenty (20) clear business days in writing if the Proposal requires
approval in an annual general meeting;

(2)  Notice of not less than twenty-one (21) clear days and not less than ten
(10) clear business days in writing if the Proposal requires approval by
way of a special resolution in a special general meeting;

(8)  Notice of not less than fourteen (14) clear days and not less than ten (10)
clear business days in writing if the Proposal requires approval in a
special general meeting other than by way of a special resolution of the
Company.

The Company also communicates to its shareholders through its annual and
interim reports. The Directors, company secretary or other appropriate
members of senior management also respond promptly to inquiries from
shareholders and investors.

Shareholders may at any time serve their enquiries to the Board in writing for

the attention of company secretary at Units 4214-15, 42nd Floor, Hong Kong
Plaza, 188 Connaught Road West, Hong Kong.
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PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS

Under Bermuda law, in addition to the right to requisition a special general
meeting, any number of shareholders representing not less than one-
twentieth (1/20) of the total voting rights of all the shareholders having at the
date of the requisition a right to vote at the general meeting to which the
requisition relates; or not less than one hundred (100) shareholders, shall (unless
otherwise resolved by the Company) at their own expense have the right by
written requisition:

(@  to require notice of any resolution which may properly be moved and is
intended to be moved at the next annual general meeting to be given to
shareholders entitled to receive notice of that meeting; and/or

(b)  to request for circulation to shareholders entitled to have notice of any
general meeting any statement of not more than one thousand (1000)
words with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed resolution
or the business to be dealt with at that meeting.

A requisition referred to above must be signed by the requisitionists in a single
document or in separate copies prepared for the purpose which between
them contain signatures of all requisitionists. A copy of the signed requisition,
accompanied by a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s
expenses, must be deposited at the Company’s registered office in Bermuda:

(@  inthe case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution, not less than
six (6) weeks before the annual general meeting unless an annual
general meeting is called for a date six (6) weeks or less after the copy
has been deposited, in which case the copy shall be deemed to have
been properly deposited though not deposited within the time required;
and

(b) in the case of any other requisition, not less than one (1) week before
the general meeting.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to a policy of open and timely disclosure of
corporate information to shareholders and investors. The Company updates
shareholders on its latest business developments and financial performance
through its annual and interim reports and notices, announcements, and
circulars. The Company’s website (www.champion.hk) provides a
communication platform to the public and the shareholders.

On 30 May 2022, the resolution was duly passed for the adoption of the New
Bye-laws to (i) adopt a uniform set of 14 “Core Standards” for shareholder
protections for issuers; and (i) to modernize and provide flexibility to the
Company in relation to the conduct of general meetings. As such, the Bye-
laws was amended to, among others, (i) allow a general meeting to be held
as an electronic meeting (also referred to as a virtual general meeting) or a
hybrid meeting; (i) bring the Bye-laws in line with amendments made to
Listing Rules and applicable laws and procedures of Bermuda; and (i) make
certain minor housekeeping amendments to the Bye-laws for the purpose of
clarifying existing practice and making consequential amendments in line with
the amendments to the Bye-laws (collectively, the “Amendments”). Details of
the Amendments was set out in the announcement and circular dated 29
April 2022 and 6 May 2022, respectively, save as disclosed, during the year
under review, there had been no significant change made to the Company’s
constitutional documents.

The Bye-laws is available on both the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management
functions and internal control systems of the Group and ensuring review of
the effectiveness of these systems has been conducted annually.
Management is responsible for the design, implementation and monitoring
such systems, while the Board oversees management in performing its duties
on an ongoing basis.

During the year, the Board has complied with the risk management and
internal control code provisions of the CG Code by establishing and
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems and reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control system. Such review covered all material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls. Main features of the risk
management and internal control systems are described in the sections
below:
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (Continued)

[B B B B R A PB4

EkEEER

We adopt an integrated bottom-up and top-down risk review process to  H IR MAB T ELEE FM TN 2E&8RERE
enable comprehensive identification and prioritization of all material risks ZI2F -  UWE2E B LBEELELRZEE
throughout the Group, escalation of material risks at the right managerial KX&EBFB RN EEARKL  EEaXKER FHE
level, effective risk dialogue among the management, and proper oversight of @& > EIEE@H  E T B E 2 B E B & 1T
risk mitigation efforts. BRBER WEZEEERERARZERE-

Risk Management Framework

The Board £ &
* Has overall responsibility for the Group’s risk management systems and
internal control systems;
EBARAKEZEREIRGE RABEZESEZ
* Sets strategic objectives;
il E R BE B AR
* Reviews the effectiveness of our risk management systems and internal control

“Top-down”
Overseeing,
identification,
assessment and
mitigation of risk at
corporate level

et £ 7 T ) yetemsi —_— .
WO EE %%JﬂﬁﬂEEE%IJFE&WE.‘B%&%@ZW&&: o
R * Monitors the nature and extent of risk exposure to our major risks; and
S e e e ERIZARIUEBERAEAZIRARER &
GEER 2R * Provides direction on the importance of risk management culture.
HEBREEX (2 EEERE TS
Management & ¥ [E
* Designs, implements, and monitors risk management and internal control
systems; and
HlE BkEREARERRADELEHE &
“Bottom-up” * Assesses our risk and mitigating m_easures Company-wide.
\dentification, B4 2N A B & 75 H 2 [ B KR S A i e
assessment and

mitigation of risk at Audit Committee EZZE &

business unit level

Supports the Board in monitoring risk exposure, design and effectiveness of

and across the underlying risk management and internal control systems.

functional areas XEREFEEFARARBNARABRERE R R A RREEEHE ZHl
= T TE B o
MNEBEM

Bk g A

Eﬁiﬁj} i H% o Operational Level & & & |

Cl s A S R o T .
e oA Risk identification, assessment and mitigation performed across the business;
I R 68 L B

and

PR BRI - AT Ah IR R Rk

Risk management process and internal controls practiced across business
operations and functional areas.
HEBLERBEEBEEERREEREF MAMEE -

BERNZEBERLT —B-FFHK 77
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (Continued)

Risk Management Framework (Continued)

The risk management framework adopted by the Group is embedded in our
strategy development, business planning and day-to-day operations. The
Group adopts a control and risk self-assessment methodology and
continuously assess and manages its risk profile on a regular basis. Risks that
are relevant to the Group’s business are identified, assessed and ranked
according to their likelihood and consequence on the Group. Risk owners are
required to submit risk alerts with risk response promptly to the Board and
Audit Committee for ongoing review and monitoring. Action plans were
formulated and implemented during the year to address the areas of concern
effectively.

Internal Control System and Continuous
Improvement

The Company has in place an internal control system which is based on the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”)
framework for internal controls and has five components, namely Control
Environment;
Communication; and Monitoring. In developing our internal control system,
we have taken into consideration our organizational structure and the nature
of our business activities.

Risk Assessment; Control Activities; Information and

We have put in place a phased improvement plan and progressed to future
enhance our internal controls and risk management system. The phase of the
plan focused on adopting a more risk-based (instead of process-based)
approach to risk identification and assessment. This approach enriches our
ability to analyze risks and respond to opportunities as we pursue our
strategic objectives. Management reporting to the Audit Committee has also
been enhanced, including the presentation of special reports on selected risk
topics.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (Continued)

Internal Control System and Continuous
Improvement (Continued)

Due to the changing business environment and development, including in
annual budgeting and planning, we are still integrating internal controls and
risk management into our business processes. Instead of treating the COSO
framework as a framework-update exercise, a holistic approach has been
adopted by us, taking into consideration the Company’s circumstances,
including its ongoing internal controls and risk management improvement
plan as well as other strategic initiatives (e.g. corporate social responsibility
strategy and reporting). All of these enhance our ultimate objective to make
our risk management system a “live” one that is practiced on a day- to-day
basis by operating units.

The Group also adopts and implements an inside information policy and
procedures to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness, and
timeliness of its public disclosures. The following measures have been taken
from time to time to ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach
of a disclosure requirement in relation to the Group, which include:

. The access of information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in possession
of inside information are fully conversant with their obligations to
preserve confidentiality.

° Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters into
significant negotiations.

o The Executive Director is the designated person who speaks on behalf
of the Company when communicating with external parties such as the
media, analysts, or investors.

Internal Audit

The Group has engaged an external professional consultant to take the
primary role to perform the Internal Audit (“IA”) function, and professional staff
with relevant expertise of the Group are designated to assist in the IA
function. The IA function is independent of the Group’s daily operation and
carries out appraisal of the risk management and internal control systems by
conducting interviews, walkthroughs, and tests of operating effectiveness.

An IA plan has been approved by the Board. According to the established
plan, review of the risk management and internal control systems is
conducted annually and the results are reported to the Board via the Audit
Committee afterwards.

[B B B B R A PB4
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, businesses and
prospects may be affected by a few risks and uncertainties. The following are
the key risks and uncertainties identified by the Group. There may be other
risks and uncertainties in addition to those shown below which are not known
to the Group or which may not be material now but could turn out to be
material in the future.

Business Risk

Trading Business

The risk exposure in oil trading is comparative limited as the Group adopted a
very conservative approach in selecting customers and stringent credit policy
in trading gas oil.

Technology Business — Renewable Energy

As a long-term investor-operator in the renewable energy sector, the Group is
subject to Hong Kong government supportive policies, climate, economy and
other execution risks. Although the Covid-19 pandemic has not subsided, the
Group is confident that it would accomplish the delayed projects in an orderly
manner.

Technology Business — System Products

Loss of market share and uncertainties are risks we must face with great
changes taking place for each passing day in the internet and technology
world. The Group needs to continue exploring opportunities in technology
innovation to broaden its market share and keep investing in products
research and development.

Property Market in Mainland China

The Group has interest in property investment in Mainland China and is
therefore subject to the risks associated with Mainland China’s property
market. The Group’s operations in Mainland China may also be exposed to
the risks of policy changes, currency fluctuation, interest rate changes,
demand- supply imbalance, changes in the overall economic conditions,
competition in the labour market, and availability of financing, which may pose
an adverse impact on the Group’s business, financial condition or results of
operations. However, by virtue of the sub-contracting agreements, the
Company can on one hand benefit from the steady, guaranteed income,
while it may, on the other hand, take the initiative to terminate the agreements
with the hotel operator as and when we consider appropriate.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

(Continued)

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group operates its businesses mainly in Hong Kong and transactions are
denominated in HKD and USD. The value of USD against HKD and other
currencies may fluctuate and is affected by, among others, changes in the
economic conditions and policies. However, fluctuations in the exchange
rates of USD would have limited impact on the Group’s operations because
of pegged exchange rate system.

Legal Risk

Legal risk is the risk that unenforceable contracts, lawsuits or adverse
judgments may disrupt or otherwise negatively affect the operations or
financial conditions of the Group. The Group has complied with the relevant

laws and regulations during the year.

Review of Risk Management & Internal Controls
Effectiveness

For the year ended 30 June 2022, the Board, through its review and the
reviews made by IA function and Audit Committee, considered that the risk
management and internal control system were effective and adequate. No
operational,
compliance controls, and risk management functions of the Group has been
identified. During the review, the Board also considered the resources,
qualification, and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting functions, and their training and budget were
adequate. Such systems, however, are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss.

significant areas of concern that may affect the financial,

CONCLUSION

The Company believes that good corporate governance is significant in
The
management will devote considerable effort to strengthening and improving
the standards of the corporate governance of the Group. Any views and
suggestions from the shareholders to promote and improve our transparency

strengthening investor confidence and attracting investment.

are also welcome.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

CHENG & CHENG LIMITED

Certified Public Accountants

SRR3R F R TR R F

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHAMPION TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Continued in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Champion
Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 89 to 230, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 30 June 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2022, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“‘HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

FRARELEE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were HAREREEIEERMOZELHE R A
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of ¥ AKHIGZ S HE R AN EBERZTAEENE
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit 1§ - FEHEH L2 AR M B R B EL S KR
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our EXERHEEZREHE FUERE - KT eHiE
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. LI BAMEHE R o

Key audit matter
BRELSBHE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BMETERSNTEEBRELSEH

Impairment assessment of finance lease receivable

FE e b 4 AE B FRO0R B9 RL(E FT b

We identified the impairment of finance lease receivable as a key audit
matter due to the significance of the balance to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole and the estimation of impairment
losses entails a significant degree of subjective estimation and
assessment.
HRERREEERNERUGEVBRRERNEERE
NEREBEGHESRERAEEN TG RIS WHRMR
REVBELREFRHERESHEBREZEE -

As disclosed in the note 22 to the consolidated financial statements,
the finance lease receivable net of impairment amounted to
HK$38,068,000 as at 30 June 2022. Impairment losses of
HK$838,000 has been recognised for the year ended 30 June 2022.

MEREVBEHREMF22MABEE RS __FA=1TH" 1
R R 1B 5 1 12 70 JE U B & 1H & 58 /338,068,000 T Bl E —
ZE__FXRA=+THILFE 2R EEE /8380004 T °

Management assessment on the recoverability of the finance lease
receivable and sufficiency of provision for impairment based on
information including credit profile of the hotel operator, historical
settlement records, subsequent settlement status, expected timing
and amount of realisation of outstanding balances. Management also
considered forward looking information that may impact the hotel
operator’s ability to repay the outstanding balances in order to
estimate the expected credit losses for the impairment assessment.

ERERBASEEMNERMRN BEAERE BERZENK
K T8 B3R & [0 Yo 55 5 R PR W B AR B R A BT U B 1 KR (A
BEONZTEMHETHG EEENSEEARTEEELENE
BARERBENWATEEER MY EREEBEEL A -

We focus on this area due to the management’s estimation of
impairment on finance lease receivable based on the expected credit
losses model involved the use of significant management judgements
and estimates.

BB ISR AN EREEREHERREEEFIRRE
HEEBEEEAMENREFGEEY EREERE M H
(EE

Our procedures in relation to the assessment of
recoverability of finance lease receivable include:
BB EKFREREFIAEN A WEMENIEF
BIE

° Obtaining an understanding of how the expected
credit losses on finance lease receivable is
estimated by the management;

T RRE IR RE a0 e 14 5 A B HH & FRIE ) R HP

EEEBA:

° Challenging the information used by the
management to determine the expected credit
losses by considering cash collection performance
against historical trends and the level of credit loss
charges over time;
HEEBERARNECRREEERENEMIELE
R-BPEERASURBAEAELBEOY
AR —BERANEERBEKTE

° Reviewing the accuracy of managements
judgement by comparing against historical
managements actual write-offs; and
LLEBEERAOMERE  UiRRERE D

EREM R
° Discussing with the management on their

assessment based on the business relationship
with hotel operator in relation to finance lease
receivable with/without settlement.
HERBEANRBREBEEELSERNEBBEMR
FEWmMERERE S ERET 2R -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

RREERSEHE

B 9 & &% B 1H )

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BEMNETEKSNNEEREERSEE

Valuation of investment properties

REWMEMLE

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a key audit
matter due to the significance of the balance to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole and the significant judgement and
estimation required by management in determining their fair values.
ERREDENLEHGAMBHREABEMEBEER REX
HAnBEFBELHERAG MG BMARASREDERER
R ETEE -

Investment properties of the Group mainly represent commercial
properties. As at 30 June 2022, the fair value of investment properties
amounted to HK$47,275,000, with the fair value loss of
HK$1,566,000 recognised in the profit or loss for the year then
ended.
EENREMEXEREIRAME R A=+8H"
BEMENAREMERL7,2750008 T HEZBLEFEDR
BaER A EEEER1,566,0008 T °

As disclosed in notes 4, 19 and 43 to the consolidated financial
statements, in estimating the fair value of investment properties, the
Group engaged independent qualified external valuers to perform the
valuation and worked with the valuers to establish inputs to the
valuation.
WMFEEMBMEM TS 19RIBAKE  REFAREVEZAR
AREBER SEZERBIAERIIMNELEMETEHELEGE
BV BB N EMMEEE -

In determining the fair value of investment properties, the management
and valuer had taken into account key inputs including price per
square feet/square metre, reversionary rate and monthly rent with
certain unobservable inputs that require significant management
judgement.

EREREVENRAABEN EEBNEEMZRT HEH
ASE BESTHIRERFHROER BFEKZEMANR
DOEPAPR - LEREBRINGAEENFTEETREFEL
BBRHERE -
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Our procedures in relation to the valuation of investment
properties included:

BB R REMEGENEF B

o Evaluating the competence, capabilities, objectivity
and independence of the valuers;
HEEMNER ) BEERBIEEL
SR

o Discussing with the management and the external
valuer their valuation methodology and the key
estimates and assumptions adopted in their
valuations;

B2 3% [ R0 SN AR A 1B A &1 5 A 1T B0 1k (B 75 0K A
Kb EH KA FRE

° Obtaining an understanding of the valuation
techniques and significant assumptions adopted
by the management and the valuers;
THEEBRRGEEMRAHNBERTRERXR

B

° Evaluating the appropriateness of the valuation
models and the judgements made by the
management and the valuers;

AP EE I B 1 B H R (E R P B H T =

yEE kL
B E

o Obtaining and reviewing the valuation report
prepared by the valuers; and

ERVESHEEMRENGERS &

o Checking the reasonableness of significant
unobservable inputs used by the valuers in the
valuations, in particular, the adjusted unit sale
rates, on a sample basis, against market data such
as recent selling prices.
HEMSHEE(WMTHEE) MERREHEMR
HERMEANEATTBERNE ABLE

EEARBNEEBEIREAIE -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report but
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the
directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors of the Company.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

CHENG & CHENG LIMITED
Certified Public Accountants

Lam Chun Sing
Practising Certificate Number: PO6998

Hong Kong, 29 September 2022
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mEEmRAEMEEEKER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HE-Z - —4FXA=1H814%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

2022 2021
—EZCZHF —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
s FET FHEIT
(Restated)
(&5
Revenue U 25 6 60,969 98,404
Cost of sales BHE KA (57,734) (91,676)
Gross profit EF 3,235 6,728
Other income, gains and losses HEmlA - W= REE 7 2,253 12,179
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries LEWB AR &S 11 = (726)
General and administrative expenses — B RITH W (26,767) (30,507)
Reversal of impairment losses recognised for MEEERRE
inventories B 1R R [ = 42
Impairment losses on finance lease receivable JE U Bt & HH BRI E S 1 (838) -
Impairment losses on property, M- BEREERBEEE
plant and equipment (2,052) (7,382)
Impairment losses on right-of-use assets EAEEEZRERBE (1,703) -
Reversal of impairment losses/(impairment losses) 5t FE UL E 5 [ H 4th B8R sk g 22
recognised for trade and other receivables MEBERER/ CREEBRE) 842 (1,122)
Inventories written off WiEFE (204) -
Fair value loss on financial assets at fair value BRAREETABZZEH
through profit or loss BEANEEBEEBE (13,863) (14,576)
Fair value (loss)/gain on investment properties REWEZNAEBEGER),
& 19 (1,566) 2,270
Finance costs B 7% Bk A< 8 (11,947) (32,354)
Loss before taxation FREE AT 18 9 (52,610) (65,448)
Income tax expense GIECE g 13 (428) (2,524)
Loss for the year from continuing operations BEREXEBRZAEERFR (53,038) (67,972)
Discontinued operations CRIEEEETE
Profit for the year from discontinued operations ERIEEEEB 2 AFE T 12 2,878 11,030
Loss for the year AEEEIE (50,160) (56,942)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income: Hih 2w () WA :
ltem that will not be reclassified to profit BreEMH»BEEZZ
or loss: BEE :
Remeasurement of defined benefits pension BERTELNN G 2 RIKEF
plans 35(b) - 37,012
ltems that may be reclassified subsequently HignsHmoBEeExsy
to profit or loss: BHA :
Exchange difference arising on translation INEBREREE &
of foreign operations HER (1,662) 21,293
Reclassification adjustment on translation & M B A Al B P AR [E 5,
reserve released on disposal of subsidiaries REZETHERAE (8,090) =
Other comprehensive (expense)/income AEEHEMEE(ZH) WA
for the year (9,752) 58,305
Total comprehensive (expense)/income AEER2E(XH) WABE
for the year (59,912) 1,363
BEMNKEEERAT —T-—4% 89



mEEmRkEMEER KSR
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HE-Z-—4F/XA=1814%E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

2022 2021
—E-CF T —F
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FER FET
(Restated)
(&%)
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to AATEEAEM
the owners of the Company: KEE(BR)BF
— from continuing operations —REBBEEER (52,410) (68,522)
— from discontinued operations —REDRIEEEETR 1,541 8,700
(50,869) (69,822)
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to IR RS R4
non-controlling interests: REE (BR) R
— from continuing operations —RERHEREED (628) 550
— from discontinued operations —REBRIEEEETR 1,337 2,330
709 2,880
Total comprehensive (expense)/income forthe E{EEAEER2E (X H) KA
year attributable to: Az
Owners of the Company RAREAA (60,075) (24,272)
Non-controlling interests FEIERR AR R A = 163 25,635
(59,912) 1,363
Total comprehensive (expense)/income forthe ZKAREEABLAEESH
year attributable to owners of the Company: (X)W A#E
— from continuing operations —RERBBELKEXER (53,835) (61,992)
— from discontinued operations —REERIEEEXER (6,240) 37,720
(60,075) (24,272)
(Loss)/earnings per share SR (EE) 2R
Basic and diluted — from continuing and ERAREBE-RERFELE 15 HK(2.75) cents HK(7.56) cents
discontinued operations REKRIEEEER A4l il
Basic and diluted — from continuing operations BEARKHEE-REFELE HK(2.83) cents HK(8.66) cents
S A il
Basic and diluted — from discontinued operations — E 7N 7 &8 88 — K B 2 42 UE HKO0.08 cents HK1.10 cents
BT AL bl
The notes on pages 96 to 230 form part of these consolidated financial 596 = 230 B Fr & » M it At 454 B IS &

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

—ZE - —#FXA=-+H 30JUNE 2022

2022 2021
—E=-= —E -4
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mo =E THxT T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE MEE 16 203 36,577
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 17 168 5,825
Investment properties TEE 19 47,275 50,022
Interest in an associate R l/NE o 20 2 2
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BARBEFABRZZ
TREE 21 - =
Finance lease receivable el L & A E KA 22 33,897 38,422
81,545 130,848
Current assets RBEE
Inventories TE 23 12,882 38,564
Finance lease receivable FE W B & & KA 22 4,17 4,553
Trade and other receivables EUE 5 & E M BR 24 33,969 54,164
Loan receivables JE U B X 25 = 9,018
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss ERAREBEFABRZZ
SREE 21 21,985 41,893
Tax recoverable FE U R 3R = 285
Cash and cash equivalents HeNIREER 26 24,493 135,567
97,500 284,044
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables ETE 5 REMEER 28 9,779 61,819
Contract liabilities AHBEE 29 2,430 25,172
Lease liabilities HEBRE 30 960 4,093
Warranty provision RBEAE 31 - 1,062
Customers deposits EFPE® 3,483 3,483
Amount due to a director JEN —REEKIE 32 150 2,180
Tax payables JE 1~ 3K 2,759 2,095
19,561 99,904
Net current assets REBEEFE 77,939 184,140
Total assets less current liabilities EEHERRBAERE 159,484 314,988
FENREEESRAT 248 91



e BRI R
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

—T==FXxA=+H 30JUNE 2022

2022 2021
—E=-= T —%F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B & FET T T
Non-current liabilities kREBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 30 840 1,953
Interest bearing other borrowing FREMEER
— amount due after one year —R—F & H 33 - 185,000
Promissory note payable JE N AECH ZE R 34 — 38,306
Retirement benefit obligations RIRAE A EHE 35(b) = 16,018
Deferred tax liabilities RLEFIA A E 36 9,025 9,616
9,865 250,893
Net assets EEFE 149,619 64,095
Capital and reserves BARFEE
Share capital & 7 37(b) 27,353 68,383
Reserves & 37(c) 103,502 (75,350)
Equity/(deficit) attributable to owners of the Company 7~ 22 BB A JE G # 2%
(B4 130,855 (6,967)
Non-controlling interests JEIE R AR R = 18,764 71,062
Total equity M 149,619 64,095

The consolidated financial statements on pages 89 to 230 were approved £ 89FE230E Fi#i v G M B BRERCHE S
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29 September 2022 and @R T - _—_F LA -+ h B REFE#Z T

are signed on its behalf by: B OUWBHTNIEERKREE:
WONG MAN WINNY LIU KA LIM
=Y BER
Joint Chairperson Director
WIS E EFE

The notes on pages 96 to 230 form part of these consolidated financial 596 £ 230 B & « M i+ At 474 B iE R &K
statements. ZHEBE D ©
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mERAERBER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HE-_ZT - XA =+HILEE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

Attributable to owners of the Company

KAARE AR
Capital Property Non-
Share Share  redemption ~ General Capital Merger  valuation  Translation ~ Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
E4EE ES FERBR RAEE
REx  RGEE B -REE EXBE SHRE wE  EiRE 2ithR At i Ed]
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HKS000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'000 HKS'000  HK$'000
ThL TEL TEL ThL THL T TAL T TEnr  FEn T  FEn
(note (note (note (note (note (note (note
B B e BEn) e BEM)  35(ci)
(i (i (P& (P& (P& (Bt (F &
35(0)) B B BEM  BEW BN 3B
At 1 July 2020 68,383 2,221,869 50* 1,366,003  846,860" 8,358 8,09 2,265 (4504579 17,305 45419 62724
Loss for the year FRE# - = - - - - - - (69,822)  (59,822) 2880 (56942
Remeasurement of defined EERTLHZRIKER
benefits pension plans - - - - - - - - 21,852 21,852 15,160 37,012
Exchange difference arisngon ~ RES EHREFEEZ
tranglation of foreign EXZES
operations - - - - - - - 13,698 - 13,698 7,59 21,298
Total comprehensive income/ ~ EE2EWA/ (%) B8
(expense) for the year - - - - - - - 13,698 879700 (24,272 25,635 1,363
Disposal of an investment LE-BRENE
property - - - - - - (8,096) - 8,09% - - -
Capital contripution from RERBAREER
non-controling shareholders ~ RE )T E
of subsidiaries - - . - - - - 2 - . 8 8
- - - - - - (8,096) - 8,09% - 8 8

At 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021

Loss for the year FEER - - - - - - - - (50,869)  (50,869) 700 (50,160)
Exchange difference arisingon ~ RES EHREFEL 2

translation of foreign EXESE

operations - - - - - - - (1,116) - (1,116) (646) (1,662)
Reclassification adjustmenton ~ HEMB A FIE BB ES

franslation reserve released BB ENHESRE

on disposal of subsidiaries - - - - - - - (8,090) - (8,090) - (8,090)
Total comprehensiveincome/ ~ EE2EMA/(HR)£E

(expense) for the year - - - A = = - (9,206) (00,869 (60,075) 163 (59,912)
Issue of new shares upon rights ~ FMt 14 % 73 R 17

issue 205,149 (7,252) - - - - - - - 197,897 - 197,897
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBAR - - - - = = = = = = (45660)  (45,650)
Reduction of capital B A HI R (246,179) - - - 46179 - - - - - - -
Dividend paid to non-controling 1 F 3R R E

interests HkE - — = = = - = - - - (6.811) (6.811)

W% (.25 - ~ g1 - - - ~ 107897 [F2.461) 145436

At 30 June 2022 R-B--£xA=+H 21,353 2214617 50" 1,366,008 1,093,039 8,358 - 6,757 (4,585,322 130,855 18,764 149,619

*

statement of financial position.

The notes on pages 96 to 230 form part of these consolidated financial

statements.

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated surplus of approximately *
HK$103,502,000 (2021: deficit of approximately HK$75,350,000) in the consolidated
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GERTRB K

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HE-_T-_-F/XA=1HFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—4F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B & FET T T
(Restated)
(E5))
Cash flows from operating activities REEBZEHER
Loss before taxation from continuing operations RABEREERZ
R 25 Al &5 18 (52,610) (65,449)
Profit before taxation from discontinued operations 2R B8 B & [F & & ¥ 7& 2
B4 F% BiT 55 A 3,070 12,696
Adjustments for: R
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M- BMEREEBEZITE 3,367 8,961
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZINE 2,506 4,366
Fair value loss on financial assets at fair value RARBEAAERZS
through profit or loss MEEZARBEER 13,863 14,576
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE BELEEZ
equipment (M=) EiE 9 — (55)
Loss on disposal of investment property HEREYE 7 B - 120
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AR ZEIE 11 385 726
Fair value loss/(gain) on investment properties WEMEZ AREE
e (W) 19 1,566 (2,270)
Gain on extension of promissory note payable IR B R BER 2 R 7 - (8,191)
Loss on early redemption of promissory note IRRIEOEMNE Y ZE
payable 518 7 1,384 -
Reversal of impairment losses recognised for REFERRZREBE
inventories B [l 23 - (62)
Impairment losses on right-of-use assets FTREESEZRERBE 17 1,703 —
Impairment losses on finance lease receivable & Uk @t & M & IR 2 R (E
B 18 22 838 =
(Reversal of impairment losses)/impairment losses Bt fE UL & 5 &% H fh B 3¢
recognised for trade and other receivables iRz CRERE
|, REEE (842) 1,122
Impairment losses recognised for property, plant ME - BERZEER
and equipment ZREEE 16 2,052 7,382
Property, plant and equipment written off WEE % - WE KR 22 —
Inventories written off MiEFE 204 —
Finance costs B 15 B AR 11,977 32,602
Interest income F B YA 7 (2,603) (2,739
(13,118) 3,785
Decrease/(increase) in inventories EEZmL,/(Em) 4,033 (5,073)
Decrease in finance lease receivable JE W B & HH & SRIB 2R 4,627 4,259
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables  JEWE 5 Kk H i BEEZR 2
(3 hn),/ S5k (31,381) 18,209
Decrease in financial assets at fair value through BEAnBEFABRZZSR®
profit or loss BE KD 6,045 12,192
Increase in trade and other payables JENE S NREMBRR ZEM 33,448 9,179
Decrease in contract liabilities AHBEZRD (5,432) (264)
Increase/(decrease) in warranty provision REBE MO D) 42 (297)
Net cash (used in)/generated from operation % (i) FBzHEE
E 2R (1,736) 41,990
Income tax paid BT AT (511) (1,280)
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities £¢ 44 % 7& 5% &) (FT#E) FT 12
Z2HEEFERE (2,247) 40,710
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HE-T-_=-F/X"A=1+H1LFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

2022 2021
—E=-= —E -4
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B & FHET FHET
(Restated)
(LE5))
Cash flows from investing activities REZBHZHEER
Purchases of property, plant and equipment RNEWE  WERRE 16 (11,002) (11,554)
Interest received from loan receivables B U5 fE B RN B 352 512
Interest received R E RSN 600 217
Repayment of loan from third parties REFE=ZFHWERER 9,018 10,003
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from disposal of subsidiaries £ [t 8 2 & (7t ), A
2SR 11 (56,968) 19,730
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and LEWE - BERKERSE
equipment Z A = 200
Proceeds from disposal of an investment property ~ H & — & & %
Fi8 2 518 = 10,230
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities % & & &) (FT#E) Fr 15 2
IS HER (58,000) 29,338
Cash flows from financing activities METHZRER
Repayment of promissory note EEALER 26(b) (41,387) —
Repayment of other borrowing EEHEMEER 26(b) (185,000) (25,000
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEARE 26(b) (2,799 (4,881)
Capital contribution from non-controlling K EHEBRAR
shareholders of subsidiaries R REREE = 8
Interest paid for promissory note [RENRESEE - S:0R NN 26(b) (440) (440)
Interest paid for interest bearing other borrowing EfstEEMEENFE 26(b) (9,740) (25,802)
Net proceeds from rights issue AR FT 1S RIBF 5 197,897 -
Advance from a director REBEZEZERK 26(b) 150 -
Dividend paid to non-controlling shareholders of m— BB A A Y FEFE AR
a subsidiary RIS (6,811) =
Net cash used in financing activities METEMECRSTE (48,130) (56,115)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents IR & &I € Z5E 2 Ofd),/
1% 40 5F 28 (108,377) 18,933
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year F %IR8 & NIB & E %58 135,567 107,051
Effect on foreign exchange rate changes EREE & (2,697) 14,583
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year FRHBESRESEEHE 26 24,493 135,567

The notes on pages 96 to 230 form part of these consolidated financial

statements.
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ZHRCER Y

BERNEEBAERLET —B--FFHK 95



e B RREE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BHEZ

1.

96

T —_FXXA=+HIFE FORTHE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

GENERAL

Champion Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was originally
incorporated in the Cayman Islands but subsequently re-domiciled to
Bermuda and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Exchange”). The addresses of
the registered office and principal place of business of the Company
are disclosed in the Corporate Information section of the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements have been presented in Hong
Kong dollar (‘HK$”), which is also the Company’s functional currency.
All values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries and an associate are set out in notes 43 and
20 respectively.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”) has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for
the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2021 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
— Phase 2

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions

beyond 30 June 2021

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has
had no material impact on the Group’s financial performance and
positions for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set
out in these consolidated financial statements.
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e BB REE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-_ZT - XA =+HILEE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised HKFRSs
that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and

HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments®

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework'

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)?

Disclosure of Accounting Policies?

Definition of Accounting Estimates?

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction®

Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended Use'

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling
a Contract’

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020"
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of the new
and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
amounts reported and disclosures made in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in the foreseeable future.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the HKFRSs (which include all the Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the HKICPA and accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for investment properties, financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss and plan assets of defined benefit
retirement plan that are measured at fair value. Historical cost is
generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange
for goods and services.
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e BB REE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-T-_=-F/X"A=1+H1LFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly
observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or
liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or
disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is
determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment (“HKFRS 2”), leasing transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 16 Leases (“HKFRS 16”), and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable
value in HKAS 2 Inventories (“HKAS 2”) or value in use in HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets (“HKAS 36”).

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-_T-_-F/XA=1HFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEEi X @

(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from
the Group’s equity therein.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and liabilities
of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any) are derecognised.
A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and (i) the carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or
transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted by
applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the
former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition
of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-T-_=-F/X"A=1+H1LFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Other investments in debt and equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in debt and equity securities, other
than investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, are set
out below.

The investments are initially stated at fair value plus directly attributable
transaction costs, except for those investments measured at fair value
through profit or loss (FVTPL) for which transaction costs are
recognised directly in profit or loss. These investments are subsequently
accounted for as follows, depending on their classification.

Investments other than equity investments
Non-equity investments held by the Group are classified into one of the
following measurement categories:

— amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection of
contractual cash flows which represent solely payments of
principal and interest. Interest income from the investment is
calculated using the effective interest method.

—  fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)
recycling, if the contractual cash flows of the investment
comprise solely payments of principal and interest and the
investment is held within a business model whose objective is
achieved by both the collection of contractual cash flows and
sale. Changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive
income, except for the recognition in profit or loss of expected
credit losses, interest income (calculated using the effective
interest method) and foreign exchange gains and losses. When
the investment is derecognised, the amount accumulated in
other comprehensive income is recycled from equity to profit or
loss.

—  fair value at profit or loss (FVTPL) recycling if the investment does
not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or
FVTOCI (recycling). Changes in the fair value of the investment
(including interest) are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-_T-_-F/XA=1HFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Other investments in debt and equity securities
(Continued)

Equity investments

An investment in equity security is classified as financial assets at
FVTPL unless the equity investment is not held for trading purposes
and on initial recognition of the investment the Group makes an
irrevocable election to designate the investment as financial assets at
FVTOCI (non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income. Such elections are made
on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be made if the
investment meets the definition of equity from the issuers perspective.
Where such an election is made, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income remains in the fair value reserve (non-recycling)
until the investment is disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount
accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to
accumulated losses. It is not recycled through profit or loss. Dividends
from an investment in equity securities, irrespective of whether
classified as financial assets at FVTPL or FVTOCI, are recognised in
profit or loss as other income.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the
customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of
goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

(@)  The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs.

(b)  The Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-T-_=-F/X"A=1+H1LFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

() The Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods
or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.
A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised.

The Group recognises revenue from sales of goods (including cultural
products, gasoil, surveillance equipment, design and sale of renewable
energy products and solutions and systems and related software
licensing) are based on the consideration specified in a contract with a
customer and the Group excludes amounts collected on behalf of third
parties. The Group satisfies a performance obligation when it transfers
control of the cultural products, gasoil, surveillance equipment, design
and sale of renewable energy products and solutions and systems and
related software licensing to a customer. Revenue from sales of goods
is recognised at the point in time.

The revenue from provision of installation and maintenance services is
recognised over time.

The revenue from provision of maintenance service is recognised over
time as the customers simultaneously receive and consume the
benefits from the Group’s performance. Input method is used to
measure the progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation which is to recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s
efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance obligation relative
to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation, that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.
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HE-_T- /XA =+HIFE FORTHE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. T EE: B E @

(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Rental income, including rental invoiced in advance from assets under
operating leases, is recognised on a straight-line basis over the relevant
lease term.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest
method. For financial assets measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI
(recycling) that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is
applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit-impaired
financial assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the amortised
cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the asset.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a
customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its promise is a
performance obligation to provide the specified goods or services itself
(i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or services
to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service
before that good or service is transferred to a customer. When the
Group acts as a principal, it recognises revenue in the gross amount of
consideration to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for the
specified good or service transferred. The Group is an agent if its
performance obligation is to arrange for the provision of the specified
good or service by another party.

Indicators taken into account by management of the Group to
determine whether the Group acts as a principal or an agent include,
but are not limited to, the following:

(@  whether the entity is primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise
to provide the specified good or service;

(b)  whether the entity has inventory risk before the specified good or
service has been transferred to a customer or after transfer of
control to the customer (for example, if the customer has a right
of return); and

(c)  whether the entity has discretion in establishing the price for the
specified good or service, indicating that the entity has the ability
to direct the use of that good or service and obtain substantially
all of the remaining benefits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-T-_=-F/X"A=1+H1LFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including land and buildings held for use
in the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.

Depreciation recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method, at the following rates per annum:

Freehold land Nil
Buildings on freehold land 50 years
Vessel 3 years

Leasehold land and buildings ~ Over the shorter of the remaining
unexpired terms of the relevant
leases or 50 years

Plant and machinery and 10%-50%
communications networks

Furniture and fixtures 20%-33%%

Motor vehicles 25%

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of properties
which includes both leasehold land and building elements, the entire
consideration is allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition. To
the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably,
interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the
consolidated statement of financial position except for those that are
classified and accounted for as investment properties under the fair
value model. When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably
between non-lease building element and undivided interest in the
underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as
property, plant and equipment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-_T-_-F/XA=1HFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation.

Investment properties also include leased properties which are being
recognised as right-of-use assets and subleased by the Group under
operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at their fair values. Gains or losses
arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties are
included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period in which the property
is derecognised.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. The recoverable
amount of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are
estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-T-_=-F/X"A=1+H1LFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted. If the recoverable amount of
an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-
generating unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of cash-
generating units, with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-
generating units. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below
the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its
value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro-rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating
units. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a
cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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e MWK
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-_T-_-F/XA=1HFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the
definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition
date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the
terms and conditions of the contact are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contact that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases
of properties that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It also
applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement date,
less any lease incentives received,;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling
and removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which it
is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease.
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e BB REE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-T-_=-F/X"A=1+H1LFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the lease term
are depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition
of investment property as a separate line item on the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposit

Refundable rental deposit paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 Financial
Instrument (“HKFRS 9”) and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments that
are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not
readily determinable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-_T-_-F/XA=1HFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEEi X @

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)
The lease payments include:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual
values guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise the option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest
accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or
operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset
to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as
receivables at commencement date at amounts equal to net
investments in the leases, measured using the interest rate implicit in
the respective leases. Interest income is allocated to accounting
periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the
Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-T-_=-F/X"A=1+H1LFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Research expenditures

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred.

Credit losses and impairment of assets

Credit losses from financial instruments
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (‘ECL”)
on the following items:

—  financial assets measured at amortised cost (including cash and
cash equivalents, trade and other receivables) and loan
receivables; and

— finance lease receivable.

Measurement of ECL

ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses
are measured as the present value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e.
the difference between the cash flows due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls for receivables are discounted using the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition or an
approximation thereof where the effect of discounting is material.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECL is the maximum
contractual period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECL, the Group takes into account reasonable and
supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort.
This includes information about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-_T-_-F/XA=1HFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)
Measurement of ECL (Continued)
ECL are measured on either of the following bases:

— 12-month ECL: these are losses that are expected to result from
possible default events within the 12 months after the reporting
date; and

— lifetime ECL: these are losses that are expected to result from all
possible default events over the expected lives of the items to
which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECL on the basis that there are no significant
financing components. ECL on these financial assets are estimated
using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and an
assessment of both the current and forecast general economic
conditions at the reporting date.

Loss allowance for finance lease receivable is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECL and assessed individually.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECL unless there has been a significant
increase in credit risk of the financial instrument since initial recognition,
in which case the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-T-_=-F/X"A=1+H1LFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)
Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares the
risk of default occurring on the financial instrument assessed at the
reporting date with that assessed at the date of initial recognition. In
making this reassessment, the Group considers that a default event
occurs when (i) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to
the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as
realising security (if any is held); or (i) the financial asset is 90 days past
due. The Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

—  failure to make payments of principal or interest on their
contractually due dates;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in a financial
instruments external or internal credit rating (if available);

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor; and

—  existing or forecast changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have a significant adverse
effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the assessment
of a significant increase in credit risk is performed on either an individual
basis or a collective basis. When the assessment is performed on a
collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics, such as past due status and credit risk
ratings.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)
Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

ECL are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes in the
financial instruments credit risk since initial recognition. Any change in
the ECL amount is recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss. The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all financial
instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account.

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-
impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on the
amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of
the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a financial asset is
credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following
observable events:
—  significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

— abreach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments;

— it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter into
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological, market, economic or

legal environment that have an adverse effect on the debtor; or

—  the disappearance of an active market for a security because of
financial difficulties of the issuer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-T-_=-F/X"A=1+H1LFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)
Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or finance lease
receivable is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there
is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the
Group determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of
income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts
subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written off are
recognised as a reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the period in
which the recovery occurs.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as
a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle that obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation. Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the
time value of money is material).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate are incorporated in
these consolidated financial statements using the equity method of
accounting. The financial statements of the associate used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies
as those of the Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment in an associate
is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate.
Changes in net assets of the associate other than profit or loss and
other comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such
changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the Group.
When the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group’s
interest in that associate (which includes any long- term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate),
the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf
of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method
from the date on which the investee becomes an associate. On
acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of
the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as
goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period
in which the investment is acquired.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Investment in an associate (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the
interest in an associate may be impaired. When any objective evidence
exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill)
is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset
by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with
HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate,
it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee
with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When the
Group retains an interest in the former associate and the retained
interest is a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group
measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair
value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition. The difference
between the carrying amount of the associate and the fair value of any
retained interest and any proceeds from disposing the relevant interest
in the associate is included in the determination of the gain or loss on
disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group accounts for all
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that associate on the same basis as would be required if that
associate had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by that associate would be reclassified to profit
or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the
relevant associate.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate but the
Group continues to use the equity method, the Group reclassifies to
profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that reduction in
ownership interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or
loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Investment in an associate (continued)

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits
and losses resulting from the transactions with the associate are
recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of interests in the associate that are not related to the Group.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is calculated using the first-in, first-out method except for cost of
cultural products, which are assigned by using specific identification
cost method.

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the
sale.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional right
to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration is
unconditional if only the passage of time is required before payment of
that consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised before the
Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration, the amount
is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method less allowance for credit losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and short-
term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, having been within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of
the Group’s cash management are also included as a component of
cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
statement of cash flows. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
ECL.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value. Trade
and other payables are subsequently stated at amortised cost unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.
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HE-T-_=-F/X"A=1+H1LFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair value less
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing
borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Interest expense is recognised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy for borrowing costs.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that
are never taxable and deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The
chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has
been identified as the directors of the Company that made strategic
decisions during the year.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and
on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are translated into
the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollar) using
exchange rate prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income
and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period,
in which case, the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading
of translation reserve. Exchange differences are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which the foreign operation is disposal of.

Retirement benefit scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong
Kong. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees
basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently administered
fund.

Retirement benefits to employees in the PRC are provided through a
defined contribution plan. The Group is required to participate in a
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal government.
The Group is required to contribute certain percentage of its payroll
costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension scheme. The Group has no legal or constructive
obligations to pay further contributions after payment of the fixed
contribution.

BEMNREEERLF

FESTTHERw@

s

BUSEEERIMBERE UZKE
BUHREBAIINZEEOMNE) EITZX
5 NEXZEBZEMERER - R
BEMTER  UINEIEZEBHEA
DEZBZERNEXEHEE - UINE
BELKAGFEZIFERIER TMEEH

g o

HEEBHARENREEBHRAME
EZEREZBEDREELSRHERER
W o

RENGEMBHRER ~AREXBE
ERRBENREREDRTEFZEAE
THELAAEEZEHREK(ANET) -
BRWARH T RREREFHE XK
B OBRIEHANERRERE RZBER
TOAERRSEAZER - TELZ
EREB(WE) HNEM 2 E KRS ER
MRt (EESFHET) Rt BINE
BRhER Eiz@eaxHRzE
= PR o

I}

iR k48 A &t &l

AEERBRBIEATEZEENSE
EEEREBRIEHEBRBRGERE
ERABAE (2B E) - HRK
RREEBEAFEZRBEDLEL AR
ErEsAERANENRERBER R
EzmBamEk -wEeftdcEE
HASBEZEENH BABILEEES
KA -

hEEBMERRENTEEERHEK
ArERH - ARBEAL2EGE BT R
BIENHPREZEHE - AEEFTER
RARABEST BN —ELINTEK
Ko RBETAELZDFEMRA - K
ERMNEFAGGREREME2E K S
ReEXNERRRR  AEEBLEZX
BRETHEBRINESHK -

—s--f88% 121



e MWK
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BHEZ

3.

122

T —_FXXA=+HIFE FORTHE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Retirement benefit scheme (continued)

Certain subsidiaries of the Company operate a self-administered and
funded pension scheme in the United Kingdom. The scheme provides
defined pension benefits with reference to the final salary of the
members at retirement and their length of service. The scheme is
closed to new members since 1 January 2008.

The Group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit retirement
plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount of
future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in
the current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine
the present value and the fair value of any plan assets is deducted. The
calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the projected unit
credit method.

Service cost and net interest expense/(income) on the net defined
benefit liability/(asset) are recognised in profit or loss and allocated by
function as part of administrative expense. Current service cost is
measured as the increase in the present value of the defined benefit
obligation resulting from employee service in current period. When the
benefits of a plan are changed, or when a plan is curtailed, the portion
of the changed benefit related to past service by employees, or the
gain or loss on curtailment, is recognised as an expense in profit or loss
at the earlier of when the plan amendment or curtailment occurs and
when related restructuring cost or termination benefit are recognised.
Net interest expense/(income) for the period is determined by applying
the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit liability/(asset).
The discount rate is the yield at the end of the reporting period on high
quality corporate bonds that have maturity dates approximating the
terms of the Group’s obligations.

Remeasurements arising from defined benefit retrement plans are
recognised in other comprehensive income and reflected immediately
in accumulated losses and will not be reclassified to profit or loss.
Remeasurements comprise actuarial gains and losses, the return on
plan assets (excluding amounts included in net interest on the net
defined benefit liability/(asset)) and any change in the effect of the asset
ceiling (excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined
benefit liability/(asset)).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. X EE:BE @

(Continued)

Related party

(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to
the Group if that person:

or

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is @ member of key management personnel of the Group
or the Group’s parent;

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions
applies:

U

(i)

(i)

(v)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same group (which
means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others);

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity
(or an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of
which the other entity is a member);

both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is @ member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personal services to the Group
or to the parent of the Group.
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3.

124

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Related party (continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in
their dealings with the entity.

SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

(a) Critical accounting judgements in applying
the Group’s accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following accounting judgements:

Classification of inventories

The Group holds certain cultural products for resale in the
ordinary course of business. Although the value of cultural
products may appreciate over time, it is the Group’s intention to
hold such assets for trading. Accordingly, those items of cultural
products are classified as inventories under current assets.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-T-_=-F/X"A=1+H1LFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTA'NTY (Continued)

4., EXRHEREFTIAEE
M2 EERIRm

(a) Critical accounting judgements in applying (@ ERXSEEETBEZE
the Group’s accounting policies (Continued) EE 5 E )
Deferred taxation on investment properties EREKREYEZELERIE

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the Group has reviewed its investment property portfolios
and concluded:

In respect of the Group’s investment properties located in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), the management has
determined that these properties are held within a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over
time and consequently the sale presumption in HKAS 12 is
rebutted for these properties. As a result, the Group continues to
measure the deferred tax relating to these properties using the
tax rate that would apply as a result of recovering their value
through use.

Revenue recognition

Judgement is required in determining the timing of satisfaction of
performance obligation. The Group derives revenue from sale of
gasoil, surveillance equipment systems and related software
including renewable energy systems, and cultural products. The
Group carefully evaluates the terms and conditions stipulated in
contract and/or sale order with a customer and assesses when
the control of the goods has been transferred to the customer. In
addition, the Group also assessed whether the Group is acting
as the principal (i.e. whether the Group has the primary
responsibility for the sale of goods, bears the risks of loss and
obsolescence, and also has full discretion over the goods). The
directors of the Company have determined that the control is
passed to customer upon the goods are delivered to the agreed
destination. This is also the point in time at which the right to
consideration becomes unconditional, only the passage of time
is required before payment is due.
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4. SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

U NCERTA' NTY (Continued)

(a) Critical accounting judgements in applying

126

the Group’s accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

The directors of the Company assessed and considered that the
sales of systems and installation are one single performance
obligation and to be recognised at a particular point in time (i.e.
when control of the systems and software is transferred to the
customer). The Group delivers products to customers after
installation of customised softwares in the systems. The
installation work is carried out in the Group’s premises or on sites
specified by customers. The Group grants customers the right to
use the software and no update or upgrade of the software is
required to be performed by the Group after sales. The sales of
systems and software and related installation are assessed by
the management to be not distinct in the context of application of
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (‘HKFRS
15”) as what being delivered to the customer is a combined
product with customer specifications.

The Group sells large telecommunication equipment and
software that need to be installed at customers’ premises. As
management considered that the hardware installation service is
a very simple procedure the equipment can operate and function
as normal way and the customer can choose to install the
equipment by themselves or by third party service provider. The
installation service and sales of equipment are distinct in the
context of the application of HKFRS 15. Revenue from provision
of installation services is determined by management to be
recognised over time as the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance
as the Group performs the installation service. The Group
recognises revenue in relation to the sales of telecommunication
equipment of a particular point in time (i.e. when control is
transferred to the customers).

The Group signed contracts with customers to provide
maintenance over a period of time. The customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs the maintenance service,
therefore, revenue from provision of maintenance service is
recognised over time.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-_ZT - XA =+HILEE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENTANDKEY 4. EAYMERESFREE
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION M2 EERFEmw
UNCERTA'NTY (Continued)

(a) Critical accounting judgements in applying

() ERAEESHBRZE

the Group’s accounting policies (Continued) EE 5 E )
Principal versus agent consideration (principal) FTEAHEHABANZE(E
EA)

The Group engages in trading of gasoil. The Group assessed
whether the Group is principal and should recognise revenue on
gross basis based on the requirements in HKFRS 15. The
management concluded that the Group acts as the principal for
such transactions as the Group controls the specified goods
before the goods are transferred to customers after taking into
consideration of indicators such as the Group is primarily
responsible for fulfiling the promise to provide the gasoil
products, the Group has inventory risk before transferring the
gasoil to customers, the Group has discretion in establishing the
prices for the gasoil in form of a premium over their market
prices. Before transferring the gasoil to customers, the Group
has ability to direct the use of, and obtain substantially all of the
remaining benefits from the gasoil products by determining the
customers and the timing to which the gasoil products will be
sold.

Lease

The Group applies reasonable judgement to determine the lease
term for lease contracts in which it is a lessee that include
renewal option. The assessment of whether the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise such options impacts the lease
term, which significantly affects the amount of lease liabilities and
right-of-use assets recognised. The Group considered the
exercise of the renewal option is uncertain, therefore, the lease
term does not include the renewal option.
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4. SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTA'NTY (Continued)

(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty

128

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year.

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

Investment properties located in PRC (excluded the leasehold
land where hotel property erected) as at 30 June 2022 are stated
at fair value based on valuation reports, issued by Stirling
Appraisals Limited (2021: Stirling Appraisals Limited), by using
direct comparison method.

Investment property included the leasehold land where the hotel
property erected and located in the PRC as at 30 June 2022 are
stated at fair value based on valuation reports, issued by Stirling
Appraisals Limited (2021: Stirling Appraisals Limited), by using
adjusted market comparable method.

In determining the fair value, the valuer has based on property
valuation techniques which involve certain estimates including
comparable sales in the relevant market and appropriate discount
rates.

In relying on the valuation reports, management has exercised
their judgement and is satisfied that the method of valuation is
reflective of the current market condition.

The carrying amounts of investment properties as at 30 June
2022 and 2021 were HK$47,275,000 and HK$50,022,000
respectively. Further details, including the key assumptions used
for fair value measurement, are stated in note 43.
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4. SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENTANDKEY 4. EAYMERESFREE
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION M2 EERFEmw
UNCERTA'NTY (Continued)

(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(b) fhat FHEE M 2 RIR @)

Impairment allowances on financial assets (including
trade and other receivables, finance lease
receivable and loan receivables)

Trade receivables with significant balances and credit-impaired
are assessed for ECL individually.

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for trade
receivables which are not assessed individually. The provision
rates are based on internal credit ratings as groupings of various
debtors that have similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is
based on the Group’s historical default rates taking into
consideration forward-looking information that is reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort.

At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are
considered.

The Group determines the provision of impairment of other
receivables, loan receivable and finance lease receivable based
on ECL. The Group assesses the ECL for each of the other
receivables, loan receivables and finance lease receivable
individually based on the financial position and the economic
environment in which the borrowers operate.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL of the Group’s trade and other
receivables, loan receivables and finance lease receivable are
disclosed in note 5.

THEE(BERKRESRHE
iR BUBMEHESRIE
KEWER) BERE

EEREHRREERENEKE
SEFREEAFERAEEESE -

AEBEERBREEREGFTERRKE
5 IR BB 5 B B 1R (X 3E 1@ 51
) BEXEXRAFHALUER
B R B R RRAE S AR
ERNE BREREENAEEN
BEENE REREFNL T
ERAXBOANAESNAER
A EMRTEEER -

REMRE A BEBREIME
MEGWEH T ML ER D
BB E AR -

AEERRAGEEEEBETEM
s B R K e U B B B AR
B - AEBEIRY BN K HE K
ARENEERSEHRBHME
U iR R B B W B B TH B R R TR
EEBRETER G-

EHEEERO BB EHNE
B - AR AR ERE SR
ff B K~ A M A M
ENEBEEERNERRK S
HE -

BENKEBERLAT —E-=—F8% 129



e MWK
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-_T-_-F/XA=1HFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

4. SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTA'NTY (Continued)

(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

130

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of
completion and selling expenses. These estimates are based on
the current market price of similar products and historical
experience of distributing and selling products of similar nature. It
could change significantly as a result of market condition.
Management assesses the estimations at each reporting date.

At 30 June 2022, the carrying amount of the Group’s inventories
was HK$12,882,000 (2021: HK$38,564,000).

Fair value of an unlisted equity investment included
in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

In determining the fair value of an unlisted equity investment
included in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is
based on discounted cash flow method under income approach.
The management of the Group estimates are based on cash flow
forecast for the relevant business and requires the adoption of
certain assumptions. Changes in assumptions relating to these
factors could affect the reported fair value of the unlisted equity
investment. As at 30 June 2022, the fair value of unlisted equity
security is HK$Nil (2021: HK$NIl).
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 5.

TWMTH

Categories of financial instruments SR ITEER

2022 2021
—E=-= T —%F
HK$’000 HK$000
TERT FET

Financial assets EREE
At fair value through profit or loss EBAnBEGFAER 21,985 41,893
At amortised cost bieg: oI 92,037 238,979
114,022 280,872

Financial liabilities tRER
At amortised cost e =1 9,533 287,305
Lease liabilities HEaE 1,800 6,046

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, trade and other receivables, finance lease
receivable, loan receivables, bank balances and cash, trade and other
payables, interest bearing other borrowing, amount due to a director,
lease liabilities and promissory note payable. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.
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5.

132

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk

As at 30 June 2022, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge
an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the carrying amount
of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk in relation to trade and other
receivables, finance lease receivable and loan receivables, the
management of the Group will only allow customers with good credit
history to pay on credit. In addition, the management reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual trade debt at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account future discounted cash flows, to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. In the
opinion of the directors of the Company, no trade receivables have
been written off for both years.

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL on trade
receivables with significant outstanding balances with gross carrying
amounts of HK$9,150,000 as at 30 June 2022 (2021 HK$26,253,000)
were assessed individually. Provision for impairment losses for trade
receivables with significant outstanding balances was HK$203,000 (2021:
HK$1,122,000). For the remaining debtors, the Group performs
impairment assessment under ECL on trade receivables based in
internal credit rating (2021: provision matrix). The directors of the
Company are of the opinion that the credit risk is low based on the
sound collection history of the trade receivables and the environment
the debtors operate. Therefore, provision of HK$52,000 (2021: Nil) had
been performed for the remaining debtors.
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HE-_ZT - XA =+HILEE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. @ T A
Financial risk management objectives and BEEEE B ERBEG®@
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) FEER B (&)
Movements in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade REERERWE BRI BEEGBNEHIS
receivables during the year are as follows: AR :
Non-credit
impaired
FEERE
HK$'000
FAT
At 1 July 2020 RZZEZTEF+LH—H —
Impairment losses BEEE 1,122
At 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021 RZE-Z—FA=+RAEK=ZT=—F+tAH—H
Reversal of impairment losses NERI=NSEi=EcqE] (1,122)
Impairment losses B EE 255
At 30 June 2022 RZZE-_—_FXA=1+H 255
The Group has certain concentration of credit risk on finance lease E W E 5 BR XA BR M 42 589,150,000
receivable, and trade receivables as the trade receivables with gross T (ZZT = —F:26,253,000870) F &
carrying amounts of HK$9,150,000 (2021: HK$26,253,000) are mainly KEASARPE, FEUREHEHENE
from the largest customer, the finance lease receivable with gross M 42 838,906,000/ (= &F = — F ¢
carrying amounts of HK$38,906,000 (2021: HK$42,975,000) is due 429750008 L) BB —BEHRAEL " W
from a single debtor. AEBHERBREHEFRBERERE S

EXAE-—ENEERABREPE -

As at 30 June 2022, provision for expected credit loss on the finance RN-EFE-——®FA=+B8 EatEKR
lease receivable of HK$838,000 (2021: Nil) has been made. EHEFRBEBNEHREEEEEL BE

838,000 T (=T = —F : &) °
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. €@ T A
Financial risk management objectives and BREEEE B ERBEG®
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EER k@)
Movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of finance lease NREBEWKNRMEBEFEREEFNE
receivable during the year is as follows: FiFRMOT
Non-credit
impaired
FEERE
HK$'000
FAT
At 1 July 2020, 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021 RZE_EF+A—AB ZE=-—F~NA=+tHRK
—E-—F+tHA—H =
Impairment losses WA E R 838
At 30 June 2022 R-E-_—_FXA=+H 838
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HE-_ZT - XA =+HILEE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. TRt T B
Financial risk management objectives and BEREEEEERBE @
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) FEERE @
As at 30 June 2022, the Group has exposed to credit risk on other RZEBE-_—_FEXA=1+H  AEFET
receivables. As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group EUWEMBEZINEERR - EAXRNEER
assessed impairment of other receivables which are not credit impaired FHEREEN —HD KEERAXR
based on 12-month ECL and impairment loss of HK$25,000 for other EEREMNEMERERORETER
receivables (2021: Nil) was recognised in profit or loss for the year 12 AFEHEEREFE  YERES
ended 30 June 2022. The management of the Group considers the —E - —ERNBA=tTHIFEEZBHET
probability of default based on the financial position of the debtors and e 32 E b fiE Uk BR 2XOR B B 18 25,0005 JT
the economic environment of the debtors operate. (ZEBEZ—F : ®) - W AEBEHEE
RBEEHANTBRRARHLLE K
BIREMBEEBHNNAREIEEEZE -
Movements in the allowance for impairment in respect of other REERWHMBERIRELEEGENZ SIS
receivables during the year are as follows: SR
Credit Non-credit
impaired impaired Total
*EE
FERE B E st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET FET
At 1 July 2020, 30 June 2021 and RZZB_ZTF+HA-—RA ZTZ—F
1 July 2021 NA=+BR=F=—%+tHA—H 5,683 - 5,683
Write-off 1 55 (2,766) — (2,766)
Impairment losses A E B — 25 25
At 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2022 KR _-_ZE_-_—FNA=+tHBEK-_T_—
~NA=+H 2,917 25 2,942
Expected credit loss rate JEHEEEEE 100% 2.22% 72.5%
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuedq) 5. €@miIT A
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Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

As at 30 June 2021, the Group has exposed to credit risk on loan
receivables. The management of the Group considers the probability of
default based on the financial position of the borrowers and guarantors
and the economic environment the borrowers operate. Therefore, the
ECL rate of the non-credit impaired loan receivables are assessed to
be closed to zero and no provision was made as at 30 June 2021. As
at 30 June 2021, the management of the Group considers the loan
receivable with credit impaired in previous years is not recoverable,
accordingly, no reversal of impairment as at 30 June 2021 was made.

Movements in the allowance for impairment in respect of loan
receivables during the year are as follows:

(%)

BEEREEEERBEEw@

EE Rk #E)
RZE-Z—FXNA=1+H AEEEAZ
BREFNEERR AEEEEEIR
T)%%?K/\ﬂ?f—’ﬁ/\E@Eﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁxﬂl«/{&fa

AR BRI R E BEAR A B
’|"_1E it FEEREZERKERNE
HEEBEBXGHERT AUR=-F
Z—FRNRA=THEBRAREBHE R_F
Z—FRNA=TH XEBEEERA
BEFEEERBEZEREREEZR
B ArEE—FT-_—F~A=1+HE
WEEFHRE -

R RO R B B R
m -

Credit impaired

EERE

HK$'000

FAET

At 1 July 2020 R-ZZE-_TF+H—H 5,485
Currency realignment PE 55 1,128
At 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021 RZEZ— E/\ﬂ TARZZE-Z_—F+A—H 6,613
Disposal of subsidiaries HEN B R (6,677)
Currency realignment [ H, 8 & 64
At 30 June 2022 R-ZZTE-_=—FA=+H =
Expected credit loss rate EHEEEEX 100%

Other than concentration of credit risk on the largest customer and
finance lease receivable and liquid funds which are deposited with
several banks with high credit ratings, the Group does not have any
other significant concentration of credit risk. The credit risk on liquid
funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. €@ T H
Financial risk management objectives and BEEEE B ERBEG®@
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk RBELERE
In managing the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level BRBEcRBEEmMS  AEBER
of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management to R RREeEREEEERA
finance the Groups operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in FTRZKE MIEARXEBEZEEZRIT
cash flows. The management monitors the utilisation of borrowings and REBESREDMERZTZE - B
ensures compliance with loan covenants. EREEHTHABALMEREESTER
A o
The following table details the Groups remaining contractual maturity B EEEED TRANAERK
for its financial liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms. The SREBEZHGAELHFER 5K TIIEAN
table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of ESEREREAEEREEZSREBERD
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be BRERIWNR - EMWIETEESREBEZ
required to pay. The maturity dates for other non-derivative financial HEBAFTEEEBHAER -5 X
liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates. The table includes BENBEEAESZIRES T -
both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that the interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted Eg@ﬂfu#Zﬂéﬁmﬁﬁiﬁm
amount of interest payment is estimated based on the interest rate at A RGE KRB ENHEEE -
the end of the reporting period.
Effective Within one Total Carrying
interest yearoron Between Between undiscounted amount at
rates demand 1-2years 2-5years cash flows 30 June 2022
R-EBE_-—
—FRH AEE ARNA=TH
RS RER —Z=F ZZHF BReRLHE HY BR [ 18
%  HK$000 HK$'000 HKS$000 HK$’000 HK$’000
B FHET FHET FET FET FTHET
2022 —_ZEFE=-=
Financial liabilities &2 # 84 B A& 5t & #9
at amortised cost 2 RIAE
Trade and other EBRESREAM
payables BR X - 9,383 - - 9,383 9,383
Amount due to BN —REF KA
a director - 150 - - 150 150
Liabilities at RBHEMATTED
amortised cost =R
Lease liabilities HEBE 1.8-7.7 1,062 873 = 1,935 1,800
10,595 873 — 11,468 11,333
FENBEEERAT —2-—F5% 137
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

@I Aw

BEEREEEERBEEw@

REBELERE @

Effective  Within one Total Carrying
interest yearoron Between Between undiscounted amount at
rates demand 1-2years 2-5years cash flows 30 June 2021
MRZZTEZ—4F
—F R REEE  SNA=TH
B F = RERK —Z2ZF ZEQNFE RERLE )RR B
%  HK$000 HK$O000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
At FHET FET FHET FHET FHET
2021 —EBE-—F
Financial liabilities 1% # 88 B A 5t & 49
at amortised cost 2 REE
Trade and other EAE S REM
payables BR X = 61,819 = = 61,819 61,819
Amount due to B —RESRIE
a director — 2,180 — — 2,180 2,180
Interest bearing other &t 8 H & &
borrowing 13.0 24,050 191,523 — 215,573 185,000
Promissory note JE A5 7 3, E
payable 12.6 — 44,881 — 44,881 38,306
Liabilities at RBERATED
amortised cost =K
Lease liabilities HEAE 1.8-7.6 4,355 1,501 448 6,304 6,046
92,404 237,905 448 330,757 293,351

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for
non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to change if changes in
variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
variable-rate bank deposits.

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to finance
lease receivable, fixed rates other borrowing, promissory note payable
and lease liabilities.

As at 30 June 2022, the Group’s fixed rate borrowings amounted to Nil
(2021: HK$223,306,000). The Group does not enter into any
arrangement to hedge cash flow interest rate risk. However, the
management monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging
significant interest rate risk should the need arises.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for variable-rate deposit and bank balances
at the end of reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming that
the amount of balances outstanding at the end of the reporting period
was outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis points (2021: 10 basis
points) increase or decrease represents management’s assessment of
the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2021: 10 basis points) higher
or lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s loss
after tax for the year ended 30 June 2022 would decrease or increase
by approximately HK$34,000 (2021:
approximately HK$136,000).

decrease or increase by

In the managements opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative
of the inherent interest rate risk as the year end exposure does not
reflect the exposure during the year.

SENMREEERLF

€@mI A

L (@)
BEEABREEEERBE @
R % @ B

AREEHEWTRRTEE
5 LB -

Zﬁ%/}lb

AEEEHAEREREKRERERE T
BEMEE BNALEBEREAEEE
ZAREENEER

R—_TE-__—_FXA=+HB x&E@82
ETEEESEARTEL(ZEZ —F:
223,306,000/% 7T ) o A & B B A I & 77
VEMZEERE B RAERR - A
CEREEeRYEENERR - WR
Z A% E B E AR X E R E i
RPE -

n§H+§H

BBE DM
UTHRBREDMERESHRUZIERRK
&ﬁﬁ*f%%%Zﬂ%H%ﬁ#io

AMBEEREBENREHTERARE
@Z EHAEFHRERESE - FAS
EZ(ZT-—F 108 2#®RE - K
REEEBYHANRZAENRESEL
A o

fig 7 & £ FH sk T MKo0EB (=T = —
F10EM)MAAEMATSERZHIZTT
# O AKEBHEZE_ZSE__FXA=1H
IEFEZREBESHALER DL ML
34,0008 T (ZE = —F : B LML
136,000/ 7T °

EEERAFAAZARYERRFER
ZREE BEBRELINLTIKREREEH
=@ o
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity investments
decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity indices and the
values of individual securities. The Group was exposed to equity price
risk arising from individual equity investments classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss (note 21).

The Group’s listed equity investments classified as financial assets at
FVTPL are listed on the Stock Exchange and are valued at quoted
market prices at the end of the reporting period.

The market equity index for the Stock Exchange, at the close of
business of the nearest trading day in the year to the end of the
reporting period, and its respective highest and lowest points during
the year were as follows:

@I Aw

BEEREEEERBEEw@

RAE AR
%Kﬁ%ﬂ@ﬁl%$%%%$&ﬂﬂ
ERBEEEIMERRARELAEE
TMZHM°$EEE£Iﬂﬂ“ﬁﬁ
BArBEFABGZZEMEE (ME
V) 2 AR EMELENBRAERREL -

FEEBSBERRARBEAAERZS
BMEEZ ETRAKRERB M LT
WHEHE BRI 2 T EME

BXARNFAZKEOREMAR R
%%E%F'aﬁmiﬁ%zrn%ﬂx$¢a%('LMS?
BERFAZES RREMHBOT

30 June 2022 High/Low 1 July 2021

—®B-CfF —EC—F

~H=+H BE/BRIE +tA—H

Hong Kong — Hang Seng Index BEX - EBAEEH 21,860  28,859/18,235 28,859
The Group manages its exposure by closely monitoring the price AREEFBRYERAETEZERA

movements and the changes in market conditions that may affect the
value of these equity investments.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. TRt T B
Financial risk management objectives and BEEREERERBE®@®
policies (Continued)
Equity price risk (Continued) % < B 1% B B2 ()
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably TRIIWTSEFREEMBELHREBETEA
possible change in the fair values of the equity investments, with all R AFERBRBEEZEZIFERT » HAE AR
other variables held constant and before any impact on tax, based on KWEAZAARBELEAEEEFHE 2
their carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period. BRE - IR EHARNEEETE -
Decrease/
(increase) Increase/
Carrying in loss after (decrease)
amount of Increase/ tax and in other
financial (decrease) accumulated components
investments in price losses of equity
MR EEE Hib s
SRRE BEREMmM, RREFEER HEEB D
IREE (R4 W2 /Em  #Ei hd)
HK$’000 % HK$’000 HK$’000
A& T Bkt FAT FAT
2022 —E-C—F
Equity securities listed EREALEmZ
in Hong Kong: IRAFE 5 -
Held-for-trading: HIEEE 21,985 58.26 12,808 -
(58.26) (12,808) —
2021 —E-—£F
Equity securities listed EEBLETZ
in Hong Kong: IRANFE 75
Held-for-trading: BIEEE: 41,893 34.85 14,600 —
(34.85) (14,600) —

BEMREEMERLE —F-_FFR
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
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Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that movement in foreign
currency exchange rate which will affect the Groups financial results
and its cash flows. Certain trade receivables and bank balances of the
Group are denominated in foreign currencies. The Group does not
engage in any foreign currency hedging instruments. It is the Groups
policy to manage foreign currency risk through matching foreign
currency income with expense, and where exposure to foreign
exchange is anticipated, appropriate hedging instruments will be used.

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and liabilities, which expose the Group
to foreign currency risk.

The carrying amounts of the group entities foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the reporting
date are as follows:

@I Aw

BEEREEEERBEEw@

SMNES L B
SNERBRERFEAEENBRER
HBASRZHNEEXEHER - AEH
HTRWKE SRR RRITHEERT AN
G RN T s S R G -
TAE-AKEZ -BERREZEBEHI
BWARS HEREINERR - & FEH
EEEIIERRE  SRBAEH
TH-

ARRZHEMBRRRFENINEE
CERBERAE SASEEEIE
B

SEERUINEAEZEREERER
BERBREBHZEEENT

2022 2021
—E=-= =4

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

BE =R BE BE

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

THET THET FHET TET
Euro BT 1 (793) 21,797 (793)
United States dollar E7T 19,235 — 30,878 (15,717)
Renminbi AR 38,082 (1,202) 42,981 —
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. TRt T B
Financial risk management objectives and BEEREEEERBE®@E
policies (Continued)
Foreign currency risk (Continued) S B B ()
Sensitivity analysis BB E 5T
The group entities are mainly exposed to foreign currency risk from REB TR T BAE ZIHIER R EK B R
Euro and United States dollars. Under the pegged exchange rate TTRET HEHEBEREE T KA T
system, the financial exposure on exchange rate fluctuation between EERAETRETEREH 2B I—L
Hong Kong dollar and United States dollars is considered insignificant R AR 4K - R It I AR BB RN E D AT o
by the directors of the Company and therefore no sensitivity analysis
has been prepared.
The following table details the group entities sensitivity to a 5% (2021: 5%) TERBRAAHPEFETLZHB TR A
increase and decrease in Euro and Renminbi against each group REMGKEBER /INEEE JIEXR
entity’s functional currency. 5% (2021: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used PR A% (ZE = —F :5%) 2 B
when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management o 5%(:%:—¢ 5% ABEEER
personnel and represents managements assessment of the reasonably A EZEER A B RS INEE R B BF T EE
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis AZERELLR ERKEIEE HINE
includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary EXASEBA B E 2T E  HRREDIN
items and adjusts their translation at the year end for a 5% (2021: 5%) EREUIINEABEZ RE&ENE®IER -
change in foreign currency rates. A positive number below indicates a W N FEE R E 5% (—F = — F:
decrease in loss before taxation where Euro and Renminbi strengthens 5% ) B HEFHEZHEEHAR . LT IE
by 5% (2021: 5%) against each group entity’s functional currency. For BEBRALRNHEBTEARKE R EEHETZ jJ
a 5% (2021: 5%) weakening of Euro and Renminbi against each group RREBAESN(ZE - —F :5%) 8
entity’s functional currency, there would be an equal and opposite BRI RTER T - 1@ Bt kAR ”%(R
impact on the profit or loss. BREEERNEEEREKR(ZTE=—
F:5%) AaHBEERBKERREE
ZHERTE -
2022 2021
—E=-CZ —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FET
Euro BT (40) 1,050
Renminbi AR 1,844 2,149
In the managements opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative EEERAE BRESTILREREK
of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure does B INE Hﬁ CTHERFERER TR
not reflect the exposure during the year. B 55 (4 [ f o
Fair value of financial assets and financial ctRHEERESRMEBSZAR
liabilities EBE
The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of RATEEDREBIREEK AR LGS BT
financial assets and liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the HRVNEZESMEERABBE 2 FEFAEHR
consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values. HAARBERS
SENEEESRAT —2-=—F5% 143
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT

6. WKk BEH

INFORMATION
(a) Revenue (@) W=
Revenue represents the amounts received and receivable for WHEAEERRIATELEE
goods sold and services provided by the Group to external EmEREERS 2B W & E K
customers. FRIE o
The revenue of the Group comprises the following: AREBZWHEBETHSIE
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THET FAT
(Restated)
(FgE5))
Revenue from contracts with customers EHKFRSE 165 &5 F A 41z
within the scope of HKFRS 15 Revenue HEAZEFPAH KA
from Contracts with Customers
Sales of cultural products $HE XL E M@ 3,238 -
Technology — Sales of surveillance B —EEREHE
equipment 44 571
Technology — Design and sales of B —i& st R E Al B A RE
renewable energy SN
products and solutions 6,914 7,230
Trading of gasoil and related business KammE 5 MIEEERS 50,773 87,403
60,969 95,204
Income from vessel charter A & WA = 3,200
60,969 98,404
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

6. Wk EER@

(b) Segment information

The operating segments have been identified on the basis of
internal management reports prepared in accordance with
accounting policies conforming to HKFRSs, which are regularly
reviewed by the directors of the Company, being the chief
operating decision maker, for the purpose of allocating resources
to segments and assessing their performance. During the year
ended 30 June 2022, the Group ceased its existing system sales
and licensing and leasing of system products operations (“Those
Businesses”) upon the disposal of the shareholding in Kantone
Holdings Limited (“Kantone”). Those Businesses include
“Technology — System sales including software licensing and
services” and “Technology — Leasing of systems products”
which were classified as discontinued operations. Comparative
figures have been restated to reflect the cessation of Those
Businesses as discontinued operations, and segment information
in this note includes only continuing operations. In a manner
consistent with the way in which information is reported internally
to the chief operating decision maker, the Group has presented
the following five (2021: six) operating and reportable segments
under HKFRS 8 Operating Segments.

e Sales of cultural products includes income from trading of cultural

products

includes income from sales of
surveillance equipment

e Technology: Sales of -
surveillance equipment

e Technology: Renewable —
energy

includes income from design and sales
of renewable energy products and
solutions

e Trading of gasoil and —
related business

includes income from sales of gasoil
and income from vessel charter (shipping
business)

includes income from financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss

e Strategic investments

Segment results represent the profit or loss before taxation
recognised by each reportable segment, excluding gain or loss
on extension and early redemption of promissory note payable,
interest income, gain or loss on disposal of subsidiaries, fair value
gain or loss on investment properties, finance costs, unallocated
income and expenses such as certain administration costs etc.
This is the measure reported to the chief operating decision
maker for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance.

(b)

KESETIRERF AHKFRSZ &
AAEREmMEE 2 RSB R RS &
A THAAREEWEATEL
BREE)THEMUNEERT
ENBEYTHEERB -HE_T =
—EXNAZTBLEFEE  AEER
LEZREEERARATEEDR
B BUEEEEBAERRERN
& HUYRELHEES((2EE
¥ ZEXEBRBEIRE—ZRKH
HE(BRERSEHFFERRYE) M
(R —HERRERINES H
EHEBADRIECEER - R
BFEEY URMZEEKAD
RIPEBER  AHFHPNDEE
PESRFELEER - BTHR
BEBRLTELELREENEER
— 5 REEIZHKFRS E85R [ & &
SEIIEMTRE(ZE=—%:
NE)EERAIRERNHLE -

o HWEXEMm — BREX(LEME
HZBA
o BBCERR - ARHEEER
HZHE PA N
o HE:UBE - BERGLHE
AR UHLRREMR
RARZEBA
s RmHEZR — BREBEKDM
el e R AEE
EBEB) WA
e REUERE - BEEAOAEE
TABGEZ SR
BEZHA

DRFERSURE D BMER
ZEBENEMRER  TRELER
IR EEENAL SRR Z K
HER FERA - HEHBAR
ZWEHER REMEZAAE
BEREHER BB RKRD
flz WA R (METITBRAAR
F) o WUDATELERRERSE
ZAETR  UHEEHERD K

REHE DR -
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
|NFORMAT|0N (Continued)

(b) Segment information (Continued)

146

Information regarding the above segments is reported below:

6. WEKRDTEER @

b) 7EER @
BB PEENEZHRMT -

Trading of gasoil
Technology and related business
R RmnE S RERRE
Sales of Sales of Trading of
cultural ~ surveillance Renewable  Strategic  gasoiland  Shipping
products  equipment energy investments others business  Consolidated
HE B
Xt BERE EEES R REf ME
ER ZHE 23 RE T EY S g&
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR T#R TR TR TR
Year ended BZ-8--%
30 June 2022 ABE=THLEE
REVENUE §:
External and total revenue HIMHE REK S
Recognised at a point in time RE-BHER 3,238 44 6,289 - 50,773 - 60,344
Recognised over time BERER = = 625 - - - 625
3,238 44 6,914 - 50,773 - 60,969
RESULTS ES |
Segment result EES (581) (302) (3,444) (33,391) 2,225 - (35,493)
Loss on early redemption of promissory note 122 [l FE 1 A&
payable ZEER (1,384)
Interest income Y9N 2,251
Fair value loss on investment properties RENEZ DL BE
ER (1,566)
Finance costs BBRA (11,947)
Unallocated expenses, net FARET—FE (4411)
Loss before taxation from continuing RERELEEB L
operations BRRAER (52,610)
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)

(b) Segment information (Continued)

6. Wk EER@

(b) D EE R @)

Trading of gasoil
Technology and related business
BH KRaB s REEER
Sales of Sales of Trading of
cutural  surveilance  Renewable Strategic  gasoiland Shipping
products equipment energy  investments others business  Consolidated
wE ey
peld EREE B4 RE REM fiE
ER LHE B RE NES £% &e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FEL FEL FEL FEL THEL FEL
(Restated)
(mE31)
Year ended BE-Z--%
30 June 2021 AB=THLEE
REVENUE &
External and total revenue HNHERB YR
Recognised at a point in time RE-EEREZ = 571 7,230 = 87,403 = 95,204
Recognised over time BEEER - - - - - 3,200 3,200
— 571 7,230 - 87,403 3,200 98,404
RESULTS ES |
Segment result PREE 593 210 987 (30,493) 179 (7,016) (35,540)
Gain on extension of promissory note payable TR EfT A S EH5 2
gy 8,191
Interest income L ON 1928
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HENBARZER (726)
Fair value gain on investment properties RENEZ DR ER
L6 2,270
Finance costs BBKA (32,354)
Unallocated expenses, net FARFY-FE (9217)
Loss before taxation from continuing RABELLER 7 BHA
operations BR (65,448)
—
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6.

148

REVENUE AND SEGMENT
|NFORMAT|0N (Continued)

(b) Segment information (Continued)

Information regarding the above segments is reported below:

6. WEKRDTEER @

b) 7 EER @

BERLADBERZHAT :

Trading of gasoil
Technology and related business
B BmRE S REEER
Sales of Sales of Trading of
cultural  surveillance Renewable  Strategic  gasoil and Shipping
products  equipment energy investments others business Unallocated Consolidated
HE B
Xt EERE AB4E KHH  RHEM WiE
Em ZHE 8 IR RE WE3Z %% AAE &
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn FEx FEx TiER TiERn FEx FiEn FEx
Year ended Bz-%2--%
30 June 2022 AAZTHLEE
Amounts included in the measure of AR EDERHK
segment profit or loss: BREZEHE:
Depreciation of property, plant and M BEREEZ
equipment nE 14 9 165 269 - - 17 474
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FEHEEEZHE - - - 1,394 - - - 1,394
Fair value loss on financial assets at fair 18 /2 B{E A B %
value through profit or loss LEREEY
AnBEER - - - 13,863 - - - 13,863
Impairment losses on property, plantand 1%~ BE R R E 2
equipment REER - 192 1,768 92 - - - 2,052
Impairment losses on right-of-use assets £ FE & E 2
HEBR - - - 1,703 - - - 1,703
Impairment losses on finance lease FEYREREHREL
receivable REER = - - - - - 838 838
Reversal of impairment losses/(impairment 1 FE Ut E 5 | E b
losses recognised) for trade and other R 3% 2 R (E B 18
receivables &R/ (BRRE
E#E) @ (1) (49) - 919 - (25) 842
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
|NFORMAT|0N (Continued)

(b) Segment information (Continued)

6. Wk EER@

(b) P EER @

Sales of

HE

Trading of gasoil
Technology and related business
BE RehEsRER%B
Sales of Trading of
cutural  surveilance  Renewable Strategic  gasoiland Shipping
products equipment energy  investments others business  Consolidated
R
Xt EERAE ek RRE KAt g
ZHE BER e nEs #% Fa

Ef

HK$'000 HK$'000

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

ThET TR THT TR THT THT THT
(Restated)
(mE3)
Year ended BE-Z--%
30 June 2021 ABETHLEEE
Amounts included in the measure of segment B i A B RFIHER
profit or loss: £8:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1% - BiE RABZTE 9 10 R 305 - 1,302 1,718
Depreciation of right-of-use assets RRREELHE = = - 1460 - - 1,460
Fair value loss on financial assets at fair value  $272A # BB ABH 24
through profit or loss EEZAABEFR - = = 14,576 = & 14,576
Impairment losses of property, plant and nE- BERZEL
equipment REBE = 5 = - - 7,382 7,382
Impairment losses of trade and other FEWE 5 REMERAE
receivables J5p| = - = = 1122 - 1122
Reversal of impairment losses recognised for 5t 77 & B Ak {E B 18
inventories B Y] = = = = - 42

No information about segment assets and liabilities is presented
as such information is not regularly provided to the chief
operating decision maker for resource allocation and
performance assessment purposes.

MR ERERD R R RIR G
EHMIZLLERRERHTEH
DHEERABNER MUK
SIBREH
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
|NFORMAT|0N (Continued)

6. WEKRDTEER @

(c) Geographical information i EE R

(c)

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue
and non-current assets by location of customers and by location

of assets respectively:

AEBEDRREFPREEMEH
BnzBERkERBEED NS
IR TR :

Revenue Non-current assets (Note)
e == FREBEE (MEE)
Year ended 30 June As at 30 June
BZEZXABE=1THLEE RAA=+AH
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-= S U —E-= T —4F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FET THET FET
(Restated)
(FE5))
The People’s Republic of A1 & A R 2L 7N
China (the “PRC”) (A -
including Hong Kong BEESKERM
and Macau 60,969 98,404 81,543 91,961
Europe (mainly United BN (EZHHE
Kingdom (“UK”) and (T%E ) &)
Germany) - — - 38,885
60,969 98,404 81,543 130,846

Note: Non-current assets exclude the Group’s interest in an associate.

(d)

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing
over 10% of the total sales of the Group are as follows:

M3 IERBEET A W — R
YN FE TP

d EBEEFEFZEH

REEFEMNASEEERER
BI0O% 2 EPRZIAT ¢

2022 2021

—E-= —E-—4F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHET

Customer A Z2EA 27,823 87,403
Customer B ZF5B 22,949 —

Customer A and B contributed revenue from sales of gasoail
during the years ended 30 June 2022 and 2021.
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7. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES 7.

HltA - WaEmREE

2022 2021
—E-CfF —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
(Restated)
(Fg&E5))
Continuing operations BEREER
Interest income AW A 2,251 1,928
Exchange (loss)/gain, net BE 5 (E518) Wz 5 58 (7 829
Gain on extension of promissory note payable EREMNAEZE 2 WS
(note 34) (P 7534) = 8,191
Loss on early redemption of promissory note RATELEMNEARLZERZER
payable (note 34) (FF5E34) (1,384) =
Others H b 1,393 1,231
2,253 12,179
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. MIHA
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FET
(Restated)
('EE5)
Continuing operations SECE T
Interest on interest bearing other borrowing SFEHEMEEZFA 9,740 25,802
Interest on promissory note payable B AN ZEE 2R B 2,137 6,380
Interest on leases HEZF B 70 172
11,947 32,354
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9. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 9. RRBAIE B

152

2022 2021
—E—-= —5=—
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHERT FET
(Restated)
(FeE75)
Loss before taxation from continuing operations K B B & E ¥ 2 R TR AT E 1B
has been arrived at after charging/(crediting): TG,/ (Gt A) LA TRIEB
EE
Directors’ remuneration (note 10(a)) FE=H<e (H3E10@) 6,932 7,058
Staff costs excluding directors’ remuneration BEKRA(TEBIEEEZE) 9,404 9,163
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RABHFEIHZE(EEHRIN
other than directors (note 35) (Bt 5£35) 201 221
Total staff costs B BN A 4R 16,537 16,442
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment,  #1% - B &R E 2 & (BT A
included in general and administrative — M RATEE HA) (MiE16)
expenses (note 16) 474 1,718
Depreciation of right-of-use assets included in FRAEEEZ2TE GFA— KR
general and administrative expenses (note 17) TR HA) (ME17) 1,394 1,460
Short term leases EEHE 360 52
Loss on disposal of an investment property HEREVMENEE = 120
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE  BERRME 2K
equipment - (55)
Auditors remuneration 1% SR B
— Audit service — 1% EAD AR 7 1,150 1,628
— Other services — HiR% 499 350
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense ERRAEIHZTFERAE 52,906 85,948
Direct operating expenses relating to HICEMEERCEERLERS
investment properties 46 45
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HE-_ZT - XA =+HILEE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

10. DIRECTORS REMUNERATION,
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENTS EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors and chief executive’s
remuneration

Directors emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefit of Directors) Regulation
are as follows:

Year ended 30 June 2022

10.EEME  EE5H AL
KEeEdREEEME

(@ EERESTHRARZ
o =
BB BB D 7 ) F383(1) R B
A(RBEEMRER) ROIH2
B RBIEEMSHT -

BE-ZE-__EXA=1THLEE

Defined
contributions
and
Performance retirement
Salaries related benefit Total
and other incentive scheme directors
Fees benefits payments contributions emoluments
REMAR
ek RIERE BREF EZHe
e HBERN Kz HE-LEE: BE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TER TER TER TER
(note (ii))
(B 2 (i))
Executive directors HTES
Ms. Wong Man Winny (note (i) B L (M)
— the Company e WNE] 3,456 - - 18 3,474
— Kantone —Z8R - - - - -
3,456 - - 18 3,474
Mr. Wu Yun Jing (note (v)) RAFEEMZEWVY)
— the Company W] - - - - -
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Liu Ka Lim (note () and note (vi)) /2 5 ¥ 5 4 (i 33 () A0
B 5 (vi))
— the Company e NG| 2,400 - 200 18 2,618
— Kantone -8 - - - - -
2,400 - 200 18 2,618
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10. DIRECTORS REMUNERATION,

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENTS EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) Directors and chief executive’s

10.EEM & BaH AL
FEREEEME w

@ EERBEEITHRARELZ

remuneration (Continued) [ EAC )
Defined
contributions
and
Performance retirement
Salaries related benefit Total
and other incentive scheme directors
Fees benefits payments contributions emoluments
REMAR
FeR RBRIERE BIREF EEZHe
He HtEd BRoRe AR we
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
THET THET TERT TER TER
(note (ii))
(B 2 (i)
Ms. To Yin Fong Cecilica (note () #t #F 3% £z + (B £ (i)
— the Company /N 480 - - - 480
— Kantone -8R 160 - - - 160
640 - - - 640
Independent non-executive BUEBTES
directors
Mr. Leung Man Fai (note (i) 2B ()
— the Company . WNE] 120 - - - 120
— Kantone - 28 40 - - - 40
160 - - - 160
Mr. Chan Yik Hei 5% &%
— the Company /N 120 - - - 120
Mr. Wong Yuk Man Edmand BEBEXEE
— the Company /N 120 - - - 120
6,896 - 200 36 7,132
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10. DIRECTORS REMUNERATION,

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR

10.EEM & BaH AL
FEREEEME w

MANAGEMENTS EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) Directors and chief executive’s

(@ EERBEEITHRARZ

remuneration (Continued) M < @
Year ended 30 June 2021 BE-ZE-_—HX~XA=1+HL
FE
Defined
contributions
and
Performance retirement
Salaries related benefit Total
and other incentive scheme directors
Fees benefits payments  contributions  emoluments
REHEFK
ek RIERHA RIKEF EE
we HoRd ZEHeo®fd FrEl R ek
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET THET TET THET
(note (ii))
(Bt 7 i)
Executive directors HITEE
Ms. Wong Man Winny (note (i) Bt (M)
— the Company N 3,456 = 202 18 3,676
— Kantone —E8 — — — = =
3,456 — 202 18 3,676
Mr. Liu Ka Lim BEREE
(note () and note (vi) GEIGRHEI)
— the Company i W/NE] 800 — 67 6 873
— Kantone — &R — — — — =
800 — 67 6 873
Non-executive directors FEUTES
Mr. Liu Ka Lim BEREE
(note (i) and note (vi)) (PR % ()0 B 5 (vi))
— the Company e WNE] 1,600 - 133 10 1,743
Ms. To Yin Fong Cecilica (note () #F 3= £ £ (Bt 5% ()
— the Company i /NG 480 - — - 480
— Kantone —ER 480 - - — 480
2,560 — 133 10 2,703
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10. DIRECTORS REMUNERATION,
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENTS EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) Directors and chief executive’s

156

10.EEM & BaH AL
FEREEEME w

@ EERBEEITHRARELZ

remuneration (Continued) [ EAC )
Defined
contributions
and
Performance retirement
Salaries related benefit Total
and other incentive scheme directors
Fees benefits payments  contributions  emoluments
REHEFK
ek RIERHA RIKEF EEMe
we Hasd BReRe BIELEE A ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THET THT
(note (ii))
(GE0)
Mr. Chan Sung Wai (note (vii) PR =08 5 & (B 5 (vii))
— the Company /N 166 - — - 166
Independent non-executive BUFBTES
directors
Mr. Leung Man Fai RNIERAE
— the Company /NG 120 - — — 120
— Kantone — &R 120 — — - 120
240 — — — 240
Mr. Chan Yik Hei BRo%EEE
— the Company . NG| 120 - — — 120
Mr. Wong Yuk Man Edmand HEAXEE
— the Company /N 120 - - - 120
7,462 — 402 34 7,898
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10. DIRECTORS REMUNERATION,
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENTS EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) Directors and chief executive’s
remuneration (Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

The director is also a director of Kantone Holdings Limited (“Kantone”),
a listed subsidiary of the Company which was disposed on 9 November
2021 (note 11).

The performance related incentive payment is discretionary as
recommended by the remuneration committee of the Company having
regard to the Group’s financial results and performance of the directors
of the Company.

The remuneration for non-executive directors comprises directors fees
and other emoluments which vary with the number of committees in
which they serve.

During both years, no emolument was paid by the Group to any of the
directors of the Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or retirement from employment with the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. None of the directors of the Company
had waived any emoluments in both years.

Mr. Wu Yun Jing has been appointed on 24 June 2022 as an executive
director of the Company.

Mr. Liu Ka Lim has been re-designated as a non-executive director of
the Company and Kantone with effect from 23 October 2020. The
remuneration had been approved by the human resources and
remuneration committee of the Company on the same day.

Mr. Chan Sung Wai retired on 17 December 2020 as a non-executive
director of the Company.

Salaries, allowance and benefits in kind paid to or for the
executive directors and non-executive directors are generally
emoluments paid or receivable in respect of those persons other
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and its subsidiaries.

Director fee paid to independent non-executive directors were for
their services as directors of the Company.

10.EEM & BaH AL
FEREEEME w

@ EERESITHRAEZ
[ EAC )

G

U

(i)

(i)

)

(vi)

(vii)

ZEENAEREEERARA(E
BES BBERARFAZLEM
MEBLR BEERAIER-F=—
Frt—ANBHEFIFEN) -

BIGERAERZIREBEHE®
B mARBEZHEMERE GRS
YSEAEEYBEERARBE
ETEREMERE -

FRTEEIHERRBEERER
HiMe SFEEHEZZRE
BEMAMTR -

PRRESE AR N EERERE
MARBREENME  fERBM
ARE B RN AR E B 2 52
HEAKE R ERERBEREE-
MEFEA BEARANEFTHR
EABE -

RABELEER _TE-_—_F A=
+THBEEZETARARRITES -

BERAEBER-ZZE-TF+A=
T=ZRREREARBALEFEBIIEH
TEFE - ZFHMERRALARAR
ANBREHFWNEZEEHEZBE -

REREEER-_Z=TF+=A
T ERARERRBFFRITES -

AATEERFATESTIAK
BT2HE RRIEYEN R
BRZEFEATRFEREEEARQA
REMBARIEH AR HAM
Rz BEME -

ARBRBILIATESTEELA
RAEEMMEINEZHRE -

BEMNREEERLF
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10. DIRECTORS REMUNERATION, 10.E85ME - BEEHF AL

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENTS EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b) Employees with highest emoluments

The five highest paid individuals of the Group included two (2021:
two) directors of the Company. Details of the emoluments of
those directors for the year ended 30 June 2022 and 2021
during their directorship period are set out above. The aggregate
emoluments of the three (2021: three) highest paid employees of
the Group, not being directors of the Company, are as follows:

FEREEEME w

b) BEEFEES
rEBREERHFALTERBRE
MB(CEZ—F WB)ARRE
E-RSEEEHE_T-_—_FR_-
E-—EXA=+tHILFEEEH
EEHECMEeFBEIR LXK
SEEB=R(ZTE=Z—F:=4)
EaERE(YHEEARAESR)Z

B BRI T ¢
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FHET
Salaries and other benefits 4o REMEF 3,156 3,842
Performance related incentive payments 1R T{ERIBER 2 E4 — 872
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RAKAE F 5T &4 30 54 155
3,210 4,869

Emolument of three (2021: three) employees were within the
following band:

ZHR(CE—F =ZR)EEZM
N FTIEE :

Number of employees

EE A
2022 2021
B —E-—4F
HK$500,001-HK$1,000,000 500,001 7 7t—1,000,0007% 7T 2 —
HK$1,000,001-HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 7 JT—1,500,000 % 7T 1 —
HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 /& 7t —2,000,000% 7T = 3

There were no amounts paid during the year (2021: Nil) to the
five highest paid employees in connection with their retirement
from employment with the Group, or inducement to join.
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11. (LOSS)/GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF M. EHENBARZ

SUBSIDIARIES

Year ended 30 June 2021

Disposal of Champion Energy Logistics Co Ltd (the
“Disposed Subsidiary”)

On 9 February 2021, Lucky Global Group Limited (the “Vendor C”), a
direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and Grandway
International Marine Limited (the “Purchaser C”), an independent third
party, entered into a sale and purchase agreement, in which the
Purchaser C would acquire the entire issued share capital of the
Disposed Subsidiary as at completion date at a cash consideration of
HK$20,180,000. The consideration was fully settled on 2 March 2021.

The transaction was completed on 26 February 2021, the collective
carrying amount of net assets disposed of amounting to
HK$20,456,000, mainly representing the vessel included in property,
plant and equipment of HK$20,601,000 and other receivables of
HK$204,000 and other payables of HK$349,000. The net loss on
disposal of a subsidiary after deducting the direct cost amounted to
HK$726,000. The net inflow arising from disposal of the Disposed
Subsidiary was HK$19,730,000.

(EB1#]), =

BEx_ZT-_-FXA=TH
Ik FE

LERBEREREYRERAA(E
EMBE AR

RZE-Z—F-_ANA RERIKEE
ERAR(EACH(ARAMEE SR
EWBRAR) RAIBEBEMABRR A
([EACH(—2BIE=R)FTVUESE
Wk o BIEZ R - BEACHERTA A
UREBELEMNBRARMNE I ET
B 7 - 3R & {8 £20,180,00078 7T » K (&
R-_ZE-_—F=F_B&2HER-

ZRHGN=—_ZE=-_—F=-_F=+H
EKCOCHEFEENKRERGEAES
20,456,000 7T T EHEFT AME - |
B K 5% & & f5 #720,601,00058 7T~ E 1th
JE Y2 5% 18 204,000% 7T K H fth fE - 5% 18
349,000 7T » HE M B A 7/ FEEN
B B B K A 1 A726,00008 T o & H
€K B A R E 4B F R A A&19,730,000
BT o
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11. (LOSS)/GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF MEENBRARZ
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) (B 18) W= mw
Year ended 30 June 2022 BE-ZFE-_-_FX<A=tH
IEFE
On 31 May 2021, Innovative City Investments Limited (the “Purchaser”’), R-ZE-_—FRHA=+—H HAIKE
an independent third party and the Company entered into a sale and EREARI(ER]) —&BUE=H)HA
purchase agreement, pursuant to which the Purchaser conditionally ARARGIVNEER#H Bt BXEK
agreed to acquire and the Company conditionally agreed to sell the iR EREMAR T FGIEGEBREREZ T
128,137,958 Kantone’s ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each in the issued £128,137,958 R BB E BT AT I
share capital of Kantone (“Kantone Shares”), representing HEI BT EBAR(EERM] - 18
approximately 59.04% of the entire issued share capital of Kantone, the EREBAKRAREEIFEZEHABANE
Company’s direct non-wholly owned subsidiary. The disposal Nal) B E B BT IR A #59.04% ° % H
(“Disposal”) was completed on 9 November 2021. E((HEeEEE ) ER -_E-_—F+—A4
NBATEK °
HK$’000
T T
Property, plant and equipment Y WERZE 41,707
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 3,471
Inventories FE 21,466
Trade and other receivables FEUE 5 K H h BR K 27,868
Tax recoverable FE U B R 308
Cash and cash equivalents HehkBReEH 114,292
Trade and other payables BN E S REAMIRR (60,435)
Contract liabilities EHEE (17,167)
Lease liabilities HEBE (3,546)
Warranty provision REERE (1,166)
Amount due to a director BN —R2EEHE (2,180)
Tax payables FEAS R IR (27)
Retirement benefit obligations IR AR AR F A (13,142)
Net assets disposed of HENFEE 111,449
Consideration received 2R E 59,072
Add: reclassification of the cumulative amount of n:EBEREBMBRBANELGERT
the translation reserve related to Kantone Group CRH2EBEFHE 8,090
Less: net assets disposed of BHENFEEE (111,449)
Add: non-controlling interests derecognised b AR RE TR FEFE AR AR R A 5 45,650
Less: cost associated with the disposal B e HERE A A AR (1,748)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR ZEIE (385)
Net cash outflows arising on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AR FRERD (56,968)
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12. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

As disclosed in note 11, the Group completed the disposal of 59.04%
equity interest of Kantone on 9 November 2021, Kantone ceased to be
a subsidiary of the Company upon the completion of the Disposal.

The principal business and activities of Kantone and its subsidiaries
(together “Kantone Group”) are sales of systems products, software
licensing and customisation, leasing of systems products and trading of
cultural products. Upon completion of the disposal of shareholding in
Kantone Group, the Group ceased to sell to Europe those system
products, software licensing and customisation leasing of system
products businesses that are used to be sold by the Kantone Group.
Accordingly, the activities related to Those Businesses were classified
as discontinued operations.

The profit for the period from the discontinued operations is set out
below. The comparative figures in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income have been restated to re-
present the result of sales of systems products, software licensing and
customisation, leasing of systems products business as discontinued
operations.

12 Ell\\ lt%gé""*ﬁ%

MMM E T HE AEER T - —
F+—ANBZERLE R BNGS.04% K
B-LEFHEZKEK BBETBERAR
GO PNG!

EAREMBRAA (GBI EEEE]D W
FTEXBREDARERFERES
PHEERRBERNE P E ZE 82
gH UAREERRERRXLEME
%°E%Wﬁﬁgﬁ%5%%&'$%

EREHEEZEBEZhEREEEE
E’J/\,}bzuu CHHERERSENEFPE
FERMMMERG  URHERGE®
EBAEOM Bt ZEXEBERIER
ERIEREET -

EREREXBORAENEINT -
FeEalEtEEKEROLBRAT
ETAUES USRS EMBEE - M
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12. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continues)  12. B #& 1 & & 2 & ()

162

The profit for the period/year from discontinued operations: B4R & 2 EE RS A
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAT
Revenue g 41,302 139,069
Cost of sales 55 & A A (17,233) (55,793)
Gross profit £ F 24,069 83,276
Other income, gains and losses Ha g A -~ Yo zs BB 900 2,685
Distribution costs 53 88 BX AN (8,881) (25,685)
General and administrative expenses — R RITE S (12,603) (47,333)
Finance costs B 75 X AR (30) (248)
Profit before taxation B B2 A o A 3,455 12,695
Income tax expenses Frisfi sz i (192) (1,665)
Profit for the period/year from discontinued ERIEEEEBOE FREF
operations 3,263 11,030
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations, HEERIEEEEKNEIR
net of tax (MR BIE) (385) -
Profit for the period/year from discontinued BRIEEEEBHEF NE T
operations 2,878 11,030
Cash flows from discontinued operations REERIEKEXEBNIRERE
Net cash generated from operating activities KEESMEEA RS FHE 5,743 18,145
Net cash generated from/(used in) investing KR EHFAELS (FR)2ES
activities F 8 1,894 (3,302)
Net cash used in financing activities REEEERCHEESFHE (881) (1,675)
Net cash increase in cash and cash equivalents IR& NIB&EEE 2 MNIE € F5 6,756 13,168
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME BEMRETE 2,893 7,243
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 1,112 2,906
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense GFERAERAEAX 6,199 22,455
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HE-_ZT - XA =+HILEE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

PA
13. INCOME TAX 13. FT &8
2022 2021
B8 T4
HK$’000 HK$’'000
T FHET
(Restated)
(eE5)
Current tax: BV EARR IR :

— PRC enterprise income tax —H B EASH 845 1,373
— Hong Kong profits tax —BENEH 184 179
1,029 1,652

Over provision in prior years: BEFE 2 BREEE

— Hong Kong profits tax —EENEB (10) -
Deferred tax: IRIERT I -

— (Credited)/charged for the year —FRUKR) /& (591) 972
Income tax expense Fri§ % i 428 2,524
Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) BERABECEMSHRE(TEERER
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC EDREGEMGHIABREH  REZ
subsidiaries is 25% for both years. For income generated in the PRC M@ AR RMERNZHES RB25% - B
eamned by subsidiaries incorporated outside the PRC is subject to R B 3% AN o 1 AR 32 B BT B R B 7E P B &
withholding tax at 10% (2021: 10%). BHRABIRION(ZEZ —F :10%)

BUNTESORL o
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) on the BEREMSRIDAURBE BB 2 Bt ERT
estimated assessable profits derived from Hong Kong. A E16.5% (ZF = — 4 : 16.5%) 2%t
EEHH -
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BE_

13 INCOME TAX (Continued)

T —_FXXA=+HIFE FORTHE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

13.

The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the loss before taxation per
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income as follows:

EH @

AFEZREEGABEZREME2 AR
m%Z%ﬁﬁEﬁﬂ%@T-

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—fF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHER FHET
(Restated)
(EE5))
Loss before taxation bR A B 1B (52,610) (65,449)
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5% BREENEHE16.5%
(2021: 16.5%) ZT = —%:16.5%)
E—I— g 7 BiE (8,680) (10,799)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries B H Ath B VA b [ 48 2 2 BB A A
operating in other jurisdiction ZTEBE & 440 233
Tax effect of income exempted or not subject to  FA H b 7] )% b [ 1 A G B R =k
taxation in other jurisdiction BARKBAZHBTE (163) (222)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax BARBE BN 2AZ 2
puUrposes s e 3,384 4,028
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERBIBEE 2 MB 2 5,691 8,149
Over provision in respect of prior years HAFEBEMNBEEE (10) -
Tax effect of two-tier tax rate MABABEOBGE (165) -
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised 2 [ i@ & R FE R ~ B 18 &5 18 = (41)
Others EAfh (69) 1,176
Income tax expense for the year FARMFHE 428 2,524

14. DIVIDENDS

14,

No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended 30 June
2022 nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of reporting

period (2021: Nil).

164
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HE-_ZT - XA =+HILEE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

15. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 15. 8% (B1E) B
The calculation of basic loss per share attributable to owners of the RKABIHEEANEBEZERERNEEB IR
Company is based on the following data: BETRAERTE :
2022 2021
B8 —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAT
(Restated)
(&%)
For continuing operations: R E T
Loss for the year attributable to owners ARAREEAEBRAFEEEIE
of the Company (52,410) (68,522)
For discontinued operations: EARIE ST
Profit for the year attributable to owners NARIEE ABERFEERF
of the Company 1,541 8,700
Number of ordinary shares HARKGDEA '000 ‘000
T T &
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for s+ & G RE A (1) B 2 &
the purpose of basic (loss)/earnings per share BAR M E T 5 & 1,850,956 790,781
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share for the years ended 30 June 2022 and HREBEE_E_—_FrR_ZE-_—F,XA
2021 were the same as the basic (loss)/earnings per share as there =t+HLFEETEERTEEL B
were no potential ordinary shares outstanding during both years. WREEEzSREE(ER) BHE

FREXR(BR) /AFIHER -
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166

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16. 5% BERRE

Plant and
machinery
and Furniture
Land and communications and Motor
buildings networks fixtures  vehicles Vessel Total
BE BER
tHREF BEAZ BRMR%E AE i Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$000
TET FHET Tar TAT TER TAT
(note (i))
(BtE@)
Cost BA&
At 1 July 2020 R-ZZ-_ZF+A—-A 14,191 276,140 8,093 1,962 33,499 333,885
Currency realignment R 1,412 32,075 312 = — 33,799
Additions NE - 11,554 - - - 11,554
Disposals/written off HE /M = (221) = = = (221)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 1) {H & Hi B 24 & (£ 11) - - - —  (33499) (33499
At 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021 H-ZE-—E,A=+H
k—F-—%tHA—H 15,603 319,548 8,405 1,962 - 345,518
Currency realignment B 5 3 & (94) (2,331) @1) = = (2,446)
Additions NE 6,452 4,522 28 — — 11,002
Disposals/written off HE /i - (96) - - - (96)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 11) & it & 22 & (A 7E11) (21,961) (317,665) (116) - - (339,742
At 30 June 2022 R-E-—# A=+H - 3,978 8,296 1,962 — 14,236
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. ¥ - BME R &% @

(Continued)

Plant and
machinery
and Furniture
Land and communications and Motor
buildings networks fixtures  vehicles Vessel Total
BE HER
tHREF BEAZ BARSE RE i @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TAEL TEL TER THET FTET
(note (i)
i)
Depreciation and impairment FERBE
At 1 July 2020 R-_ZE-ZT&+HF—H 4,345 257,268 7,536 1,962 4,214 275,325
Currency realignment i 5 A% 247 29,731 269 - - 30,247
Provided for the year FEREE - 7,406 253 - 1,302 8,961
Impairment losses recognisedin -~ A B PR R EFE
profit or loss (note (i) (B3 () = — - - 7,382 7,382
Eliminated on disposals/written off & /i 54 B i % - (76) - - = (76)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 11) &Mt B2 & (Fi = 11) = = = — (12898 (12,899
At30June 2021 and 1 July 2021  R=-ZT-—FA=1H
k-F=-—-%tH—H 4,592 294,329 8,058 1,962 — 308,941
Currency realignment R (18) (2,181) (19) - - (2,218)
Provided for the year FERNEE 65 3,070 232 — - 3,367
Eliminated on disposals/written off & /#i 44 B i % - (74) - - = (74)
Impairment losses recognised in A B % R RER K0 R B F 1B
profit or loss (note 18) (B3E18) - 1,990 62 - - 2,052
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 11) €& it & 24 &) (Fif 7E11) (4,639) (293,280) (116) = —  (298,035)
At 30 June 2022 RZE-_—FA=1H = 3,854 8,217 1,962 = 14,033
Carrying values REE
At 30 June 2022 R-E-_—FxA=FH - 124 79 - - 203
At 30 June 2021 RZE-_—F F=1H 11,011 25,219 347 - - 36,577
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

16. ¥  BEKRXRE@

2022 2021

-2 —E - —F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FAT
The carrying values of the Group’s property AEBE ¥ EREAERRE:

interests comprise:

Freehold properties held outside Hong Kong REBUINBRIFHEKAEREZ

(note (ii) ) % (B = i) = 11,011
Notes: Bt 5

(i)

(i)

168

The Group leased equipment to customers on operating leases terms that
ranged from 1 year to 6 years . As at 30 June 2021, the carrying value of such
equipment, which was included in plant and machinery and communications
networks amounted to HK$273,000. Such equipment had been disposed as
the Group disposed Kantone during the year.

As at 31 December 2020, the management considered it appropriate to
estimate the recoverable amount of the vessel based on the net realisable value
as assessed by an independent valuer, Stirling Appraisal Limited. As the carrying
amount of the vessel exceeded its recoverable amount, an impairment loss of
approximately HK$7,382,000 was recognised for the year ended 30 June 2021.
The vessel was subsequently disposed on 26 February 2021 (note 11).

As at 30 June 2021, property, plant and equipment of the Group with the
aggregate carrying amounts of HK$11,011,000 have been pledged as
collaterals for the defined benefit retirement scheme of certain subsidiaries
operated in UK.
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HE -

RZZE_TF+_A=+—H BEER
RBEB LB ER P ETEBRA BN
A SR FEMGT MM R E S ER
HER - AR MMEEEEBE T RE S
BHOHE-Z - FANAZt+RHLFER
R (B B 18 497,382,000 7T o % M A BE &
ER-TE-_—F-AF -+ B#HHEH
FE11) -
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17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

17.FHREEE

Land and Motor
buildings vehicles Total
T RIETF RE B
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHET FHET
Carrying amount FELHE
At 1 July 2020 R-B-ZZTHF+H—H 3,558 3,314 6,872
Additions NE — 2,911 2,911
Depreciation expense WEEH (2,063) (2,303) (4,3606)
Exchange adjustments B 5, 3 & 86 322 408
At 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021 R-ZZE-_—FXHA=+H
Z2-FE-_—FtH—H 1,581 4,244 5,825
Additions NE 1,743 307 2,050
Depreciation expense WEER (1,490) (1,016) (2,5006)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 11) HEWB AR (M) (130) (3,341) (3,471)
Impairment losses (note 18) B EE B (M 3E18) (1,703) = (1,703)
Exchange adjustments PE 7 & (1) (26) 27)
At 30 June 2022 R-—B-—#XA=+H - 168 168
For the year ended 30 June 2022 BE-_ZE—-_—
REA=Z+HLEE
Expense relating to short-term leases HI/EHIHE R EMAEHR
and other leases with lease term HHER HHEEHE
ended within 12 months 1218 B A4 R 360 — 360
Total cash outflow for leases HEReRLRRE 2,089 1,070 3,159
For the year ended 30 June 2021 BE-_ZT-_—&¢
RE=Z+THLEE
Expense relating to short-term leases HEHHESE R EMBES
and other leases with lease term HHER - HHESHE
ended within 12 months 128 A W& R 1,466 630 2,096
Total cash outflow for leases HMERS R LEE 3,356 2,944 6,300
BENEEEERAT —B-—#%% 169



e MWK
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BHEZ
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17 RIGHT-OF'USE ASSETS (Continued)

18

170

For both years, the Group lease various offices and motor vehicles for
its operations. Lease contracts are entered into fixed term of 1 to 8
years (2021: 1 to 8 years) but may have extension options included.
The Group applies judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably
certain to exercise the option to renew. That is, it considers all relevant
factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise the renewal
option. After the lease commencement date, the Group reassesses the
lease term if there is significant event or change in circumstances that
in beyond its control and affects its ability to exercise (or not to exercise)
the option to renew (e.g. a change in business strategy). As the Group
considered the exercise of the extension option is uncertain, therefore
the lease term does not include the extension option. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of difference
terms and conditions.

As at 30 June 2022, the carrying value of motor vehicles includes an
amount of HK$168,000 (2021: HK$341,000) in respect of assets held
under hire-purchase.

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT OF
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

During the years ended 30 June 2022, the business performance of the
renewable energy segment and sale of surveillance equipment segment
were below expectation, the management of the Group concluded
there was indication for impairment and performed impairment
assessment on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets.

The Group estimates the recoverable amounts of the relevant segment,
which are considered as individual CGUs to which the assets belong.
The recoverable amounts of the above CGUs have been determined on
the basis of value in use.

The value in use calculations use cash flow projections based on the
latest financial budgets approved by the management of the Company
covering a 5-year period at pre-tax discount rates of 13%. Cash flow
projection during the budget period was based on the operating costs,
budgeted sales, growth rate and gross margin during the budget
period and the budgeted sales and budgeted margin have been
determined based on past performance and management’s
expectations for the future changes in the market.
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HE-_ZT - XA =+HILEE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

18. IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT OF
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

Based on the result of the assessment, the directors of the Company
determine that the recoverable amount of the CGUs is lower than the
aggregate carrying amount of the CGUs and impairment of
HK$3,755,000 was provided for the year ended 30 June 2022. The
impairment amount has been allocated to each category of property,
plant and equipment, and right-of-use assets, such that the carrying
amount of each category of asset is not reduced below the highest of
its fair value less cost of disposal and its value in use. Accordingly, the
Group recognised impairment losses on property, plant and equipment,
and right-of-use assets of HK$2,052,000 (2021: Nil) and HK$1,703,000
(2021: Nil) respectively during the year 30 June 2022.

18. M5 - BB K=& BA

REREEENRE
T 18 )

BEFHER ARRESBTEER
EEMNHTKREEERRNESREE
NHAEESHE TEHZE-_Z ==

N A=+ B 1k F E fE H3,755,000% 7T
HREIR - BRESHECIRESEY
¥ BERIEURERAEEE &
BEENEREDETERIEERREQTF
BERLEXAREABENTSE-
At BE—_T-_—FA=1THItE
E AEECHERUE BERZEMN
N A A ¥ & E /)R E E5 18 9 512,052,000
B (ZT = —F ¢ £) K%1,703,0007% 7T
—EZ—F )

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 19. REW =

Properties
located in
the PRC
B ¥
HK$’000
FAET
Carrying value at 1 July 2020 RZEBEZZTFLA-RAZEHEE 44,210
Currency realignment PE 5 58 & 3,542
Fair value gain on investment properties WEWEZ BEK 2,270

Carrying value at 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021 RZE-_—FXA=1tHBHRK
—E--FtLtA-AZKHEE 50,022
Currency realignment I 5 (1,181)
Fair value loss on investment properties HEWMEZ AABEEBRE (1,566)
Carrying value at 30 June 2022 R-ZB-Z_FXA=+HZEHE 47,275
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19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continueq) 19. R E Y ¥ )

Note:

As of 30 June 2022 and 2021, the Group has 2 pieces of leasehold land with
contractual lease terms expiring in 2032 and 2043 with a hotel property being erected
on the 2 pieces of leasehold land and with a tenancy agreement with a hotel operator,
the Group receives fixed rental from the hotel operator during the lease term, expiring
near the end of the contractual lease term of one of the leasehold land (i.e. 2033). The
abovementioned leasehold land and hotel property mainly included 2 elements: one
was a finance lease receivable (note 22) representing the right to receive rental from
the hotel operator till the end of lease term (i.e. 2033) and the other was an investment
property representing interest in a leasehold land with the remaining lease term from
the end of the lease term with the hotel operator (i.e. 2033 to 2043).

As at 30 June 2022 and 2021, the fair value of the investment property element was
determined by adjusted market comparison approach by a) making reference to
comparable sales of bareland with lease term of 40 years; b) adjusted for the term
factor using the valuation technique to estimate value of bareland with lease term of 10
years as at 2033; and c) take into account the time value of money at discount rate of
6.5% and 6% from 2033 to 30 June 2022 and 2021 respectively. As at 30 June 2022,
the fair value of related investment properties amounted to HK$5,151,000 (2021:
HK$5,170,000). The fair value as at 30 June 2022 and 2021 was performed by an
independent firm of professional valuers, Stirling Appraisals Limited by using adjusted
market comparable method.

The fair value of other investment properties of the Group amounted to HK$42,124,000
(2021: HK$44,852,000) as of 30 June 2022 have also been valued by Stirling Appraisal
Limited, by using direct comparison method.

172  ChampionTechnology Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022

GO

REBE_T-__FR-_Z=_—FA=1tHILEF
E AEESERRBAE T (EAHNBEEHRR
T ER-ZTN=FER)  ARERFEHR
HETHZ FNBEEME BAEEEERILZ
MEBIENELEF —BRAEL AN HE
HAERKISHEIZZ==F) -REEHHE " &
EEAEESERERETHRS B LR AE
T ERBENEETZRERESS  —EHEK
MEMERE(MF22) KA OEEERESR
HERBEZREHRMA_S==F)N#EH
S—EREEME RTEBEEEBZALNMA
RGN E==FE_ZTWN=F)Z2HT
HEMAE i -

RoE-——GER-—_FE-——&~XA=+H 8BEY
EBHOAARBENEANCHABZ TS LB EE
ERAEBHNBERBBE R TER)
LA A40FEMMNEE : b) KA B ERMH
FHRARFELABRUMEFAR S ==FFHA10
FMEMER: R)KIREBENRBEEES =
= =FE T __FR-_T-_—%FXA=T+H
IR AL IR K 6.5% R6.0%:THE - AR EYEN =
T_—_FXA=1+RHZAAREMEAR5151,000%
ﬁc%—f¢6www%ﬁwm:%::¢&
R FARNACStTBEZAABERBYEER
BEERPETHARARRALEAR 2 TS L BE
KTk

AREBR-_ZE-_—_FXA=THZHEMEEY
¥ 27 AR EEL21240008 (=T = — F:
44,852,000/ 7T) IR EFE AR A RE R E#E
L BOREITEE -



e B RREE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-_ZT - XA =+HILEE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

20. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 20. R —REBERNR 2=

2022 2021

—E-F —E-—%F

HK$°000 HK$’000

THET FHET

Unlisted shares, at cost JE LR - B AE 2 2

Share of post-acquisition losses e IR BB 12 B 1R = =

2 2

Particulars of the Group’s associate at 30 June 2022 and 2021 are as RZE - FRrR-_FT-_—FA=+H
follows: rEBZEERCEZHEBERT

Proportion of

Principal Class of nominal value of
Place of place of shares issued capital

Name of company incorporation  operation held held by the Group Principal activity

=E it 5L 2 FE iR rEEBRBEERT

GRS it 2 R i B B8R 17 %8 Bl R A E E 2 L B FEEW

2022 2021
—E-=-F —FT_——

Champion Oriana Power Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary 20% 20% Provision of solar
Management Limited energy and
(“Champion Oriana related products
Power”)

BEBENRSKBRAR BE e Rl 20% 20% HRHELREGREIA K
(IBEEHRKE] MR E m

Champion Oriana Power, the only associate in which the Group LT EERTEENERHZRETEAK

participates, is an unlisted corporate entity whose quoted market price ERE-—ZREJBEAT EXEME

is not available. AR o
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20. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 20.

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s interest in
an associate, which is prepared using accounting policies in conformity
with the accounting policies adopted by the Group and accounted for
using the equity method, is set out below:

R—EBEQAT 2EREm

AEER-—HBERRAZESEZMBEE
MEERESHERMBZETHE HE
AEBRRMAZETHBR -3 A@EHM
BERAEDEARR  EHE2EHINWAT

2022 2021

B —ET-—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Total assets BEEMAE 10 10
Total liabilities aE®RE (11) 6)
(1) 4

Revenue L& = =

Loss and total comprehensive expense AFEEBEEREE X HARE

for the year

(5) ©®)

21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 21.
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET F# T
Unlisted equity investment FEMRAEE

— Company A (note (i) — 2 AAHEE®) = —
Listed equity investments in Hong Kong (note (i) Z& & - /A& A< & & (Bt 5% (i) 21,985 41,893
21,985 41,893

Represented by: LATR 31| & I8 51 7R -
Current assets BN ER B {9 21,985 41,893
Non-current assets JEBNHAER 19 = =
21,985 41,893
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21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROF'T OR LOSS (Continued)

Notes:

(i)

On 29 March 2019, Allied Joy (Hong Kong) Limited (“Allied Joy”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company and two other independent third parties
established a company (defined as “Company A”), which was incorporated in
British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) with limited liability. Allied Joy subscribed for 25
ordinary shares of total US$250,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,965,000) of Company A. Pursuant to the Memorandum and Articles of
Association of Company A, it required more than 50% of the voting rights of
shareholders to pass all the resolution (including appointment and removal of
directors of Company A. The other two shareholders, together hold 75% of the
equity interests of Company A, have joint control over Company A and
appointed all directors in Company A. Upon the completion of the subscription,
the Group holds 25% of equity interest in Company A. The Group has no right
to appoint any director in the board of directors of Company A which is
responsible for making decisions of the relevant activities of Company A. In this
regard, the directors of the Company conclude that the Group does not have
significant influence over Company A and hence conclude that the investment
in Company A is accounted for as a financial asset at fair value through profit or
loss of the Group.

The fair values of the listed shares in Hong Kong are determined based on the
quoted market closing prices available on the Stock Exchange. For details,
please refer to securities investments section in Management Discussion and
Analysis in the 2022 annual report of the Group.

N.BAABESTABRZ
TREEm

GEE

0

(i

BEMNREEERLF

RZZE-—AF=A=-+hLB XRANHZ
EMBRARERERE)BRAB(E®SD
HENIMUBLE=ZTTRILT RAACE
BERIAAA]  ZAREEBEBRRES
(KBAEREBDEMRLARERAE
AAECERMRAARE 725K E B
# 7+250,0003% 7T (48 & 7 491,965,000
TT) e RIERRARN BB ER AL -
FERAZ(BEARAEENEIRMESR)
AR AAR A B B50% M 1K R M AR R
BBAEAB  BIMERREHFTER
BAZT75%H) B - B okt PY SR #2407
REA X ERTRAANAEESE - THK
RIER  AEEFA R RAZ25%M A HE -
AEBEERNARNAEZEEDEST M
ZEFERARHARANMEREBET
RR-EEFAARAEERRAEEY
ARRIRERENTE N YRLFHE
W ERAANKREARRAEEZR
AREBEEHABEZEREE -

BB LMD 2 Q5 BE TR AT
MR EET BHFHAEE  HZ
MAEE T -_—_FFRPEEETH
EAoMIPHEHRESHD -

W
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22. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLE 22 B R EHERIE

Present Present

value of value of

Minimum Minimum minimum minimum

lease lease lease lease

payments payments payments payments

BRIEHE HEHE BEHERE SEHEHE

R IE ZBE ZB{E

As at As at As at As at

30 June 2022 30 June 2021 30 June 2022 30 June 2021
RZBZZF R —F RIBE--F RZT=—
~NAZ=+H NAZ=TH ~A=+AH ~NA=+H

HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$°000 HK$’'000
FTHET FH&T FET FET
Within one year —F R 4,566 4,690 4,263 4,553
Between one to two years F—ZF_4F 4,566 4,690 4,099 4,378
Between two to three years 5 — & = 4,566 4,690 3,941 4,210
Between three to four years 2 =Z 4 4,566 4,690 3,789 4,048
Between four to five years FINERF 4,566 4,690 3,644 3,892
Over five years REMN E 25,113 30,481 19,170 21,894
47,943 53,931 38,906 42,975
Less: unearned finance B ARAERBERA
income (9,037) (10,956)
Present value of minimum HIEEWHEERIE
lease payment receivable ZIRE 38,906 42,975
Less: provision for impairment 5 : Ji (& /& 18 & &
losses (838) —
38,068 42,975
Represented by: LATR % & I8 5 7R -
Current portion B A =B > 4171 4,553
Non-current portion JEBNHA &6 33,897 38,422
38,068 42,975
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22. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLE (continued)

The effective interest rate applicable to the finance lease is
approximately 3.96% per annum.

The hotel operator had made payments in accordance with the
contractual tenancy arrangement and had a good repayment record in
prior years. Accordingly, the management of the Group considered that
the credit risk is low and provision for impairment loss of HK$838,000
(2021: Nil) has been made.

2. BEUMEHEREw

REMEZERERMNERSFN XY
3.96% °

BEEERNRANBAPRPLTHELN
FOERBEFEHRAR T ERD
ke At - AEBMEEERANBBRE
ERBARK BELREFBERG
838,000/ TT(—F = —4F:48) o

23. INVENTORIES 23. 7 &
2022 2021
—_E2-= —E=—

HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHERT FET
Raw materials R 2,595 7,797
Work in progress FER 2,169 6,581
Finished goods (notes) 2IpK mm (B 3%) 8,118 24,186
12,882 38,564

Notes: Bt -

[0] Included in finished goods are gasoil of HK$NIl (2021: HK$5,834,000) and
cultural products (including precious stones and antiques) of HK$8,118,000
(2021: HK$12,758,000), which are held for trading and resale in the ordinary
course of business.

(ii) As at 30 June 2022 and 2021, all the cultural products of the Group were
stored in a warehouse run by a world-renowned security company, which is an
independent third party to the Group.

[0} B RBEERNAEERBREPRIEER
FEBEZ2KGARXILER(BELER
EREME)HDBATET(ZE=—F:
5,834,000 JT ) 18,118,000/ ;T (= & =
—4F : 12,758,000/ JT) °

(ii) RZEBEZZFR=_FT=—FXA=1H"
AEBZHAXALERE TN — MR
MENREZARMEEZRBEEN - H
ABASEBYE=] -
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23. INVENTORIES (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

178

For the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 30 June 2018, the Group engaged GEM Appraisal Center of Peking
University (1b 1t K2 A E F ) (the “Appraisal Center’) to conduct a
scientific examination of 360 pieces of cultural products regarding their grading
and classification. The management of the Group arranged the valuer, 4t & T
ZIEBRIGEAERLDAF (LETEZRFRE") to reassess the market values
of all 368 pieces of cultural products as at 30 June 2018 based on the finding
of a team of cultural product and jewellery expert (“Experts”) from “China
Cultural Heritage Information and Consulting Center” led by Ms. YANG
Zhen Hua (15 Z %) and the Appraisal Center concerning the grading and
classification of 8 pieces and 360 pieces of the cultural products respectively.

For the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 30 June 2021, the Group engaged the valuer, 4t 5 1 B 72 {Z to assess
the current market values of all cultural products as at 30 June 2021 based on
the finding of the Experts and the Appraisal Centre concerning the grading and
classification of the cultural products and the current condition of the cultural
products. Based on the valuation of the cultural products as at 30 June 2021
estimated by 1t 3= 1 Bl 721, the management of the Group determined that
their net realisable values were above their carrying amounts as of 30 June
2021 and the surplus resulted in reversal of impairment loss of HK$62,000 for
the year ended 30 June 2021.

For the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 30 June 2022, the Group engaged the valuer, 1t 22 T B 7 1= to assess
the current market values of all pieces of cultural products as at 30 June 2022
based on the finding of the Experts and the Appraisal Centre concerning the
grading and classification of the cultural products and the current condition of
the cultural products. Based on the valuation of the cultural products as at 30
June 2022 estimated by 1t R M EIZ {5, the management of the Group
determined that their net realisable values were the same as carrying amounts
as at 30 June 2022.

The directors of the Company were of the view that, with the detailed exercise
performed by the Appraisal Center, the carrying amount net of impairment
recognised so far, reflected in the consolidated financial statements, was the
best estimate of the recoverable amount of the cultural products.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022
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XY EEBAFLIZXILERRERE
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24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

24. BINE 5 R EMERX

2022 2021
- —T=——

HK$°000 HK$’000

FTHExT FHT

Trade receivables (note) JiE W 2 5 BR 3k (Bt ) 10,271 41,531
Less: provision for impairment losses B OREE B E (255) (1,122)
10,016 40,409

Other receivables JRE LS HL h BR 3K 26,895 19,438
Less: provision for impairment losses R EEERE (2,942) (5,683)
23,953 13a265

33,969 54,164

Note: Bt 5

The Group maintains a well-defined credit policy regarding its trade customers
depending on their credit worthiness, nature of services and products, industry
practice and condition of the market with credit period ranging from 30 days to 180
days. The Groups credit policy for sales of cultural products is cash on delivery.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of expected credit losses)
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period

AEEREBSEPETHARIEERR - RIE
BEZER RERERZEE TRAREBRT
BREAMGTEFLNFOHEIBOAEEH K
SERHEEXCERZEERRAEDNR -

FEREZERNBEEREEER) RR
THEERREEZRHAZKEIITZ

is as follows: T

2022 2021
—s=-= —ET=—

HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT FHET
0-60 days 0-60 H 733 14,919
61-90 days 61-90H 2 12,231
91-180 days 91-180 H 9,061 9,071
181-365 days 181-365 H 171 4137
Over 365 days HiE365H 49 51
10,016 40,409

BENHEBERAT —B-—fF® 179



e B RREE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-_T-_-F/XA=1HFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 24. EWE 5 R H MR @

(Continued)

Before accepting any new customer, the Group’s finance and sales
management team would assess the potential customers credit
worthiness and define the credit limit accordingly for the customers.
Credit limits attributable to customers are reviewed regularly with
reference to past settlement history and where appropriate, information
about their current reputation. Details of the credit policy impairment
assessment of trade receivable for the year ended 30 June 2022 and
2021 are set in note 5.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of expected credit losses)
presented based on past due status at the end of the reporting period
is as follows:

RERTAFEEAN  NEEBZHBER
HETEEBRSTMEERRRPZ2EE
B UHEEEMAETRFPZEERE - B
FTEPZEEESL2EBAERLHK
FHEMBRT  REEMBEETH
B - BE_E__ER_T-_—F
A=1+HLEFENESRREREER
BB EFBHAWES -

S ES LR IEA Y8
SERGNBREREERE) 2 BB D
mF :

2022 2021

=122 —E-—4F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FiE T

Not past due A8 A 53 26,842
Less than 1 month past due wmELR—EA 227 302
1 to 3 months past due mH—Z==M@EA 9,403 13,199
3 to 12 months past due mE==+_—{@A 284 15
Past due over 1 year mElfR R — & 49 51
9,963 18,567

10,016 40,409

For the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group uses its internal credit
rating for credit risk assessment of trade receivables. Gross amount of
approximately HK$9,150,000 was considered as medium risk and
approximately HK$1,121,000 was considered as high risk by the
management of the Group. Impairment losses of HK$203,000 and
HK$52,000 had been provided for medium risk and high risk
respectively for the year ended 30 June 2022.
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25. LOAN RECEIVABLES

25. E L& X

2022 2021
—E—-= —5=—

HK$°000 HK$’000

FTHExT FiET

Loan receivables FEURE 5K = 15,631
Less: provision for impairment losses R EEERE = (6,613)
- 9,018

As at 30 June 2021, loan receivables (net of expected credit losses) of R-ZB-—FXA=1+8"  ElkmoZE
HK$9,018,000 were due from four borrowers, unsecured and with RANERERFHKREREEERR) A
personal guarantee. All the loan receivables are denominated in #99,018,0008 T ' ZEER A EEF K&
Renminbi (‘RMB”). The loan receivables carry fixed interest rates ERAER FTEEKERHUARE
ranging from 8% to 10% per annum with maturity date within 12 (TAR® A - ERERDHEE FF
months from the loan draw down date. Full amount was received by KAE8%E10% ' BIHIA A E ZUIREE &
the Group subsequent to year ended 30 June 2021. BHT—_EARN - AEBERBE=-Z

—FRA=ZTHLEFERKE 2K

26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 26. REeRBEEHE

(@) The cash and cash equivalents comprise short-term deposits Q) REepBRLSEREINHA A=
with maturity of three months or less and cash held by the BAKAAzEEEFERRANE
Group. BEZRE -
Certain bank balances and cash of HK$6,773,000 (2021: 806,773,000/ T (=T = — 4 :
HK$22,719,000) were denominated in RMB, which is not freely 22,719,000 7t) 2 & TR 17 4 &
convertible currency in the international market. The remittance RBEETUARESTE MARKE
of these funds out of the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions WHARBEEMSERLBRZE

imposed by the Government of the PRC.

K -mPEERZEESAXTH
BT B 1 2 51 & P AR R
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26 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued) 26. IE, ﬁ & fﬁ, ﬁ % %E ()

(b) ERMEFBRELEREN
¥ AR

TR ASEERELTHE
EXTRRENEH(BRASRIF

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities

The table below shows the detailed changes in the Groups major
liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and

182

non-cash changes. o BE)) S
Interest
bearing  Promissory Amount
other note due to Lease
borrowing payable  adirector liabilities Total
(note 33) (note 34) (note 32) (note 30)
FE O EARR  EA-%
HitE & FE ESXE HEEE @t
(BaE33)  (MaEs4)  (WMHaE32)  (MIAESO)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET THET
At 1 July 2020 R=ZE-ZFtHA-H 210,000 40,557 2,180 7,213 259,950
Financing cash flows: MERERE !
Repayment of other borrowing EBREMES (25,000) - - - (25,000)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEREAR = = = (4,881) (4,881)
Interest paid BERFE (25,802) (440) - - (26,242)
(50,802) (440) = (4,881) (56,123)
Currency realignment EREEL - - - 383 383
Other charges: Hppix
Gain on extension TRz - (8,191) - - (8,191)
New lease entered BRI 2 BH - - - 2,911 2,911
Finance costs B AR 25,802 6,380 - 420 32,602
25,802 (1,811) - 3,331 27,322
At 30 June 2021 R-ZE-_-5XA=+H 185,000 38,306 2,180 6,046 231,532
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26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

26.BEeERNBEEEE @

(b) BERMEFBRELEREN

financing activities (Continued) ¥ AR ()
Interest
bearing  Promissory Amount
other note due to Lease
borrowing payable  adirector liabilities Total
(note 33) (note 34) (note 32) (note 30)
FE BRI EA-F
HittfE & EE E3XE HEEE @it
(B5E33)  (Fizks4)  (MFEE32)  (Kit5Es0)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAEL TAEL FTAEL TAEL TAEL
At 1 July 2021 —E--5+H-H 185,000 38,306 2,180 6,046 231,632
Financing cash flows: MERSRE:
Repayment of other borrowing EBREMES (185,000) - - - (185,000)
Repayment of promissory note BEALER = (41,387) = = (41,387)
Repayment of lease liabilties EBREERE = y - (2,699) (2,699)
Advance from a director REEENBRRK - - 150 = 150
Interest paid BFE (9,740) (440) = (100) (10,280)
(194,740) (41,827) 150 2799  (289.216)
Currency realignment BN % ~ = = (28) (28)
Other charges: Hitpx:
Loss on early redemption REEOZER - 1,384 - - 1,384
Disposal of subsidiaries HEREBEAR - - (2,180) (3,546) (5,726)
New lease entered M2 HBE - = = 2,027 2,027
Finance costs B & B K 9,740 2,137 - 100 11,977
9,740 3,521 (2,180) (1,419 9,662
At 30 June 2022 R-ZB-=ZFXA=1+H — — 150 1,800 1,950
27. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION 27. T EFRER S

During the year, the Group had signed a deed of novation with a
customer and a supplier. Under the deed of novation, the Group had
assigned the trade receivables from the customer to the supplier for the
amount of approximately USD3,100,000 (equivalent to
HK$24,333,000), as settlement of trade payables due to the supplier.

FR-AEBE-—UEFPR—UHER
BT WNEERE-BEEERE -
AEBEBEFNERZEIEREZET
HER £ %4 53100,000E T(HE
#224,333,0008 70) * BB EE N E
SRR -

BEMREEMERLE —F-_FFR
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28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

28. B E 5 K H A iR K

2022 2021

—E-_f —E-—%F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

THET FAT

Trade payables FERE 5 BRK 995 20,471

Other payables FERT H A BR X 8,784 41,348

9,779 61,819

The aging analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice ENESERINBRERcEERIERE
date at the end of the reporting period is as follows: BHZREDITZ5 0T

2022 2021

—E-CF —E -4

HK$’000 HK$’000

FER FAT

0-60 days 0-60 H 203 10,042

61-90 days 61-90 H - 9,637

91-365 days 91-365H = —

Over 1 year HBim—F 792 792

995 20,471

The credit period for purchases of goods ranged from 30 days to 120

g

BEERMZEEHNFTI0HZE120H -

days.
29. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 20. 5N BAE

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FAT

Receipts in advance from customers for provision g2 iR & 2 B W & P /B
of services 2,430 25172

184 ChampionTechnology Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022



e B RREE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-_ZT - XA =+HILEE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

29. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued) 20. 5B &Ew
Movements in contract liabilities EHNEBEEH
2022 2021
—E-= T —%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE R FAT
At 1 July nw+HA—H 25,172 23,654
Currency realignment BE 3, 38 & (143) 1,782
Disposal of subsidiaries & W B A A (17,167) -
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of billing REREERFTEMERS L
in advance of provision of service =k 11,291 24,699
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of RENEZFTAFVNEHEE
recognising revenue during the year that was Wi mmEREOaERD
included in contract liabilities at the beginning of
the year (16,723) (24,963)
At 30 June KANA=1+H 2,430 25,172
All the amount of billings in advance of performance as at 30 June RZEBEZ—FA=1+H G FIEBEHZ
2022 are expected to be recognised as revenue within one year. FERRIEEA R —FARR I -
As at 30 June 2021, the aggregated amount of the transaction price RZZE-Z—FSA=Z+H BELAE
allocated to the remaining performance obligations under the Groups BEAYANTEEZEHR TEANEETNSE
existing contracts is HK$28,614,000. These amounts would be 1% 48 %8 /&28,614,0008 T o A &£ B 5 R
recognised as revenue when the service is provided by the Group over AHNEFERAMBTPIRMEREER I
the life of the contracts to the customers, which is expected to occur BEAaWZE  WEHZFEBEERARAKR=F
over the next three years. NIER AW E ©
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30. LEASE LIABILITIES

31

186

30, HESE

2022 2021
—=E=-= —E—
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FAT
Lease liabilities payable: EREEAE
Within one year —F R 960 4,093
Within a period of more than one year but not —FLAEETBBME
more than two years 840 1,508
Within a period of more than two years but not ENEETNBBRF
more than five years = 445
1,800 6,046
Less: amounts due for settlement within BoOREBABETMYI2E AR
12 months shown under current liabilities B HE R A IE (960) (4,093)
Amounts due for settlement after SERBAGBT12EA%E
12 months shown under non-current liabilities FIHA BB MR 840 1,953
WARRANTY PROVISION MN.RERE
2022 2021
—E=-= —ET-—%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE R FAT
At 1 July ntHA—H 1,062 1,230
Currency realignment FE 3, 38 & 62 129
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWE QA (1,166) -
Provided during the year FAFR 150 —
Utilised during the year FAFERA (108) (297)
At 30 June RNA=1+H - 1,062

The warranty provision represents the managements best estimate of
the Group’s liability under 12-month warranties granted on
manufactured products, based on prior experience and industry

average for defective products.

Rt 2 AR -
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32. AMOUNT DUE TO A DIRECTOR

The amount due to a director of the Company is unsecured, non-
interest bearing, has no fixed term of repayment and is repayable on
demand.

As at 30 June 2022, such director of the Company, who is also a
substantial shareholder of the Company, is deemed to be interested in
16.17% (2021: 16.17%) of the issued share capital of the Company.

32.

EN—REFEME

ﬁEﬁK’Aﬂ*%%%*ﬁlﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ > ZR
AR EBEEERHNARERERE

RZEBEZ—FXA=1+H ' ZARRE
ENAARBZEERE #HRAERAE
NENBAT%(ZFEZ—F 1617%) 2 2
BITRAPHEEER -

= .
33. INTEREST BEARING OTHER BT EHMEE
BORROWING
2022 2021
—E-F —E-—4F
HK$°000 HK$’000
THET FHET
Other borrowing (note) HabEE ) = 185,000
2022 2021
—==-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FAT
The interest bearing other borrowing is repayable “BE& 2zt B HMEEWMT :
as follows:
On demand or within one year BBAN—FANEE — =
After one year but within two years —FRERMFA - 185,000
- 185,000
Less: amount due within one year shown R HAEEETR—ER
under current liabilities ES| D P = -
Amount due after one year R—FRIBAZ&E = 185,000
Note: Bt 5

As at 1 July 2020, for the other borrowing of HK$210,000,000 with interests accrued
at the rate of 13% per annum, and guaranteed by Ms. Wong Man Winny, a director
and substantial shareholder of the Company, HK$10,000,000 was due on 30 June
2021 while remaining HK$200,000,000 was repayable on 7 October 2021. On 2
September 2020, the Group made partial repayment of HK$10,000,000.

RZE-TFLA—H- ﬁ’rm%%x?—%mooooooo
BT WEEFRRB13% BEEERBAR
§$&$§Hﬁ$%@lki%%'?.="-§'=P10,000,000
BN _T_—FXA=1THIH H&
200,000,000 T ER=—E=—F+AHEE -
E-ZT-_ZTFNA-B AEEEEBH>RE
10,000,000 7T °
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33. INTEREST BEARING OTHER 3BT EHMEE @
BORROW'NG (Continued)

Note: (Continued) Bt E - (&)

On 4 November 2020, the Group entered into a supplemental deed with Guangdong R-ZF_ZFF+-ANE AKREREREEAR
Finance Limited (“the Lender’), pursuant to which the Group provided additional RABTETDITLHBARY  BRHASERE
collaterals to the Lender, including the share charge in respect of all issued shares in FTRHENERG  EEASEZEWNBRARE
Disposed Subsidiary, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group which is the sole legal HERBARNMAE RTROOKRGER B
and beneficial owner of the vessel included in the property, plant and equipment, all HEMBRRRBEENER - BEMRMET oMK
issued shares in Champion Luck International Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of K Champion Luck International Limited ) Fff 5 E
the Group which is the sole legal and beneficial owner of a property included in FITRMHAOME —RAME HH A Champion
investment properties, all issued shares in Champion Milion Industries Limited, a Luck International Limited /3 7 % [ #) & & [ & 2
wholly owned subsidiary of the Group which is the sole legal and beneficial owner of a A R % & 1) % — I8 ¥ % K Champion Million
beneficial owner of a property included in investment properties, and all issued shares Industries Limited 89 F7 & 2 3 17 B {0 09 M — &%
in Champion Pacific Investment Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group which ME A A - Champion Milion Industries Limited
is the sole legal and beneficial owner of a property included in investment properties. REEEN2ENBRAARRKRENEST —EY

¥ 1) F 25 % B A LA K Champion Pacific Investment
Limited (AR B —RE2EHEANMBEARDWOFE
BRITROMME -G EREEA A * Champion
Pacific Investment Limited /& 1% & ¥ ¥ 7 — 1B %
ME—AEREREAA -

On 9 February 2021, the Group has entered into a sale and purchase agreement to RZF-_—5_ANA AKEERITLEEHH
dispose the Disposed Subsidiary (note 11). The Group has repaid HK$15,000,000 to A& L EMB AR (HE11) - AKREERET
the Lender to release the share charge on the Disposed Subsidiary. The principal sum 1532 15,000,00078 7T LA i B th 65 S 18 22 &) &9 AR {7
of outstanding indebtedness was reduced to HK$185,000,000. FRAD o AR R AT A %R 4 = 185,000,000 7T ©
During the year ended 30 June 2021, for the other borrowing of HK$185,000,000 with #HEZ —FANA=ZTRLEERE  EMEXR
interests accrued at the rate of 13% per annum, the Company obtained approval from 185,000,000 /% T ERNERI% ARFE RS
the Lender for the extension of repayment date from 7 October 2021 to 7 April 2022, BERABESERAHE T _—F+ALAKL
and further extended to 7 October 2022. REZZT-__FMNALH URE—FEREZ

T__FtHtH-

On 9 November 2021, the Group made a partial repayment of HK$59,000,000. On 15 R= —F+—AnAB" $ K EEE D &R

December 2021, the Group made a final repayment of HK$126,000,000 to the Lender. 59000 C0% T R=F=—%+=A+EE
NS E {E B £ T B 3126,000,000/8 T F & °
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34. PROMISSORY NOTE PAYABLE UNENEAERE

The movements on the promissory note payable is as follows:

AR RRZ Z#E8NT
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TET

FEAT A E R

Promissory note payable
— issued on 19 July 2017, unsecured

—R-_T—tFEATABET

(note) FEHE A (BT 7E) — 38,306
2022 2021
—E_—— —ET-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THT T
Represented by: A5 & IE5 R :
— Current — BNEAEE 5 — _
— Non-current — JEBNEREE - 38,306
— 38,306

Note:

As at 1 July 2020, promissory note HK$40,557,000 with principal amount
HK$44,000,000, was interest bearing 1% per annum and maturity date at 19 January
2021.

On 14 January 2021, a deed of variation was signed in which the Company and the
holder agreed to extend the maturity date of the remaining principal amount of
HK$44,000,000 to 18 February 2022. As such, gain on extension of promissory note
of approximately HK$5,567,000 was recognised during the year ended 30 June 2021.

On 18 May 2021, the Company and the holder has agreed to extend the maturity date
of the remaining principal amount of HK$44,000,000 to 17 October 2022. As such,
gain on extension of promissory note of approximately HK$2,624,000 was further
recognised during the year ended 30 June 2021 and the promissory note payable is
classified as non-current liability as at 30 June 2021.

Bt

EZZT-FF+EA— B K% A44,000,000%#
TT B 7 3 Z B 540,557,000 T 0 1R B1%E
B HHMAA—ZE-_—4F—A+NB-

R —F—A+MA ARFRIEEFEF AR
TR - #8 AR E % F # 2 £ 544,000,000
ATHIBHALERE-_ZT_—_F_A+N\H-RA
It - 3 R R R A W 5 495,567,000 TR B E
- —FXNAZ+HELEFEER-

RZT=Z—FAA+NB AARBAFAARE
158 T A £44,0000008 THEHELERE=T
—ZF+AtTtB-Alt REEZT=—FX
A=1+BFE & IPHERAERARLZEHKE
492,624,000 T ' ENEARZEBER T =—F X
H ‘f’Ei/-\* ﬁr;&umiﬂﬁfﬁ"
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34. PROMISSORY NOTE PAYABLE (continued)

Note: (Continued)

On 10 September 2021, the Group obtained a written consent from the holder of the
promissory note, pursuant to which the holder of the promissory note agreed and
accepted that the Group could early repay the remaining balance of the promissory
note which would be made after the completion of both the disposal of the Kantone
shares and the completion of the rights issue at the discount rate of 8.5% p.a..

The completion of the Rights Issue was fulflled on 14 December 2021. On 20
December 2021, the Company early settled the remaining balance of the promissory
note with the principal amount of HK$44,000,000 by cash of approximately
HK$41,387,000 which was funded by the net proceeds from the Rights Issue after
further negotiations between the Company and the promissory note holder. The
amortised cost of the said promissory note was approximately HK$40,003,000, at the
date of settlement. As such, a loss on early redemption of promissory note of
approximately HK$1,384,000 was recognised for year ended 30 June 2022.

35. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

M. ENEELEE @

B aE ¢ ()

RZBZ—FAA+H FAEERFEALEERR
EANEERE  BUALRERAARBILE
MAEBEETKHETRRD KR HEREK &
FHEGEPMPTRRXREFEERARTENRGK S
# o

HERER T F+_A+HEBEK - =ZFT=
—F+ZA=+H " ARFNRE 441,387,000
7 7T 12 A1V 18 AN £ 544,000,000 7T 8 & H, 2
Rt ZESRAEARREALZEREA AL
— S HEAENERAMBRIEFE - EXEA ' L
it #2298 A9 8 X AR 49 & 40,008,000 7T o Al
I BEZTEZFAAA=tTHLFECHERR
Al (8] 7 A 22 4% 1) 5 48 40 51,384,000 T °

35. 3 ¢ 18 R 5+ &

2022 2021
—==-= T —
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FEx FHETT
Retirement benefit contributions to MAEEz FREHAGEEZNZ
the Group’s defined contribution scheme RRAE FI 5K 201 1,344
Retirement benefit contributions to RAEEZ THEEMNTE M2
the Group’s defined benefit scheme R R AE FI L 3K = 2,031
201 SESIS
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35. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Defined contribution scheme

Certain subsidiaries of the Company participate in a retirement
benefit scheme covering a portion of their employees. The assets
of the scheme are held separately from those of the Group in
funds under the control of independent trustees.

Commenced from December 2000, the Group enrolled all eligible
employees in Hong Kong into a mandatory provident fund (the
“MPF”) scheme. The retirement benefit cost of the MPF scheme
charged to the profit or loss represents contributions to the MPF
scheme by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the MPF
scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of government-managed retirement benefit scheme
operated by the respective local government in the PRC. The
Group is required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll
costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
scheme is to make the specified contributions.

During the year, the total expense recognised in the profit or loss
amounted to HK$201,000 (2021: HK$1,344,000) and represents
contributions payable to these schemes by the Group at rates
specified in the rules of the schemes.

Defined benefit scheme

Certain subsidiaries of the Company in UK operate a
administered and funded pension scheme in the UK. The scheme
provides defined pension benefits with reference to the final
salary of the members at retirement and their length of service.
The scheme was closed to new members since 1 January 2003.

R KB A E &

(a)

(b)

E R G S

ARBETETHEBERARABLS
BB 28 —HRKERMTE - %18
ECEERAEECEEDH
BE UERBEBLSZTAEGZ
HEA -

BE-ZEETTE+ A AE@EA
E%%%Z%ﬁAE%EEEﬁ
ZRsEBRHMATEL(BES))
FTEl e RIBENKR ZABESEIR
KEF K AIEAEEIZETE DT
SHE R ARE S EIED
AR o

=a

AEERTEZMNERREE R
T AR DT IR 2 B
ERRARBANEKE - NEEA
NIEFRAD L Z TEKARMZIR
KB EIELHT BEERA
RHEES - FHEEHRFKTIDAEE
BhaZ R R AR A 5T &) 2 ME—&E -

FAR REZHERZHAXHK
201,000/ 7Tt( — & = — %
1,344,000 7T) BA KB IR %55
EIARAEE 2 EREEEEL 2
FE R -

E BN S

ARRETETHRENE QAR
Y-HEBTEEMAERZENKE
ﬂﬁ% BEEH 81 TS % 1 B IR KBS
ZE REEB R E RIS F IR 2
BRAKRERN- tFEE —FF
7¢ A—BREFTEXFKE
£ H o

ESPaN
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35. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

(Continued)

R K8 R EE 0

(b) Defined benefit scheme (Continued) (b) =& F S @

192

The contributions which are determined by a qualified actuary on
the basis of triennial valuations using the projected unit credit
method are charged to the profit or loss. Under the scheme, the
employees are entitled to a pension between 1.67% and 2.50%
of final salary for each year of pensionable service at an age of
65. No other post-retirement benefits are provided. The most
recent actuarial valuations of scheme assets and the present
value of the defined benefit obligations as at 30 June 2021 were
prepared by Buck Consultants Limited, Mrs. Rachel Downs,
Fellow of the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries (“FIA”) for
accounting reporting purpose. The assumptions which have the
most significant effect on the results of the valuation are those
relating to the rate of return on investments and the rates of
increase in salaries, pensions and share dividends.

The funded pension scheme exposes the Group to actuarial risks
such as investment risk, interest rate risk, longevity risk and
salary risk.

Investment risk

The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated
using a discount rate determined by reference to high quality
corporate bond vyields; if the return on plan asset is below this
rate, it will create a plan deficit. Currently the plan has relatively
balanced investment in equity securities, debt instruments and
real estates. Due to the long-term nature of the plan liabilities, the
trustee of the pension fund considers it appropriate that a
reasonable portion of the plan assets should be invested in equity
securities and in real estate to leverage the return generated by
the fund.

Interest risk

A decrease in the bond interest rate will increase the plan liability;
however, this will be partially offset by an increase in the return
on the plans debt investments.

Longevity risk

The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated
by reference to the best estimate of the mortality of plan
participants both during and after their employment. An increase
in the life expectancy of the plan participants will increase the
plan’s liability.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022

BEEEERBEMEN=F BN
BB EREZETHEEBEZ
R TR BR PR - BRI E
2 - & B —f& A 70 5F [ 65 5% B R HR
BARE 2BENTFERFEER1.67%
%2%%&7%@%%2%%%%
BEFTE KNE I EEMHEAM
EWémﬂ &EZEEEER
EHEANEAERBECEEMETD
R-ZE-—FRXA=1+HETL
3 Buck Consultants Limited 2 Rachel
Downs KA K (& Bl & E Rh 1 & &
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H-HHEERSEEZEZRR
DERKRERNHRELRHE  BARE
HR 8 2 FHiE o
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35. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

(Continued)

(b) Defined benefit scheme (Continued)

Salary risk
The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated
by reference to the future salaries of plan participants. As such,
an increase in the salary of the plan participants will increase the
plan’s liability.

The main actuarial assumptions used were as follows:

35. R K18 A 51 8 )

(b) EFEEREE @)

< E
EEEAHHAEZRESSE
HBSREZARFLHE - B
B B RE 2 H L E I E
sEnE-

PIRZEERERRET :

At 30 June

2021

RZT=——%F

~A=+H

Discount rate BH IR X 1.80%
Expected rate of salary increase TEEE & iR 2.85%
Future pension increases RIGBRIK S FHIE 3.15%

The actuarial valuation updated to 30 June 2021 by Mrs. Rachel
Downs (FIA) showed that the market value of the scheme assets
was HK$423,163,000 and that the actuarial value of these assets
represented 96% of the benefits that had accrued to members.

Under the recovery plan dated 31 May 2016, the Group has
agreed to contribute GBP340,000 per annum increasing at 4%
on each 1 July from 1 July 2018 into the plan. In addition, the
Scottish Limited Partnership for the plan has been arranged such
that the plan will receive an income stream of GBP400,000 per
annum at 1 July 2018 increasing at 4% on each 1 July thereafter.
As at 30 June 2021, the duration of the plan liability is 15 years.

Rachel Downs & A ( 2% B #5 & 6l 1
CEREE)EME_T=_—F X
A=+BzREMERT 85
EE 2 T {8 5423,163,000/8 T * M %
EEEZREBEALHERER
1518 % 2 96% °

BIEAHRA-ZTE—X"FRA=T
—AzZzkEE AEEREA =
T-NFtA—BE REELA
— B A 3% &1 &1 /% & 340,000 K £ -
FEEMI% - Lo B L& ETE
THHBEBEERLE  S%TEB
T N\FtA—BREEZZE
&£ B — B 4% H 400,000 & & 7 W
AN BFEEMI% - R —F
NA=ZTH ZEEEEZFHA
+HRF-
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35. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 35. 3B K8 Fl 5t &l @)

(Continued)

(b) Defined benefit scheme (Continued) (b)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income in respect of the defined
benefit pension plans are as follows:

E R R A E 8

RERBANEARAERNGEEER
FEMzENERTITER 2SR
mR

2021
- —F
HK$’000
FET
Scheme administrative costs FT 1T K AR (1,950)
Past service costs 8 1T AR 7% B AN -
Net interest expense FEZ T FRE 81)
Components of defined benefit costs REZER TR
recognised in profit or loss (included in & FIRK K HEPKE
general and administrative expenses) GtA—REITEZ L) (2,031)
Remeasurement of the net defined benefit ENTETREENEEFE
liability:
Return on plan assets (excluding amounts FFEEEZBR(TREEE
included in net interest expense) AM BRI FHE2ELH) 23,040
Actuarial losses arising from changes in ANAREBESAEE
demographic assumptions BEEE (2,620)
Actuarial gains arising from MR BREESEEACRKRE
changes in financial assumptions U %5 5,504
Actuarial gains arising from KBRAEMEEZREER
experience adjustments U %5 11,088
Components of defined benefit costs REMEEARABRZ T B
recognised in other comprehensive income 4@ FI| i 7~ 48 5% 28 9 37,012
Total 4a g 34,981
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AY — -
35. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 35. & K 1& A &t &l
(Continued)
(b) Defined benefit scheme (Continued) (b) EEEF B @)
The amount included in the consolidated statement of financial ANEEREFEERAEK S 2 &
position arising from the Groups obligations in respect of its EMEAZ B AGENE
defined benefit pension plans is as follows: MR - ST -
2021
—E-—4F
HK$’000
FAT
Fair value of scheme assets FEIEEZAREE 423,163
Present value of funded obligations BaoAEZRE (439,181)
Net liability arising from defined benefit FTHEBMEAEMES Y
obligation BEFE (16,018)
For the year ended 30 June 2021, the Group expects HE_ZT-_—F~A=+HLt#F
contribution of GBP354,000 (equivalent to HK$3,796,000) will be B AEEEFERT—0KREE
made to the defined benefit plans during the next financial year. [A] 5F %8 428 A 5t 2| {1 3 354,000 Z £%
(185 78,796,000/ 7T) °
Movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligation TREEHNEAEZIREZSWOT :
are as follows:
2021
—E -4
HK$’000
FAT
Opening defined benefit obligation FEVE RN AE 421,053
Currency realignment b 5, 30 & 48,215
Past service costs B 1 AR S A AN -
Interest cost FLE R AR 6,519
Remeasurement (gains)/losses: EFstE (X)) /B
Actuarial losses arising from changes in AABREBREEFTELEZ
demographic assumption BEEE1E 2,620
Actuarial gains arising from MBREEBMEEZEE
changes in financial assumptions W 2% (5,504)
Actuarial gains arising from experience KEFABRMEAZRE
adjustments L& (11,088)
Benefits paid F <1 1@ F1 (22,634)
Closing defined benefit obligation FHEERBNARE 439,181

BENKEMERAT —==FF% 195



e ISR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-_ZT- XA =1+HIEE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

35. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 35. 3B K8 Fl 5t &l @)

(Continued)

(b) Defined benefit scheme (Continued) (b)

Movements in the fair value of plan assets are as follows:

EEEE RS @
HBABEZAABEEHNT -

2021

—E-—%F

HK$’'000

FHET

Opening fair value of plan assets FUAEEEZAREE 370,313
Currency realignment T i, g =X 44,361
Interest income AMEWKA 6,438
Scheme administrative costs FHEI1T A A (1,950)

Return on plan assets (excluding amounts FEEEZOFR(EEEES

included in net interest expense) AANERT FEIEH) 23,040
Contribution by employer B EHK 3,595
Benefits paid FFr 4+ 4@ #) (22,634)
Closing fair value of plan assets FRFEEEZ AREE 423,163

The fair value of plan assets at the end of the reporting period is
analysed as follows:

HEBEERBREHEABZAR
BEITWT :

Fair value of plan assets

STEIEECAREE

2021

—E-—F

HK$’'000

FHET

Equity instruments (Quoted) X TARGRE) 275,893
Debt instruments (Quoted) BT A (GRE) 138,531
Other assets (Note) H & E (MeE) 8,739
423,163

The actual return on scheme assets was HK$27,528,000 for the
year ended 30 June 2021.

Note: The balance mainly represent the cash and cash equivalents.
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35. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

(Continued)

35. & K& R 5T & )

(b) Defined benefit scheme (Continued)

(b) TEEENFE @

Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the
defined obligation are discount rate and expected salary
increase. The sensitivity analysis below have been determined
based on reasonably possible changes of the respective
assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period, while
holding all other assumptions constant.

If the discount rate is 25 basis points higher/(lower), the defined
benefit obligations would decrease by HK$15,944,000/(increase
by HK$15,944,000) for the year ended 30 June 2021.

If the expected salary growth increases/(decreases) by 0.25%,
the defined benefit obligations would increase by HK$7,934,000/
(decrease by HK$7,934,000) for the year ended 30 June 2021.

The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be
representative of the actual change in the defined benefit
obligations as it is unlikely that the change in assumptions would
occur in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions
may be correlated.

Furthermore, in presenting the above sensitivity analysis, the
present value of the defined benefit obligation has been
calculated using the projected unit method at the end of the
reporting period, which is the same as that applied in calculating
the defined benefit obligations liability recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

There was no change in the methods and assumptions used in
preparing the sensitivity analysis from prior years.

BEERATEEZEABERRR
MIRENTEHFHEIER - AT HR
EOMRENBERNZLET SR
RHRAEAEEHMEMRR
R TS mERE -

Bz_Z2-_—4F~A=1+H81
FEOMBBERLEA (TK)25
BMEZ TEEINETERD
15,944,000 7T /(38 115,944,000
BIT) ©

Bz —F~NA=1+HI#F
B mBEHFesEERLEHA (T
#£)0.25% - & 5 & F & 1T 15 1 A0
7,934,000 7T /(@ 47,934,000
HIT) °

MR EO KRR LIRS BE—
BYBREREHTIAAREEL AL
EINBREIFMA—EERARTE
HEMNEEZERES -

EEAN - R 25 A £ SURRE 2 AT B
ERENEERHER RS T
BT BEUERAE  HE
ARAEZEMBRRRAER
ZEBRNEEZITEMER -

RAEBEFEZHRED TR AT
Rz ER BRI EEE -
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35. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

(Continued)

(c) Forfeited contributions

198

With effect from 1 December 2000, the Group has also joined a
mandatory provident fund scheme (“MPF Scheme”) for its
employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme is registered with
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Authority under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in
funds under the control of an independent trustee. Under the
MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required
to make contributions to the MPF Scheme at rates specified in
the rules. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
MPF Scheme is to make the required contributions. Except for
voluntary contribution, no forfeited contribution under the MPF
Scheme is available to reduce the contribution payable in future
years.

For the retirement benefits of the Groups qualifying employees in
the PRC, the Group has participated in the retirement benefits
scheme operated by the local municipal government of
Shenzhen. The Group is required to contribute a specified
percentage of their payroll costs to the scheme to fund the
benefits. The employees are entitled to retirement pension
calculated with reference to their basic salaries on retirement and
their length of services in accordance with the relevant
government regulations. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the scheme is to pay the ongoing required
contributions under the scheme. Contributions to the scheme are
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the scheme. No forfeited contribution under PRC
retirement benefit scheme is available to reduce the contribution
payable in future years.

For the retirement benefits of the Groups qualifying employees in
the UK, the Group has participated in the retirement benefits
scheme operated by the global human resource benefits and
human resource consulting firm authorised and regulated by the
Financial Conduct Authority. The employees are entitled to post
retirement cash commutation. Details of the scheme are set out
in note 3 and note 35(b) to the consolidated financial statements.
No forfeited contribution under UK retirement benefit Scheme is
available to reduce the contribution payable in future years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-_ZT - XA =+HILEE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

35. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

(Continued)

(c) Forfeited contributions (Continued)

At 30 June 2021, there were no significant forfeited contributions
which arose upon employees leaving the schemes before they
are fully vested in the contributions and which are available to
reduce the contributions payable by the Group in the future.

36. DEFERRED TAXATION

At 30 June 2022, the Group had unused tax losses of approximately
HK$740,565,000 (2021: HK$779,783,000) available for offset against
future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. These tax losses may be
carried forward indefinitely.

Deferred tax liabilities

5. B K E F 5 8l m)

(c) RUW M
R-ZZ-_—FA=1+H HER
BEERUZEBEBEMELRE
HETEY - A ANIRAEE
T RREGA R EAOGMEER -

36. iE %t Bi 18

RZZE-_—_FA=+H KEEAKX
B F 2 B 18 5 18 49 740,565,000/% T (=
T — —4F : 779,783,000/ 7t) * ] A {EIK
HBABZ®EN BRKREEFBEZR
FIRIR MW EEREEBIBEE - It
SHEFEEERAARGEE -

EEHEARE

Fair value change of
investment properties

BREMEZ

AREEES

HK$’000

FHETT

At 1 July 2020 R-ZZE-_ZFTF+HA—H 8,644

Deferred tax charged to profit or loss RIET BN E R T AR 972
At 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021 RZE-_—FXA=+HK

—E-—4FtH—H 9,616

Deferred tax credited to profit or loss RIER HFT A B &= (691)

At 30 June 2022 RZE-_—_FXA= 9,025
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37. CAPITAL AND RESERVES 7. R AR @B
(@) Movements in components of equity (a) a2 22H
The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of REBEZERAERS LD 2 F
each component of the Groups consolidated equity is set out in NRFREBBZ2HERHENES
the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of the RAEZEESRA - RREREZ
changes in the Company’s individual components of equity BRIEB D N E ) & FAREEEF
between the beginning and the end of the year are set out in 5 & A 5E44 o
note 44.
(b) Share capital (b) &=
Number of
shares Amount
il - =] X}
‘000 HK$’000
TR FAT
Authorised share capital: SEE R
Balance at 1 July 2020, 30 June 2021 and T%E{Eo 178 TEt
1 July 2021 with par value of HK$0.1 each —= _gﬁ’tﬂ —B8 -
—EZ—FXA=+8HkK
—E-—FEA—HZER 1,500,000 150,000
Increase of authorised share capital (note 1) % 7& & <4 in (Bt 53 1) 14,500,000 1,450,000
Share sub-division (note 3) A& 15 #7 48 (B 7E3) 144,000,000 =
Balance at 30 June 2022 with par value of ?ﬁ" R EEO0.01E TR
HK$0.01 each T _FRNAZTHMEH 160,000,000 1,600,000
Number of Share Share Capital
shares capital premium reserve Total
ROBE B R EE BRAGE “E
'000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
T FHET FHT FHEL FHET
Issued and fully paid share capital: BEETRBERAE:
Balance at 1 July 2020, REREBEBITER
30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021 with —E-_ZEF+A—-AH:
par value of HK$0.1 each ZE-§RXA=THK
—E-—%tR-RAz
b3 683,831 68,383 2,221,869 846,860 3,137,112
Rights issue (note 2) HEAR (H5E2) 2,051,493 205,149 (7,252) = 197,897
Reduction of capital (note 3) B A H) 5 (Fi3E3) = (246,179) - 246,179 -
Balance at 30 June 2022 with par value 1% & BRI f80.01 % 7T 537
of HK$0.01 each —T-_FXAZ1HH
LS 2,735,324 27,353 2,214,617 1,093,039 3,335,009
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HE-T-_=-F/X"A=1+H1LFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

37. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(b) Share capital (continued)

(c)

Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

On 8 November 2021, increase in authorised share capital was
approved by shareholders at the special general meeting, the
authorised share capital of the Company be increased from
HK$150,000,000 divided into 1,500,000,000 shares of HK$0.1
each to HK$1,600,000,000 divided into 16,000,000,000 Shares
by the creation of an additional 14,500,000,000 new shares.

On 14 December 2021, the Company completed rights issue on
the basis of three rights shares for every one existing share,
approximately 2,051,493,000 shares had been issued.

On 1 June 2021, the Company completed capital reduction and
sub-division, the par value of each of the issued shares be
reduced from HK$0.10 to HK$0.01 per issued share by cancelling
the paid up share capital to the extent of HK$0.09 per issued
share and each of the authorized but unissued shares with par
value of HK$0.10 each be sub-divided into 10 new shares with
par value of HK$0.01 each.

Reserves

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Share premium
The application of share premium account is governed by
section 40 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

Capital redemption reserve

Capital redemption reserve represents the amount by
which the Company issued share capital was diminished
on cancellation of ordinary share repurchased.

General reserve

The general reserve represents the reserve arising from the
reduction of the nominal amount of the shares of the
Company (after the consolidation of shares of 25 ordinary
shares of HK$0.1 each into 1 share in 2002) of HK$2.5
each by cancelling the paid up capital to the extent of
HK$2.4 on each share of the Company in 2002.

37. R A K @ w

(b) B m)

MeEF1l: T =—F+—ANA K
FERE R B K g E B OE
MAEEBRA XARWETE
B ZX fh 150,000,000 (2 B
1,500,000,000 % & f& E {H0.14 7T
& B% 15 ) 3% hn = 1,600,000,000 %
7T (% 16,000,000,000 A% A% 7)) -
75 7k B 18 3% 14,500,000,000 f%
&5 -

2 RZFE-_—F+-_A+WTHE" &
REEEHE1RE A RN EES
RRUERR AR D B BT AR - B
1T #92,051,493,000 A% i 15 °

M3 ARRAE—_ST-_—EF~A—HB=
BB ABIR RIFH - BREHET
% 2 % 17 B 15 0.0978 Tt 2 81 - Bk
AKEBREBHTROZEMER
0.107% 7T Bl & £0.01 7% 7T+ I #%
SR EEO010 L 2 A E 1B K %
TR D PR 48 A 100% & AR [ 80.01
HEILZF A ©

(c) &t

(i) BB =EE
B aBRsERAXARE
— N\ —F R 7 A F40MK
HE o

(i) EAXEEFE
BARABEEEBETHCEE
T @S AR R %
TRARAL 2S5

@iy —MFFEE
—REBBEARANR-ZE
—E ARG R EE0B T
ZEBRAGHAIBRETR
BAsE R-BET_F)
HEESRASTR BER
2.4 T AR B A A R & &
25 T RO EERMELZ
BEH -
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37. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(c) Reserves (Continued)

202

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the amount arising from (a)
a bonus issue of shares of a subsidiary of the Company by
way of capitalising the subsidiary’s retained profits and
deemed capital contribution from a substantial shareholder,
(b) the reduction of the nominal amount of the shares of
the Company (after the consolidation of shares of 20
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each into 1 share in 2017) of
HK$2 each by cancelling the paid up capital to the extent
of HK$1.9 on each share of the Company in 2017 and the
reduction of the nominal amount of the share of the
Company of HK$0.1 each by cancelling HK$0.09 on each
share of the Company in 2022.

Merger reserve
The merger reserve represents the reserve arising from the
group reorganisation in 1992.

Property revaluation reserve

Property revaluation reserve represents the reserve arising
from valuation of properties under property, plant and
equipment upon transfer to investment properties.

Translation reserve

The exchange translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy set out
in note 3.
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38. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

Each of the Company and Kantone, a 59.04% owned subsidiary of the
Company in last year, has a share option scheme under which eligible
persons, including directors of the Company, Kantone or any of their
respective subsidiaries, may be granted options to subscribe for shares
in the Company and Kantone respectively.

(@) The Company

On 30 November 2012, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the “Champion Option Scheme”). The purpose of the
Champion Option Scheme is to attract and to retain quality
personnel and other persons and to provide them with incentive
to contribute to the business and operation of the Group. Under
the Champion Option Scheme, the directors of the Company
may grant options to any directors, employees or consultants of
the Company, its subsidiaries or affiliates or any discretionary
trust whose discretionary objects include the aforesaid persons
or a company beneficially owned by the aforesaid persons as
well as customers, suppliers or advisors of the Group, to
subscribe for shares of the Company. An option granted by the
Company is exercisable at any time for a period determined by
its directors which should not be more than ten years from the
date of grant, where the acceptance date should not be later
than 21 days after the date of offer.

38. i I fE 5t &

AR B RS DR AR A F R A 59.04% ik i
ZHEBARAEBEREBRESE &
- EEMAL(BRARR FERIH
EEEANBARIZES) TEREBER
BUADRRBBARRRBBZERND

(@) &~27

RZE—=ZF+—A=+H &R
BIRM—EBRETEH(EEBR
EirE) EERRESEZEDH
ERRARBREFAEREM
AL BUSBRSEHAEER ¥
BREEBELER -BRIBETEEBER
ErE - BEAURAQA - LB
AFEBMBEARZAEMNEE S
HEM RIMaEEE(HEHZE
ANBIEEM Bt A+ v skl it A
+TEREA AR URAEER
ZEF HEBRZEHAREER
BUARBARB 2Kk - XREE
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38. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

(a)

(b)

204

The Company (Continued)

The exercise price per share (subject to adjustment as provided
therein) of the option granted under the Champion Option
Scheme is equal to the highest of () the nominal value of the
shares; (i) the closing price per share as stated in the daily
quotation sheet of the Exchange on the date of grant, which
must be a business day; and (i) the average closing price per
share as stated in the daily quotation sheet of the Exchange for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant.
The maximum number of shares in respect of which the options
may be granted under the Champion Option Scheme shall not
exceed 10% of the issued share capital of Champion at the date
of approval of the Champion Option Scheme. The total maximum
number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding share options must not exceed 30% of the issued
share capital of Champion from time to time. The number of
shares in respect of which options may be granted to any one
grantee in any 12-month period is not permitted to exceed 1% of
the shares of Champion in issue on the last date of such
12-month period, without prior approval from Champions
shareholders. The Champion Option Scheme will remain in force
for a period of 10 years commencing from 30 November 2012.
No share option has been granted since the adoption of such
scheme.

Kantone

On 30 November 2012, Kantone adopted a share option scheme
(the “Kantone Option Scheme”). The purpose of the Kantone
Option Scheme is to attract and to retain quality personnel and
other persons and to provide them with incentive to contribute to
the business and operation of the Kantone Group. Under the
Kantone Option Scheme, the directors of Kantone may grant
options to any eligible persons of the Kantone Group, including
directors, employees or consultants of Kantone, its subsidiaries
or affiliates or any discretionary trust whose discretionary objects
include the aforesaid persons or a company beneficially owned
by the aforesaid persons as well as customers, suppliers or
advisors of the Kantone Group, to subscribe for shares in
Kantone. An option granted by Kantone is exercisable at any
time for a period determined by its directors which should not be
more than ten years from the date of grant, where the
acceptance date should not be later than 21 days after the date
of offer.
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38. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued) 38. & PR RE 5T &l (@)

(b) Kantone (continued)

The exercise price per share (subject to adjustment as provided
therein) of the option granted under the Kantone Option Scheme
is equal to the highest of () the nominal value of the shares; (i)
the closing price per share as stated in the daily quotation sheet
of the Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a business
day; and (i) the average closing price per share as stated in the
daily quotation sheet of the Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant. The maximum number
of shares in respect of which the options may be granted under
the Kantone Option Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the issued
share capital of Kantone at the date of approval of the Kantone
Option Scheme. The total maximum number of shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options must not
exceed 30% of the issued share capital of Kantone from time to
time. The number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted to any one grantee in any 12-month period is not
permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of Kantone in issue on the
last date of such 12-month period, without prior approval from
Kantones shareholders. The Kantone Option Scheme will remain
in force for a period of 10 years commencing from 30 November
2012. No share option has been granted since the adoption of
such scheme up to the date of disposal of Kantone.

39. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Groups overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of other borrowings, equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share
capital, reserves and accumulated losses.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a bi-
annual basis. As part of this review, directors of the Company consider
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.
Based on recommendations of the directors of the Company, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the new share
issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or the
redemption of existing debt.
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40. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

41

206

As at 30 June 2021, the Group pledged certain investment properties
with aggregate carrying values of approximately HK$44,851,000 as
collateral in respect of its interest bearing other borrowing
(note 33).

Certain property, plant and equipment of the Group’s UK subsidiary
with aggregate carrying amounts of HK$11,011,000 have been
pledged as collaterals as at 30 June 2021, for the defined benefit
retirement scheme of certain subsidiaries operated in UK.

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group as lessor

At the end of the reporting period, the Group contracted with lessees in
respect of leasing of premises and certain equipment which is included
in plant and machinery and communications networks, which fall due
as follows:

40. E X E

R-B-—FXA=1+AH AEEHRE
AEEMERERETEREERELNR
44,851,000/ TH IR BV X EREH @
(fg7£33) °

R-TBE-_—FEXA=1+H A"EHEEH
ff 8~ 7 2 4 BR E {8 /11,011,000 7T
ZETYE BMELRXGBOWERER
RNEEZENE THE QRN TERERSF
RURFTEI MR R -

REHERH

AEBEEZEAA

NS B e AR AN 5 B B TH A BLIR
B #ERBEEETEENYENE
RBOEEFTZAR - FBHAMOT :

2021

—ET-—%F
Plant and
machinery and
Land and communications
buildings networks
M E - #Es
T RIEF MiBERES
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Within one year —F R — 4,229
In the second to fifth year inclusive FEEZERF(BEEEMTE) = 4,214
— 8,443

As at 30 June 2021, the Group has service and equipment rental
contract with customers amounting to HK$36,187,000. As at 30 June
2021, the future income to be generated from these contracts with an
aggregate amount of HK$43,379,000 have been pledged as securities
for the defined benefit retirement scheme of certain subsidiaries
operated in UK.
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42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

)

(i

The key management personnel are those persons holding
positions with authority and responsibility for planning, directing
and controlling the activities of the Group, directly or indirectly,
including the directors of the Company and the five highest paid

2. BEALIRS

) BREZAEZEERABEML
HEKRZMETE - HEMEH A
SEEDNBUNAR  BEAR
AEEMhAERRSHAR -TEE

individuals. Key management personnel remuneration are as BAEHMOT :
follows:

2022 2021
—F-=fF —T—F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FAET
Salaries and other benefits e kEAMET 10,052 12,504
Performance related incentive payments BEIERBBEHR RS 200 1,374
Retirement benefit scheme contributions R AR F R B4 5K 90 209
10,342 14,087

On 12 June 2017, regarding the loan borrowed by the Company
amounting to HK$305,000,000 (note 33), Mr. Cheng Yang (“Mr.
Cheng”) who was the former director and substantial shareholder
of the Company agreed to provide a personal guarantee. Mr.
Cheng had resigned as director of the Company on 15 August
2017 and disposed shares of 1,766,860,957 of the Company on
17 August 2018. On 10 October 2017, Ms. Wong Man Winny (“Ms.
Wong”), a substantial shareholder and director of the Company,
provided a personal guarantee for the loan. On 5 July 2018, the
lender discharged and released Mr. Cheng from his obligations
and liabilities under the guarantee. During the year ended 30
June 2021, Ms. Wong continued to provide a personal guarantee
regarding the abovementioned loan borrowed by the Company.
During the year, the abovementioned loan had been fully settled.
The provision of guarantee by Mr. Cheng and Ms. Wong under
the facility agreement constituted continuing connected
transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the Main Board Listing
Rules. However, this transaction is fully exempt from the
disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the Main Board Listing
Rules as the transaction was on normal commercial terms or
better and no security over the assets of the Company was
granted in respect of such financial assistance.

i) HRZZE—EFANA+=H ®AERQ
7] A7 & & 7X305,000,0003% 7T (M 5
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AER-BELEER _ZT—1HFN
ATHABTARRIZESTIN =
E-—NENATEtHHEXRA
1,766,860,957 I %10 c M =& — +
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42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(i)

V)

208

On 7 December 2017, the Group (as the borrower) and Ms.
Wong (as the lender), a substantial shareholder and director of
the Company had entered into a facility agreement pursuant to
which Ms. Wong agreed to lend to the Group up to
HK$4,180,000 in aggregate principle amount which was
unsecured, non-interest bearing and had no fixed term of
repayment and was repayable on demand (note 32). As at 30
June 2021, the outstanding balance due to Ms. Wong was
HK$2,180,000. During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group
disposed Kantone (the subsidiary borrowed this loan), and further
borrowed a HK$150,000 from Ms. Wong. The transaction
contemplated under the facility agreement constituted continuing
connected transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the Main
Board Listing Rules. However, this transaction is fully exempt
from the disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the Main
Board Listings Rules as the transaction was on normal
commercial terms or better and no security over the assets of the
Company was granted in respect of such financial assistance.

On 19 July 2017, the Group (as the borrower) and Mr. Law Shing
Hung (“Mr. Law”) (as the lender), a director of a subsidiary, had
entered into a facility agreement pursuant to which Mr. Law
agreed to lend to the Group up to HK$1,441,000 in aggregate
principle amount which was unsecured, non-interest bearing and
had no fixed term of repayment and was repayable on demand.
As at 30 June 2022, the balance was included in other payables
amounted to HK$1,441,000 (2021: HK$1,441,000). The
transaction contemplated under the facility agreement constituted
continuing connected transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of
the Main Board Listing Rules. However, this transaction is fully
exempt from the disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the
Main Board Listings Rules as the transaction was on normal
commercial terms or better and no security over the assets of the
Company was granted in respect of such financial assistance.
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42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 2. BEANLTRE @

(Continued)

vy On 19 July 2017, the Group issued promissory note with
principal amount of HK$120,000,000 in connection with the
acquisition of assets and liabilities through the acquisition of
subsidiaries. Upon the completion of the acquisition of
subsidiaries, the holder of the promissory note is a majority-
controlled company held by Mr. Yeung Chi Hang, a director of a
subsidiary. For the details of the promissory note, please refer to
the note 34 to the consolidated financial statements. During the
year, the promissory note had been fully settled. The transaction
contemplated under the promissory note constituted continuing
connected transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the Main
Board Listing Rules. However, this transaction is fully exempt
from the disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the Main
Board Listings Rules as the transaction was on normal
commercial terms or better and no security over the assets of the
Company was granted in respect of such financial assistance.

43. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s financial
instruments and investment properties measured as at 30 June 2022
and 2021 on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair value
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13 “Fair value measurement”. The level
into which a fair value measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance of the inputs used in the
valuation technique as follows:

Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e.
unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement date such as listed stocks, bonds, funds
or any assets that have a regular mark to market mechanism for setting
a fair market value.

Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e.
observable inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Level 2 assets are assets that do not have regular
market pricing, but whose fair value can be determined based on other
data values or market prices. For example, valuers adopt valuation
model for assessing the market value of the properties, such as
comparing with similar assets surrounding the properties, hence, the
fair values are quoted prices for similar assets and not for identical
assets.

Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant unobservable
inputs.

43.

BEMNREEERLF
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43. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

Assets measured at fair value BAAREBEITEZEE
Fair value Level 1 Level 3
AREE BB E=ZE#HR
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FExT FET
As at 30 June 2022 RZZB-_—_FA=1+H
Assets BE
Investment properties wEWE 47,275 = 47,275
Financial assets at FVTPL BEAhBEFABZZEREE
— listed equity securities — ETRAES 21,985 21,985 -
— unlisted equity securities — I ETMRAES - - -
Fair value Level 1 Level 3
NABE B-EBH F=ZER
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FAT FET
As at 30 June 2021 RZEBE-Z—FXHA=+H
Assets BE
Investment properties "EYE 50,022 = 50,022
Financial assets at FVTPL BARBEFAEGRZEHEE
— listed equity securities — PR AE S 41,893 41,893 —

— 3 b TR A B - - -

— unlisted equity securities
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43. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

Assets measured at fair value (continued) BERAARBEFEZEE®
The movements during the year in the balance of these Level 3 fair EFRNZEE-EBRAABEFEZES
value measurements are as follows: ZEBELMOT
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Investment properties including those EMEDEARBIELEEZ
classified as held for sales BEMNREME
At 1 July R+A—A 50,022 54,301
Currency realignment PE 5 (1,181) 3,542
Fair value adjustment on investment properties ~ REWE 2 AR BEFEE (1,566) 2,270
Disposals & ~ (10,091)
At 30 June ANA=1H 47,275 50,022
2022 2021
—E-C— T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Unlisted equity securities EETMRAES
At 1 July RER—H = 975
Fair value loss on financial assets at BARBEFAEGZEHEE
fair value through profit or loss N EEERE = (975)
At 30 June RNA=1+H - =
BENEEEERAT —T-—£4% 211
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43. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

ar

43. AR EBEFTEw

Assets measured at fair value (Continued)

Currency realignment is recognised in other comprehensive income in
exchange reserve.

All the gains or loss recognised in profit or loss for the year arise from
the investment properties and listed equity securities held during the
reporting period.

There were no transfer between level 1, 2 and 3 during both years.

The fair value of all investment properties located in PRC (excluded the
leasehold land where the hotel property erected) (see note 19) were
derived using the market comparable approach based on price per
square feet or square metre observed in recent market prices and
adjusted for certain unobservable inputs including the adjustment of the
building age, location, fair value market rent and floor level to reflect
different locations and conditions. The fair value of the leasehold land
where the hotel property erected was derived using adjusted market
comparable approach by (a) making reference to comparable sales of
bare-land with lease term of 40 years; (b) adjusted for the term factor
using the valuation technique to estimate value of bare-land with lease
term of 10 years (2021: 10 years) at 2033; and (c) take into account the
time value of money.

As at 30 June 2022, the fair value of unlisted equity securities at FVTPL
amounting to HK$NIil (2021: HKS$NIl) is assessed by the management of
the Group by using income approach with discounted cash flow
method (2021: discounted cash flow method).
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43. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) 43. AR EBEFTEw@

Assets measured at fair value (continued) ZANABEFEZCEE @

Investment properties/

financial assets Relationship of unobservable

held by the Group Valuation techniques & key inputs Significant unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
FEERFANRE FUBERAYEE
ME SREE HERTREEGAZE EXTAEEGAEE DREBEZBE

Investment properties

Direct comparison method

Price per square metre, using market

A slight increase in the price per

located in the PRC
(excluded the leasehold

HELEX direct comparable and taking into square metre will increase

account the location and other significantly with fair value
individual factors such as age of the & F A KEREH LA

land where hotel The key input is price per square metre

property erected) TEBAHBREGTHRER property, which is ranged from R EEAEEM
RPN RENE HK$16,800 (equivalent to

(T BEEYER RMB14,400) to HK$29,600

B2HETH) (equivalent to RMB25,300) (2021:

HK$17,900 (equivalent to
RMB14,900) to HK$31,700
(equivalent to RMB26,400)).

FAMSIERELRYEL TR
b B DA e M A2 B 5 H fth {E B
AEEREZETHKREREN
T16,800 B T (HER AR
14,4007T) £29,600 7% 7t (HH % 7
AR#253007m) (ZT=—F:
17,9007% 7t (185 1 A R 14,900
J0)E31,7008 T (HERARE
26,400 7T)) °
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43. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

Assets measured at fair value (continued) BRAREBETEZEE @

Investment properties/
financial assets

held by the Group
FEERANRE
ME SREE

Valuation techniques & key inputs

RERMRIEGAHE

Significant unobservable inputs

EXTUBRGAHE

Relationship of unobservable
inputs to fair value
TABRBAYESR
DMABEZBR

Investment property
included the leasehold
land where the hotel
property erected and
located in the PRC

RENX (BEBIEY
EBRVEMRHE
HHE )

Unlisted equity securities

FLTHRAKRE

214

Adjusted market comparable method
ARG LEE

The key input is price per square metre

TEHABBERETIAER

Income approach with discounted
cash flow method (2021: income

approach with discounted cash flow

method)
W ERBRERIMRE(ZT=Z—
FWESERBRERITEE)
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Price per square metre, using adjusted
market comparable approach by a)
making reference to comparable
sales of bare land with lease term of
40 years; b) adjusted for the term
factor using the valuation technique
to estimate value of bare land with
lease term of 10 years (2021: 10
years) as at 2033; and c) take into
account the time value of money at
discount rate of 6.5% (2021: 6%)
from 2033 to 30 June 2022, which
is approximately HK$430 (equivalent
to RMB370) (2021: HK$430
(equivalent to RMB350)).

FAEABTSLEE S Ba) LR
MEABIOFNTHOERE ) K

Eﬁ&ﬁ%i%l%%ﬁﬁ%
ﬁﬁfgzziﬂ%ﬁm
EMBE(ZT - —F:

E) )wﬁ&iﬁm%ﬁﬁﬁ
BEZE=-=-FZ-FT-_FXA
=+ ARMREES%(ZT=—
F 6% T EBEZBTHKE
BA430 8 T (SR AREES70
T(ZZEZ—F : H9430 % T (18

ERARBI507T)) °

N/A (2021: N/A)
TER(ZE=-—%:TERA)

The higher the price square metre
the higher the fair value
SEIKERLAES
DA EEEM

N/A (2021: N/A)
TEA(CZEZ—F:TER)



e BB REE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-_ZT - XA =+HILEE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 44. & A B Bt 4 R &
OF THE COMPANY

2022 2021
—E-= T —4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Non-current assets kRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries ALY NGT - 3 728 82,572
Current assets RBEE
Other receivables JiE Uk L Ath BR 3R 4,529 784
Financial assets at fair value through BARBETAEBRZZ
profit or loss EREE 15,771 31,131
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEULHT B A Rl FIE 17,311 25,297
Cash and cash equivalents BehBeEHE 6,588 1,680
44,199 58,892
Current liabilities REBAE
Accruals and other payables FEET B A REM HE MR 3,822 7,487
Amounts due to shareholders FE AR R K18 20 20
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERTHT B A Al 28 161,247 184,314
Amount due to a director B —REERIBBAFE 150 =
165,239 191,821
Net current liabilities RBEEFE (121,040) (132,929)
Non-current liabilities FRBEME
Promissory note payable FEAT AR B AR — 38,306
Interest bearing other borrowing AEEMEE
— amount due after one year — R —F BB HNRIE - 185,000
- 223,306
Net liabilities BEEFE (120,312) (273,663)
Capital and reserves BAREE
Share capital % < 27,353 68,383
Deficit (note) &5 At (Bt ) (147,665) (342,046)
Total deficit 5 4l 48 58 (120,312) (273,663)

KRB ZHBERRARER T =_F
NWAZt+hBEHEZSHEREETR
BOUATHIEERRES:

The Company’s statement of financial position was approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29 September 2022
and are signed on its behalf by:

WONG MAN WINNY LIU KA LIM
EH BER
Joint Chairperson Director
BEFEE EE
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44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 44, 7~ /A 3] Bt & 48 57 & &)
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Note: Movements of the Company’s reserves during the current and the prior years M : AR ANEERBEEE2HEEH
are as follows: M
Capital
Share redemption General Capital Accumulated

premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
=&

ROEE WEREE —REE BELHE B i A&t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000  HKS$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000

FET FET FET FHET FET FET

At 1 July 2020 RZTE-_TF+tHA—AH 2,221,869 50 1,366,003 829,771 (4,650,543) (232,850)

Loss and total comprehensive 74 EE51E N 2 E < 4

expense for the year Rk - — — — (109,196)  (109,196)
At 30 June 2021 and R=ZZE=-—FXA=1+H

1 July 2021 E—_ZT-_—%+H—H 2,221,869 50 1,366,003 829,771 (4,759,739)  (342,046)
Rights issue A% (7,252) — - - — (7,252)
Capital reduction A% A IR — — — 246,179 — 246,179
Loss and total comprehensive 7x 45 & 518 & 2 H  H

expense for the year k) — — — — (44,546) (44,546)
At 30 June 2022 R-ZE-_—_F#XA=1+H 2,214,617 50 1,366,003 1,075,950 (4,804,285) (147,665)
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45. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 30 June 2022 and 2021 are R —_FR-_ZE-—FXA=+

as follows: A ARASHBARZFBAT
Nominal value of
issued share capital/ Proportion of nominal value of
Place of incorporation/ registered capital/ issued share capital
Name of subsidiaries operations Capital contribution held by the Company Principal activities
WEARER HMARY/Sgtsd CRARAEE/ZMER/EARE ADAMKCRARAEENRA TTEE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-CE “Z--F —E-CE —T-—F
100BESTSHOPS.COM Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100%  Provision of e-shopping and
Eh EER2ET EERoET internet-based activities
REEREFENREHREN
MR%
Alied Joy (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 Ordinary HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
EfR(ER)ERAA Bk EER1BTR ERRIET REER
Ample Splendid Holdings Limited BVI Ordinary US$100  Ordinary US$100 100% 100%  Investment holding
ERRRERAA EBEBREE EERI00ET  EBERI0ET REER
Aspire Management Limited (note iv) BVI Ordinary Ordinary - 59.04%  Investment holding
(Bitztiv) ARARRER US$2,636,320 18$2,636,320 REZK
LER BBk
2,636,320 % 7T 2,636,320% T
Big Charm Holdings Limited* BVI Ordinary US$10,000 Ordinary US$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
hEBRERRR" ERERRES ZER10,000% 7 Ei@R10000%T REER
Bingo Profits Limited (note iv) BVI Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 - 59.04%  Investment holding
(Bitsiv) ERERRES LER1ZTR ERR1ET REER
Bliss Ease Limited* BVI Ordinary US$50,000 Ordinary US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
BAARAF" AEEBRESR EER50,000% T & i@R50000% T RERR
Bright Creation Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 Ordinary HK$10,000 100% 100%  Trading of cultural and other
BEEEERAR Bk EER100008 T EEA10000% T products
XEREMERE S
Champion (Cook Islands) Limited* Cook Islands Ordinary HKS$1 Ordinary HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
ERHE EER1ETR LTaRIET REER
Champion Cutture Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 Ordinary HK$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
BEXEEERAA Bk EER100008 T EBEAZ10000E T REER
Champion Energy Resources Co Limited ~ BVI Ordinary US$100  Ordinary US$100 100% 100%  Investment holding
BERRERERAA EREBRES BEERI0ER  EBERI0ET REER
Champion Energy Trading Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 Ordinary HK$1 100% 100%  Trading (Gasoi)
Company Limited B% EERIBT LERIAT % (M mm)
BERREFERLA
Champion Luck International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HKS2 100% 100%  Property investment
REBRERAT Bk EER2E R LakoET NERE
Champion Million Industries Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100%  Property investment
HEBEEARAT B LER2E R TmkoET ES§

BEMNREEERLF
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45. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 45. ff B X 7 B E )

Nominal value of

218

issued share capital/ Proportion of nominal value of
Place of incorporation/ registered capital/ issued share capital
Name of subsidiaries operations Capital contribution held by the Company Principal activities
WEARER HMAL/Benl BRORFAEE/HMER/EXRE ARAMBERARAEELA FEEH
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-CE —E--F —EZC-E —E--%
Champion Pacific Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100%  Property investment
BPREBRAA Bk LER2ER L@ReAT NERE
Champion Solana Energy Group Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 Ordinary HK$10,000 60% 60% Inactive
BEAGHEEERAT &k EER10000 T EER10000ETT LEXHK
Champiqn Sports Development Limited ~ BVI Ordinary US$1,000  Ordinary US$1,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
BEBEERARLA ABEBREE BBER1000%T  LHR1000%T RERR
Champion Renewable Energy Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 Ordinary HK$10,000 100% 100%  Design and sales of renewable
Engineering Company Limited Bk EHER10,0008 8  LiER10,000ET energy products and solutions
BEBEWRIRERAR ABERRERNERTRY
REtMEE
Champion Renewable Energy Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 Ordinary HK$10,000 100% 100%  Design and sales of renewable
Company Limited 5% EER10,0008x  LEK10,0005T energy products and solutions
BERLRRERDA AEERRERNRAT R
Rt MEE
Champnet Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100%  Inactive
BERRBERAA BE LER2ER LER2AET TEEY
Chosen Vantage Limited Samoa Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 100% 100%  Inactive
EETHS BERIET L aEI EEEY
Cosmic Ocean Global Limited* BVI Ordinary US$50,000 Ordinary US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
LERRERAR ABARRES EER50,000% T EHR50,000% T REER
Cutture Landmark Authentication Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 Ordinary HK$10,000 100% 100%  Inactive
And Valuation Centre (HK) Limited &8 EER100008 T ZiHBAR10,000% T TEEK
S BEER L (BE)ERAE
Cyber Solutions Inc. Samoa Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 100% 100%  Inactive
EETHS EER1ZTR ERRIET RN
Diamond Edge Enterprises Limited* BVI Ordinary US$50,000 Ordinary US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
BRCEERAR" ABARRNES EER50,000% 7 %R MK60,000% T REER
d-Key Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS$1 Ordinary HK$1 100% 100%  Inactive
B EER1ER ERRIET LEXHK
d-Key Inc. Samoa Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 100% 100%  Inactive
EETHS BERIET taRiEn RN
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45. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 45. fff B A~ 7] B E @)
Nominal value of
issued share capital/ Proportion of nominal value of

Place of incorporation/ registered capital/ issued share capital
Name of subsidiaries operations Capital contribution held by the Company Principal activities
WEARER HMRY/Sgwsd CRORAEE/HAMER/EARE ADAMBCRARAEENRA TEEE

2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-CE —E--F —B-CE —E--F
ESP International Group Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100%  Advertising and recruitment
ESPEIEEESEERDA ¥ LERET LTERAT agency
BEERABRERR
Eternal Huge Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100  Ordinary HK$100 100% 100%  Investment holding
KEERERAA i EERI00BT  EBRI00ET REZR
Financial Vantage Limited (note iv) Samoa Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 - 59.04%  Inactive
(M eEiv) EETES EER1ZR EBRIET TEEH
Gleaming Developments Limited BVI ) Ordinary US$50,000 Ordinary US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
ERBERERAF RBARREE EER50,000% 7 & i#R50000% T REER
Golden Field Property Limited Hong Kong Ordinary Ordinary 51% 51%  Investment holding
MEEBERRRA i HK$10,000,000  HK$10,000,000 RERR
EER LRk
10,000,000 10,000,000 T
Happy Commercial Company Limited Macau Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Provision of documentation
EXBRNA 1 MOP25,000 MOP25,000 services and arrangement and
LERRAY LRRRMAE business consultant
25,0007 25,0007 REXHERREALZHR
RS
Harilela Kantone Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 Ordinary HK$10,000 55.0% 55.0%  Inactive
Telecommunications Limited 3 EER100008 T Ei#10000% T R3S

High Win Limited BVI Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding and strategic

RELAREE EERIER ERERIET investment

REZBRRERIURE

Hero King Holdings Limited BVI Ordinary US$100  Ordinary US$100 100% 100%  Property investment
BHUERERAT ABEBREE EERI00ET  EBRI0ET NERE
Honest City Enterprises Limited* BVI Ordinary US$50,000 Ordinary US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
RACEERAA" ABEBRES EER50,000% 7 Ei@iR50000% T REER
Hong Kong T Alliance Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100%  Inactive
BEEAMBBEERAA Bk LER2E R ERR2ET EEXH
i-key (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 Ordinary HK$1 100% 100%  Inactive

Bk EER1ETR ERRIEL TEXY
i-key Inc. Samoa Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 100% 100%  Inactive

EELES EER1ZR ERRIZET TEEH
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45. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 45. i B A R B E u)
Nominal value of
issued share capital/ Proportion of nominal value of
Place of incorporation/ registered capital/ issued share capital
Name of subsidiaries operations Capital contribution held by the Company Principal activities
WEARER HMAL/Benl BRORFAEE/HMER/EXRE ARAMBERARAEELA FEEH
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-CE —E--F —EZC-E —E--%
Infopage Limited (note iv) UK Ordinary £1,000 Ordinary £1,000 - 59.04%  Dormant
(M zE) %E EER1000%E LHR10005E BRI
Kannet Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100%  Inactive
ERBRAERAT 3 LER2ER ERR2ET LEXHK
Kantone™ (note iv) Cayman Islands/ Ordinary Ordinary - 59.04%  Investment holding
i (W) Hong Kong HK$21,703,850.6  HK$21,703,850.6 REER
HeHs/ /&% EER LER
21,703,850.6 7 21,703,850.6/5 T
Kantone Energy Trading Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 Ordinary HK$10,000 - 59.04%  Investment holding
(note v) 5% LER10,0008 T LERK10000% T REER
EREREHERAR ()
Kantone Logistics Management Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 Ordinary HK$1 - 59.04%  Investment holding
(note iv) Bk EERIAT ERRIET REER
ERMAERARAR (M)
Kantone Paging Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000 ~ Ordinary HK$1,000 100% 100%  Trading of pagers and provision of
ERPXETBR AR 0 Deferred Deferred messaging services
HK$2,000,000 HK$2,000,000 BEEEWHERIRHAERS
EER10008x  L@R1000% T
BER BER
2,000,000 7T 2,000,000/ 7T
Muttitone (UK) Limited (note iv) UK Ordinary Ordinary - 59.04%  Investment holding
(Fit&Eiv) & £5,500,000 £5,500,000 REZRK
EER EER
5,500,000 & 5,500,000 % 8
Keen Pacific Limited (note v) Samoa Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 - 59.04%  Inactive
(Fr&iv) BEGES EER1ZT ERRIER TEEY
Kontone Development Limited (note iv) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 - 59.04%  Inactive
ABERERAT (M) B LER2ER ERRoAT TEEY
Kontone International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100%  Investment holding
ARERBRAR B LER2ER LRRoAET REER
KTT (Cook Islands) Limited* Cook Islands Ordinary HK$10,000 Ordinary HK$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
BRES EER10,0008 T EEK10000ETT REER
Luckiest Trading (Macao Macau Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Provision of consulting services,
Commercial) Limited 2 MOP100,000 MOP100,000 research and development,
EHNE S (RMEE)-ABBLAH Bl sk LRERRME and trading of cultural
100,000 7¢ 100,0007C products
REBRRYE HERAE
WREEX I Em
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HE-T-_=-F/X"A=1+H1LFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

45. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 45. i B A~ 7] B B 4
Nominal value of
issued share capital/ Proportion of nominal value of
Place of incorporation/ registered capital/ issued share capital
Name of subsidiaries operations Capital contribution held by the Company Principal activities
WEARER HMRY/Sgwsd CRORAEE/HAMER/EARE ADAMBCRARAEENRA TEEE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-CE —E--F —B-CE —E--F
Lucky Edge Holdings Limited BVI Ordinary US$100  Ordinary US$100 100% 100%  Property investment
HMERERAT AREBRES EERI0ET  EBRI0ET NERE
Izucky Global Group Limited* BVI Ordinary US$100  Ordinary US$100 100% 100%  Investment holding
VERREEAERAA) EREBREE EERI00ET  EBRI0ET REER
Magic Elite Investments Limited” BVI Ordinary US$50,000 Ordinary US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
PRERAFRAR" ABARRES EER50,000% T & i#R50000% T REER
M.C. Holdings Limited (note iv) Cayman Islands Ordinary Ordinary - 59.04%  Investment holding
(Fr & iv) HewB £5,500,002 £5,500,002 REER
EER LER
5,500,002 & 5,500,002 & 8%
Muttitone Communications Limited (note iv) UK Ordinary £100 Ordinary £100 - 59.04%  Dormant
(Wi zkiv) 5E EERI0KE  ZBRI0KEE BEILEHR
Muttitone Communication Systems UK Ordinary £25,000  Ordinary £25,000 - 59.04%  Dormant
Limited (note iv) (f3Eiv) & EER25,000%E E@k25000% 5 BRILEH
Multitone General Partner Limited (note iv) UK Ordinary £100 Ordinary £100 - 59.04%  Investment holding
(MaEiv) 5H EERI0KE  TERI0£EE REER
Multitone Rentals Limited (note iv) UK Ordinary £100 Ordinary £100 - 59.04%  Dormant
(Bt &Eiv) E EERI00KE  ZBRI0RE BRIERHK
Multitone Retirement Benefits Plan UK Ordinary £1 Ordinary £1 - 59.04%  Investment holding
Trustee Limited (note iv) i EERIEE ERRIEE REER
(MsEiv)
Marcotte Limited Samoa Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
BEEGES EER1ZT LAR1IZT REER
Muttitone Electronics PLC (note iv) UK Ordinary Ordinary - 59.04%  Investment holding, design and
GED) i3 £3,830,107 £3,830,107 manufacture of communication
LR LER systems and equipment
3,830,107 % 3,830,107 %45 REBR RAREEREZ
SRR
Muttitone Electronics San. Bhd. (noteiv) ~ Malaysia Ordinary Ordinary - 59.04%  Manufacture of communication
(P&Eiv) SRAD MR285,000 MR285,000 systems and equipment
EER EBR EERRZRRRME
2850005 RAE 2850005 KA &
A+ AL
A ~Aa
Muttiton Elektronik GmbH (note iv) Germany Ordinary Ordinary - 59.04%  Distribution of communication
(MisEv) (e £1,022,584 £1,022,584 systems and equipment
EER LRk PEBEZRRRE

1,022,584 3 1,002,584 5 £
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45. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 45. ff B X 7 B E )

Nominal value of

222

issued share capital/ Proportion of nominal value of
Place of incorporation/ registered capital/ issued share capital
Name of subsidiaries operations Capital contribution held by the Company Principal activities
WEARER HMAY/Sgwd ERARAEE/ZMER/EARE ADAMBCRARFEERSA TTEE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-CE —E--F —EZC-E —E--%
Muttitone Scottish Limited Partnership UK Capital Capital = 59.04%  Investment holding
(note fv) (Fitzkv) il contribution contribution REAR
£300 £300
AR E EARE
3005 & 300K &
New Envirotech Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$20 Ordinary HK$20 100% 100%  Inactive
MEEAERAR 5 EER20ER ERER0ET LEXH
New Telecomm Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Inactive
MEFERERAT )0 HK$6,000,000 HK$6,000,000 EREG
EER LBk
6,000,000 7 6,000,000 70
Paging Systems Limited UK Ordinary Ordinary - 59.04%  Inactive
(note i) (BizEv) il £1,100,100 £1,100,100 TEEG
EBR Ordinary
1,100,100%8 110010054
Pearl Delta Inc. (note iv) (FiFiv) Samoa/Macau Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 - 59.04%  Inactive
BETES/AM BERIZET taRiEn TEEH
Power Favour Holdings Limited* BVI Ordinary US$100  Ordinary US$100 100% 100%  Investment holding
BRERERAR" EBERARES EERI00ER  EBRI00ET REER
QQKK.COM Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100%  Inactive
o LER2ER LRRoAET TEEY
Roc Castle Holdings Limited BVI Ordinary US$50,000 Ordinary US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
BR2ERERAR ABARRES EER50,000% 7 EiBR50,000% T REER
Shenzhen Hengyu Science and PRC Registered Registered - 59.04%  Investment holding
Technology Company Limited H capital capital REER
(note ii and iv)* RMB24,000,000 RMB24,000,000
BB I ERAA ZMEAARY HMEXARS
(P i Beiv) 24,000,000 ¢ 24,000,000
Skil King Holdings Limited BVI Ordinary US$50,000 Ordinary US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
LERRERAR ABARRREE EBR50,000% T EBR60,000% T REER
Silver Edge Holdings Limited BVI Ordinary US$50,000 Ordinary US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
RAZRBERAT AEEBRES EER50,000% 7w i M50,000% T RERR
Sky Sign Holdings Limited (note iv) BVI Ordinary US$50,000 Ordinary US$50,000 - 59.04%  Investment holding
REERBRRAR (Fv) AREBRES EER50,000% T EiBR50,000% T REER
Silverstrand Investments Limited (note iv) ~ Samoa Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 - 59.04%  Investment holding
(B &Eiv) EETHS EERIER LRR1ER RERR
Solar Rise Enterprises Limited” BVI Ordinary US$100  Ordinary US$100 100% 100%  Investment holding
ABCEBERAR" AREBRES EERI0ET  EBRI0ET REER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-T-_=-F/X"A=1+H1LFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

45. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 45. fff B A~ 7] B E @)
Nominal value of
issued share capital/ Proportion of nominal value of
Place of incorporation/ registered capital/ issued share capital
Name of subsidiaries operations Capital contribution held by the Company Principal activities
WEARER HMRY/Sgwsd CRORAEE/HAMER/EARE ADAMBCRARAEENRA TEEE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-CE —E--F —B-CE —E--F
Abundant Success Trading (Macao Macau Ordinary Ordinary - 59.04%  Provision of consulting services,
Commercial) Limited (note iv) R MOP100,000 MOP100,000 research and development
KHEZ(RFHAE) - AFRAA EER Lk and trading of cultural
(Fr&Eiv) ®FI%100,0007T 2P 100,0007T products
RUBRRYE RERFAEN
EXERES
Sure Beauty Investments Limited (note iv) ~ BVI Ordinary US$50,000 Ordinary US$50,000 - 59.04%  Investment holding
EEREBRAR (M) ABEBRESE EER50,000% 7 %i@kR50000% T REER
Vast Success (Hong Kong) Finance Hong Kong Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Money lending
Company Liited o HK$100,000 HK$100,000 HEES
B (EH) FERBERAA EBR LRk
100,000 7T 100,000% 7
Vast Acute Holdings Limited BVI Ordinary US$100  Ordinary US$100 100% 100%  Property investment
BRERERAA AREBRES EERI00ET  EBRI0ET NERE
Wollaston Limited (note iv) Samoa/Macau Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 - 59.04%  Investment holding
(Bitstiv) ABERREE/ AN EER1ZT LRRIER REER
Y28.COM Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100%  Provision of e-commerce,
BHEBRLA B0 EER2BT LERoAT m-commerce and intemet
based activities
REERESHE RBHE
REBBNRE
Zonal Care Incorporated (note iv) British Virgin Ordinary US$2 Ordinary US$2 - 59.04%  Inactive
(MizE) Islands/Macau EER2%ET LEkoET EEER
ABERREE/ AN
Champion Telecommunication PRC Registered Registered 100% 100%  Sales of general system products
(Shenzhen) Co. Ltd (note i) i capital capital and provision of services and
@M ORI) AR A = (aEi) HK$2,450,000 HK$2,450,000 software licensing
EmER AMER HE—REZRERRRERSK
2,450,000 7T 2,450,000/ 1T REMRTE
Digital HongKong.com Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100%  Telecommunication service and
HEERARAA ) EER2ER ERROEL strategic investment
EMRBRERRE
Eamest Century Limited Samoa Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 100% 100%  Inactive
BEELES EERIER LRRIER TEEH
Eight Converge Limited (note iv) Samoa Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 - 59.04%  Inactive
NEBRA A (B Fiv) BEGHE EER1ZT ERRIET TEEY
Golden Opportunity Limited (note iv) Samoa Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 - 59.04%  Inactive
AR (K ) BEGHS EER1ZR EBRIET TEEY
Manning International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 Ordinary HK$10,000 100% 100%  Management service
XHERERAF i EER10,0008 T E@KE10000% T EERB
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45. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 45. ff B X 7 B E )

Nominal value of

issued share capital/ Proportion of nominal value of
Place of incorporation/ registered capital/ issued share capital
Name of subsidiaries operations Capital contribution held by the Company Principal activities
WEAR R HMAL/Benl BRORFAEE/HMER/EXRE ARAMBERARAEELA FEEH
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-CE —E--F —EZC-E —E--%

Champion Smart Technology Company ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 Ordinary HK$1 100% 100%  Trading in telecommunication
Limited (Formerly known as Multitone &7 EER1ETL ERRIET system and products
(Asia) Smart Communication BAZRRERES
Technology Company Limited)

BEEEHMBARAA(IBABTESE
(@M BERAMBZERAF)

United Software Aliance Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100%  Inactive

BHBEERAT £ LER2ER LRR2ET EEEY

Y28 Innovations* Cayman Islands Ordinary HKS0.1 Ordinary HKS0.1 100% 100%  Investment holding

FERS EEROIET  EBROER REER

Champion OTS Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 Ordinary HK$10,000 60% 60%  Sales of general system products
(Incorporated on 27 July 2020) 3 EER10,0008 T ZiEAE10,000% T —REGEMNEE

BEXRPEZNERDA \

(R=E-ZFtA-TtAZHRYL)

Champion Widex Solar Energy International Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 Ordinary HK$10,000 60% 60%  Inactive
Limited (incorporated on 6 July 2020) &% EER10,0008 T TEAE10,000% T EREG

BEERAGEERERAT

(RZZZRFL AR BRI

Art Lead International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 Ordinary HK$1 100% 100%  Inactive

ZEARARAA B EER1ER ERRIAT TR

Notes: Bt 5

() Partially foreign owned enterprise for a term from 1 July 2000 to 19 June 2050. (i) SEaBRLR FHE-FTETF LA

AE-FRAEFAATARA

(i) Wholly foreign owned enterprise for a term of 20 years commencing from 17 (i SIEBELE FHHE_TT=F+A+
October 2003. tHEFH - +F-

(iif Wholly foreign owned enterprise for a term of 30 years commencing from 27 (iif SIEBECE FHA-NAAEFAAZ
June 1995. ++HBRBFH=TF-

(iv) Disposed on 9 November 2021. (iv) RZE-_—F+—ANLBHE-

. Directly held by the Company K BARAEERAE

# For identification purposes only ! 12 3t F 7

224 ChampionTechnology Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022



e ISR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-_ZT - XA =+HILEE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

45. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The deferred shares, which are held by the Group, of an indirect wholly
owned subsidiary, Kantone Paging Company Limited entitled the
holders thereof to:

(@  a fixed non-cumulative dividend at the rate of 5% per annum for
any financial year of the company in question in respect of which
the net profits of such company exceed HK$100,000,000,000;
and

(b)  on a winding-up, a return of the capital paid up on such shares
out of the surplus assets of the company in question after a total
sum of HK$100,000,000,000 has been distributed in such
winding up in respect of each of the ordinary shares of such
company.

Save as disclosed, none of the subsidiaries had any debt securities
subsisting at 30 June 2022 and 2021 or at any time during the year.

45. i B 2~ 7 B E @)

HASERKAZ RIFEXZEHEEN
MEBARBEBATXETERARZEL
B T HEEE ARA

@ fHZARREEMN—EYRFE
2 4 F 2 31 100,000,000,00078 TT
B M ARWIEBSEZERE
FREBERE K

b) MNARBEE FRZBER
FZAREREABARY KA

T n

Z

SN

100,000,000,0007%8 T 14 * A #%
ZRBEBEFREZSRMN
R -

BREXBEEEIN SHBRARAR-_F=
TERZBC-FRA=ZTHIFRE
fa] B i 25 8% £ o] 15 75 78 5
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HE-_T-_-F/XA=1HFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

45. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 45. [t |8 » 8] & B @)
Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that BEEARFEZRBREERZ 2
have material non-controlling interests ETEWMB AR ZFHE
The table below provides details of a non-wholly owned subsidiaries of TRIERESERIFERREE S Z A
the Group that has material non-controlling interests: EEFEEWNBARZFE

Proportion of
ownership interests and

voting rights held by Profit/(loss) allocated to Accumulated
Place of incorporation and non-controlling interests ~ non-controlling interests ~ non-controlling interests
Name of subsidiaries principal place of business as at 30 June for the year ended 30 June as at 30 June
RAA=T1H BEXA=THLEE
AR AR S B R IR R R & P PEWFFERKRR RAAB=tHZH
MEDREB TEEXEBY BEREERREELH BB/ (BE) FERRRELR
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
—EB- = —E-—F ZE--Ff —T—-— —E-C —E-—
Kantone and its Cayman Islands/Hong Kong N/A 41.0% 1,337 2,330 - 44,099
subsidiaries HERs B8 T A
BERRAMBAR
Golden Field and its Hong Kong/PRC 49% 49% (628) 554 18,789 26,988
subsidiary BE/H
MeHkENB AR
Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s subsidiaries HEEAIELERERERZ 2 AEFHKN B
that have material non-controlling interests is set out below. The NAIZHBERBEEHIWOT - 58
summarised financial information below represents amounts before BERNBMEREMBEBRRNIIRZ S HIZ
elimination of intra-group transactions. ki
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HE-_ZT - XA =+HILEE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

45. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 45. it B A 7 B E @)
Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that BMEERFEERBRRESZZ
have material non-controlling interests (Continued) k2EMBARZFHRE @
Kantone and its subsidiaries EBNEWE AT
2021
—E-—4&F
HK$’000
Fi&T
Non-current assets ERBEE 38,885
Current assets MEBEE 177,795
Current liabilities mEBAE (91,246)
Non-current liabilities ERBAE (A7,771)
Equity =
— Attributable to owners of the Company —ARAREA AE 63,564
— Attributable to non-controlling interests — IR R R IR 44,099
107,663
Revenue U == 139,069
Profit for the year N E 5 F
— Attributable to owners of the Company S NUNCTE ¥ =Ny ) 3,359
— Attributable to the non-controlling interests — PR AR R A S A 2,330
5,689
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45. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 45. [t B ~ 7] B E @)
Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that BEEREERRRAERZZ
have material non-controlling interests (continued) krEMBRAIZHE @
Kantone and its subsidiaries (Continued) EBREMWEB QT @
2021
B —F
HK$’000
FHET
Other comprehensive income for the year AEFEZHMmEEUA
— Attributable to owners of the Company —ARARHEAB AEG 29,020
— Attributable to non-controlling interests — FE 45 A% A% SR 25 FE 4G 20,133
49,153
Total comprehensive income for the year RFEEEEBALRE 54,842
Net cash inflow from operating activities MEEBRAZE TR 13,661
Net cash outflow from investing activities HEEBRLE 2R ST (3,302)
Net cash outflow from financing activities MEFBRL CHE S FE ©818)
Net increase in deposits, bank balances and cash TR ROTEHRERES 2L MNFRE 9,541
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HE-_ZT - XA =+HILEE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

45. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 45. ff B 1~ 7 B E )

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that
have material non-controlling interests (continued)

Golden Field and its subsidiary

BEEAFERRRERZ
2EMBRARZFHE @

MEIRENEQF

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET F#T
Non-current assets ERBEE 39,049 43,592
Current assets MEEE 15,869 18,803
Current liabilities nEEE (16,574) (7,319)
Non-current liabilities ERBAGE = -
Equity R a
— Attributable to owners of the Company Vi N/NETE PN R it 19,555 28,088
— Attributable to non-controlling interests —JEIERR IR R R R PR AL 18,789 26,988
38,344 55,076
(Loss)/profit for the year RNEE (EB), 5% 7
— Attributable to owners of the Company —ARREIHE AEL (653) 577
— Attributable to the non-controlling interests —FEERR AR R A A (628) 554
(1,281) 1,131
Other comprehensive (expense)/income for the year 78 4E /8 H i 2 & (X 1) M A
— Attributable to owners of the Company VN/NETE =Ny X ) (790) 2,729
— Attributable to the non-controlling interests — IV R AR TR PR (760) 2,622
(1,550) SX35]
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests ST IR EER 2 RS (6,811) —
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45. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 45. it B A 7] B E
Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that BEEREERRRAERZZ
have material non-controlling interests (continued) krEMBRAIZHE @
Golden Field and its subsidiary (Continued) HEeEREKEB AT @)
2022 2021
—E-_H —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year  ZARFE 2 HE (B Z), U A 42258 (2,831) 6,482
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities maEra A/ rt) 284
FEE 3,016 (5,213)
Net cash inflow from investing activities BREEHRAZR S FHE 3,672 =
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing activities BMETHCRE), FAZERS
FFR (6,684) 120
Net increase/(decrease) in deposits, B BROEHEEREZ
bank balances and cash o CRl ) SE 5 4 (5,093)
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Y 173 E
RESULTS 4
Year ended 30 June
BEXA=THLEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
B B —T-_THE —T-NE —EB-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHER FAT T T FAT T T
Revenue W =% 60,969 237,473 410,668 385,664 142,754
Loss from ordinary activities B & 5 5 i K& B Al
before taxation |
Loss from operating activities NEIEE A48 & 18 B
excluding other operating items  H) 4 & 8 B E5 18 (52,610) (52,753) (41,052) (71,123) (4,476,510
Other operating items B &8 8 = - - = -
Loss before taxation BB AIEE (52,610) (52,753) (41,052) (71,123)  (4,476,510)
Income tax (expense)/credit Frs® () e (428) (4,189) 3,328 348 790
Loss for the year rEEER (53,038) (56,942) (37,724) (70,775)  (4,475,720)
Attributable to: FEAL
Owners of the Company KATRHEE A (52,410) (59,822) (39,521) (72,177)  (3,811,905)
Non-controlling interests FE 2 AR AR R 2 (628) 2,880 1,797 1,402 (663,815)
Dividends A% & - = = — -
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

HE-_ZT- XA =1+HIEE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
At 30 June
RANB=+H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—E=-= —E-—F —EBE-TFE —T-HF T )\F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FBT FAET FBT FET
Total assets BEKE 179,045 414,892 458,766 644,070 552,770
Total liabilities BfERE 29,426 350,797 396,042 520,626 451,578
Shareholders’ funds BRES 149,619 64,095 62,724 123,444 101,192
Equity/(deficit) attributable to: FEIE RS (EAL)

— Owners of the Company i N/NGIE PN 130,855 (6,967) 17,305 72,208 48,234
— Non-controlling interests — JEE R R = 18,764 71,062 45,419 51,236 52,958
149,619 64,095 62,724 123,444 101,192

232 ChampionTechnology Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022






	封面
	目錄
	財務撮要
	企業資料
	主席報告
	管理層討論及分析
	董事及高層管理人員
	董事會報告
	企業管治報告
	獨立核數師報告
	綜合損益及其他全面收益表
	綜合財務狀況表
	綜合股本權益變動表
	綜合現金流動表
	綜合財務報表附註
	財務摘要
	封底

